### Regio- and Enantioselective Synthesis of N-alkyl 1,2- and 1,6-dihydropyridines through Rhodium-Catalyzed Nucleophilic Dearomatization

by

Donovan James Robinson

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Auburn University in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> Auburn, Alabama August 6, 2022

Keywords: synthetic organic methodology, transition-metal organometallic catalysis, asymmetric synthesis, dihydropyridine synthesis

Copyright 2022 by Donovan James Robinson

Approved by

Rashad Karimov, Chair, Assistant Professor of Chemistry Stew Schneller, Professor of Chemistry Bradley Merner, Associate Professor of Chemistry Ming Chen, Associate Professor of Chemistry

#### Abstract

Nonaromatic nitrogen heterocycles, particularly the ones containing one or multiple stereogenic centers, are common structural motifs in bioactive natural products and continue to be challenging synthetic targets. The dihydropyridine motif is an attractive intermediate in the synthesis of such heterocycles. Prior syntheses of such molecules usually involve linear syntheses or highly specialized starting materials. Dihydropyridines can be converted to other (partially) saturated nitrogen heterocycles such as tetrahydropyridines and piperidines through hydrogenation and functionalization reactions. Here, we discuss the synthesis of 1,6- and 1,4 dihydropyridines as synthetic intermediates to small molecule synthesis.

First, we investigated boronic acids as nucleophiles due to their commercial availability and functional group tolerance. We have reported the formation of 1,6-dihydropyridines containing fully substituted stereogenic centers using phenyl and alkenyl boronic acids with a variety of functional groups including alkenes, free alcohols, ethers, amides, esters, halides, and heterocycles.

Next, we explored the use of boronic acid pinacol esters (Bpins) as nucleophiles due to their higher stability, which enabled us to increase the yield of heterocycle addition, as well as expand the scope of N-heteroarene starting materials. We were also able to employ our strategy to complete an enantioselective total synthesis of the natural product nuphar indolizidine.

Finally, we are currently developing the regioselective addition of boronic acids and their pinacol esters to N-alkyl pyridinium salts. We found that different ligands bound to the metal provide different selectivity, particularly to the C-2 electrophilic site on the heteroarenium salt.

#### **Acknowledgements**

First, I would like to acknowledge my family, especially my wife, Tessa Hutchinson, who pushed and supported me through the last few years of my research. Her unconditional love and understanding inspired me to complete what seemed like an insurmountable task. I would also like to thank my parents, who supported my decision to study for my Ph.D. and continue to support me today.

Next, I would like to thank the faculty of the Virginia Military Institute for giving me my initial education in chemistry and the inspiration to attend graduate school. In particular, Drs. Tappey Jones, Stanton Smith, and Daniel Harrison, who helped me apply for graduate school and instilled a desire to join the research community.

I would also like to acknowledge my fellow lab members for their years of help and advice in publishing my work. I would like to especially thank Kacey Ortíz for many discussions, both serious and light-hearted, and the many mental-health walks to Coffee Mafia (formerly Mamma Mochas).

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the Auburn University Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry for and my committee for supporting and guiding me through my research and Ph.D. requirements. I would especially like to thank Dr. Rashad R. Karimov for many years of advice and understanding as I completed my degree.

3

Abstract	
Acknowledgements	
Table of Contents	4
List of Figures	6
List of Schemes	7
List of Tables	10
List of Abbreviations	11
Chapter 1: Introduction	12
1.1. Importance of azaheterocycles and dihydropyridines for their synthesis:	12
1.2. Methods for the synthesis of DHPs:	15
1.3. The Regioselectivity of Nucleophilic Dearomatization:	
1.4. References:	
Chapter 2: Synthesis of 1,6-DHPs via Enantioselective Addition of Boronic Acids	45
2.1. Introduction:	45
2.2. Optimization of Reaction Conditions:	47
2.3. Reaction Scope:	48
2.4. Functionalization of the 1,6-DHP Product:	52
2.5. Method Shortcomings:	53
2.6. Mechanism Proposal:	
2.7. Conclusion:	55
2.8. Experimental Section:	56
2.9. References:	
Chapter 3: Synthesis of 1,6-DHPs via Enantioselective Addition of Boronic Acid Pin	acol
Esters: Application to the Total Synthesis of a Nuphar Alkaloid:	
3.1. Introduction:	. <b></b> 90
3.2. Optimization of Reaction Conditions:	
3.3. Dearomatization Substrate Scope:	
3.4. Synthesis of Nuphar Indolizidine:	
3.5. Conclusion:	
3.6. Experimental Section:	
3.7. References:	139

## **Table of Contents**

Chapter 4: Synthesis of 1,2-DHP via Nucleophilic Addition of Organoboron	Nucleophiles to
N-alkyl Nicotinate salts	
4.1. Introduction:	
4.2. Importance of the regioselective synthesis of 1,2-DHPs:	
4.3. Development of Rh-catalyzed, C-2 regioselective, nucleophilic addition the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs:	on strategy for 146
4.4. Reaction Scope:	
4.5. Conclusion:	
4.6. Experimental Section:	
4.7. References:	
Appendix A: NMR Spectra for Chapter 2	
Appendix B: NMR Spectra for Chapter 3	
Appendix C: NMR Spectra for Chapter 4	

## List of Figures

Figure 1.1: In	portance and p	orevalence of six-	membered aza	heterocycles	Error! B	ookmark
not defined.						

Figure 1.2: DHP (1.27) as an intermediate in the process synthesis of glasdegib (1.28) 15
Figure 1.3: Common constitutional isomers of DHP15
Figure 1.4: Examples of alkaloids synthesized using 1-4,DHPs as intermediates17
Figure 1.5: The change in the energies of pyridine molecular orbitals after activation 29
Figure 2.1: Examples of bioactive molecules containing six-membered azaheterocycles with
a fully substituted stereocenter
Figure 2.2: Pyridinium salts that did not yield corresponding dearomatization products 53
Figure 3.1: Structures of natural products and a drug molecule containing (hetero)aryl-
substituted nonaromatic azaheterocycles90
Figure 4.1: General regioselectivity of allylic substitution reactions
Figure 4.2: General regioselectivity of nucleophilic additions to $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated carbonyls.
Figure 4.3: General regioselectivity of nucleophilic addition to N-alkyl pyridinium salts. 143
Figure 4.4:Bioactive natural products featuring C-2 substitution patterns
Figure 4.5: Tolman ligand parameters

## List of Schemes

Scheme 1.1: Synthesis of (±)-solenopsin (1.15) via 1,2-DHP intermediate
Scheme 1.2: Synthesis of the hemlock toxin (-)-coniine (1.20) via 1,2-DHP 14
Scheme 1.3: Synthesis of (+)-julifluoridine (1.26) via 1,2-DHP intermediate 1.2214
Scheme 1.4: Synthesis of 1,4-DHPs via pyran cleavage and 6-exo-dig cyclization 17
Scheme 1.5: I <sub>2</sub> -catalyzed synthesis of 1,4-DHPs18
Scheme 1.6: Asymmetric synthesis of 1,4-DHPs utilizing chiral phosphoric acid catalysts.
Scheme 1.7: Asymmetric synthesis of 1,4-DHPs utilizing amino acid derivatives as chiral
auxiliaries
Scheme 1.8: Enantioselective synthesis of the manzmine ABC core
Scheme 1.9: 2,3-DHP synthesis by Rh(III)-catalyzed C-H activation
Scheme 1.10: Azatriene cyclization strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs
Scheme 1.11: Rh-catalyzed C-H activation strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs 22
Scheme 1.12: Scandium-catalyzed cyclization strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs 23
Scheme 1.13: Cycloisomerization of aziridinyl propargylic esters to form 1,2-DHPs23
Scheme 1.14: Cycloisomerization of ynimines for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs24
Scheme 1.15: Multicomponent cascade strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs 24
Scheme 1.16: One-pot 1,2-DHP synthesis from alkylamines, isocyanides, and acetylenic
esters
Scheme 1.17: Synthesis of 1,2-DHPs via Claisen rearrangement and 6-endo-dig cyclization.
Scheme 1.18: Mannich-Wittig-Cycloisomerization cascade for 1,2-DHP synthesis

Scheme 1.19: 4+2 cycloaddition strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs 27
Scheme 1.20: Formal 3+3 cycloaddition strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs 28
Scheme 1.21: General dearomatization strategy for the synthesis of 1,2- and 1,4-DHPs 28
Scheme 1.22: N-calcium transient activation strategy to synthesize 1,4-DHP 1.158
Scheme 1.23: N-O activation strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs
Scheme 1.24: N-acyl activation strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs
Scheme 1.25: N-alkyl activation strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHP 1.168
Scheme 1.26: Grignard addition strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs
Scheme 1.27: An Metalo-enolate addition strategy for forming 1,2-DHPs
Scheme 1.28: Proposed catalytic cycle for the organocatalytic addition of indole to pyridine,
a strategy for the synthesis of 1,4-DHPs
Scheme 1.29: Cu(I)-catalyzed alkyne addition strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs 34
Scheme 1.30: Nickel-catalyzed arylzinc addition strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs 34
Scheme 1.31: Rh-catalyzed boronic acid addition strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs35
Scheme 1.32: Regioselectivity outcomes for nucleophilic addition to N-acylpyridinium salts.
Scheme 1.33: Proposed strategy for the regioselective nucleophilic addition to N-
alkylpyridinium salts
Scheme 2.1: Dearomatization approach to the synthesis of highly substituted piperidines. 46
Scheme 2.2: : Dearomatization of pyridinium salt with sterically hindered C-6 substituent.
Scheme 2.3: Gram-scale synthesis and derivatization of dihydropyridine 2.8.a

Scheme 2.4: Possible catalytic cycles for Rh-catalyzed dearomatization of N-Alkyl	
nicotinate salts	. 54
Scheme 3.1: Dearomative approach for the total synthesis of nuphar indolizidine (2)	. 98

## List of Tables

Table 2.1: Optimization of reaction conditions
Table 2.2: : Scope of Rhodium-catalyzed synthesis of dihydropyridines containing a fully
substituted stereocenter. <sup>a</sup>
Table 2.3: Evaluation of substituent and counter anion effects on the yield and
enantioselectivity of the dearomatization
Table 3.1: Optimization of reaction conditions
Table 3.2: Scope of aryl, heteroaryl, and vinyl boron pinacol esters for the dearomatization
of pyridinium salt 794
Table 3.3: Scope of ArBpins and heteroarenes for the synthesis of dihydroheteroarenes
containing tertiary stereocenters
Table 4.1: Ligand screen for the dearomatization of pyridinium Salt 4.24
Table 4.2: Optimization of the Rh/Bobphos system for the dearomatization of pyridinium
salt 4.24
Table 4.3: Scope of C-2 regioselective dearomatization of N-Alkyl pyridinium salts
Table 4.4: Scope of N-alkyl nicotinate salts for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs

## List of Abbreviations

Ac	Acetyl
acac	Acetylacetonate
BINAP	([1,1'-binaphthalene]-2,2'-diyl)bis(diphenylphosphane)
Bn	Benzyl
Bz	Benzoyl
Cbz	Benzyl chloroformyl
COD	Cyclooctodiene
coe	Cyclooctene
Су	Cyclohexyl
DCE	1,2-dichloroethane
DHP	Dihydropyridine
DME	1,2-dimethoxyethane
Equiv	equivalents
Et	Ethyl
<i>i</i> -Bu	Isobutyl
<i>i</i> -Pr	Isopropyl
Me	Methyl
Ph	Phenyl
PhMe	Toluene
Pr	Propyl
ру	Pyridine
TBDMS	Tert-Butyldimethylsilyl
<i>t</i> -Bu	Tert-butyl
TIPS	Triisopropylsilyl
THF	Tetrahydrofuran
TMS	Trimethylsilyl

# **Chapter 1:** Introduction

## **1.1. Importance of azaheterocycles and dihydropyridines for their synthesis:**

An analysis of U.S. FDA-approved small-molecule therapeutics found that the most common structural motifs, accounting for 59% of all structures, are six-membered azaheterocycles such as piperidine (1.1), and pyridine (1.2) (Figure 1.1.A).<sup>1</sup> A more recent analysis of molecules containing six-membered azaheterocycles shows that molecules containing these scaffolds continue to bring in hundreds of billions of dollars in profit for the pharmaceutical industry (Figure 1.1.B).<sup>2</sup> In addition to FDA approved therapeutic drugs, these heterocyclic moieties are prevalent in agrochemicals and alkaloid natural products such as indole (1.8), lasubine (1.9), and nuphar alkaloids (1.10) (Figure 1.1.C). A common structural feature in such natural products is a stereogenic center alpha to the ring nitrogen. Considering their importance, the synthesis of azaheterocycles has attracted significant attention of the synthetic community. However, despite past efforts, the asymmetric synthesis of azaheterocycles, especially those containing stereogenic centers alpha to the nitrogen, remains challenging.

Dihydropyridines (DHPs) are versatile synthetic intermediates for the synthesis of six membered nitrogen heterocycles. This versatility is due to the fact that (1) DHPs contain unsaturation in synthetically useful locations, allowing for their chemoselective and stereoselective fuctionalizations for the synthesis of tetrahydropyridines and piperidines<sup>3,4</sup>; and (2) DHPs can be oxidized to the corresponding aromatic azaheterocycles.<sup>5</sup>

#### Figure 1.1:Importance and prevalence of six-membered azaheterocycles.



**A. Breakdown of U.S. FDA Approved Drugs Containing Nitrogen Heterocycles** (640 drugs identified)

There is a plethora of examples using DHPs as synthetic intermediates, showcasing the DHP's utility for the synthesis of various nitrogen heterocycles. Comins and coworkers have used DHPs as intermediates in their synthesis of more than 40 alkaloids.<sup>6–14</sup> For example, DHP **1.11** was used as a key intermediate in their synthesis of ( $\pm$ )-solenopsin (**1.15**) (Scheme 1.1)<sup>15</sup>. In addition to the Comins research group, Charette and others have also significantly contributed to the synthesis of alkaloids using DHPs as key intermediates. For example, DHPs **1.16** and **1.22** were used as key intermediates in the synthesis of hemlock toxin coniine (**1.20**) (Scheme 1.2) and

alkaloid (+)-julifloridine (**1.26**) respectively (Scheme 1.3).<sup>16,17</sup> Select examples of alkaloids that have been prepared utilizing DHPs as key examples are shown in Figure 1.4.<sup>18-23</sup>



Scheme 1.1: Synthesis of (±)-solenopsin (1.15) via 1,2-DHP intermediate.

Scheme 1.2: Synthesis of the hemlock toxin (-)-coniine (1.20) via 1,2-DHP.



Scheme 1.3: Synthesis of (+)-julifluoridine (1.26) via 1,2-DHP intermediate 1.22.



In addition to their application in natural product synthesis DHPs have been actively used by medicinal chemists for the synthesis of active pharmaceutical ingredients containing sixmembered nitrogen heterocycles.<sup>24</sup> For example, DHP **1.27** was a key intermediate during the process scale synthesis of FDA approved drug glasdegib (brand name Darismo) (**1.28**) which is used to treat acute myeloid leukemia in adults over 75 (Figure 1.2).<sup>25</sup>





### **1.2.** Methods for the synthesis of DHPs:

DHPs include three main classes of constitutional isomers: 1,4 (1.29); 2,3 (1.30); and 1,2.(1.31) (Figure 1.3). All these constitutional isomers have been used in medicinal chemistry and natural product synthesis. Significant research interest has been focused on the synthesis of these compounds. Mainly, these past efforts can be grouped into two general areas. The first of these has focused on cyclization and cycloaddition reactions and while the second has focused on dearomatization reactions of pyridines. Below we summarize these past strategies for the synthesis of DHPs. It is not a comprehensive summary and emphasis has been placed on different strategies rather than listing all previous methods. A more detailed summary of methods for the synthesis of DHPs could be found in appropriate reviews.<sup>26–29</sup>

### Figure 1.3: Common constitutional isomers of DHP.



#### **1.2.1.** Cyclization and cycloaddition reactions for the synthesis DPHs:

#### 1.2.1.1. Synthesis of 1,4-DHPs:

The 1,4-dihydropyridine scaffold is one of the most studied isomers of DHPs. Discovered through the pioneering work of Arthur Hantzsch, 1,4-DHPs are useful reagents and intermediates in organic synthesis.<sup>27,30</sup> As the 1,4-DHP resembles NADH, this scaffold is highly attractive in drug design and has been extensively used as a reductant in organic synthesis.<sup>31</sup> In particular, analogues of Hantzsch esters have been known for their selective inhibition of L-type Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels and several drugs with this structural motif has been approved by the FDA for treating hypertension.<sup>31</sup> In organic synthesis 1,4-DHPs primarily have been used as a hydride or hydrogen atom source.<sup>32–36</sup> Recently, reagents that contain this motif have been developed to generate various radicals for cross-coupling reactions.<sup>37–39</sup>

In addition to their uses as medicines and reagents for organic synthesis, 1,4-DHPs have also been used as synthetic intermediates for the synthesis of natural products. (Figure 1.4). For example, yohimbine (**1.32-34**), vinoxine (**1.35**), strychnos (**1.36**), and ervitsine (**1.37**) alkaloids were all synthesized via 1,4-DHP intermediates.<sup>19–23</sup>

Due to their importance in organic synthesis and medicinal chemistry, there have been a multitude of reports for the synthesis of 1,4-DHPs. Below we summarize general strategies for the synthesis of 1,4-DHPs using cyclization and cycloaddition reactions.



Figure 1.4: Examples of alkaloids synthesized using 1-4,DHPs as intermediates.

4-H-pyrans (1.38) were utilized by De Lucas et al. to produce 1,4-DHPs (1.45) (Scheme 1.4).<sup>40</sup> In this strategy, the pyran (1.38) opens in the presence of primary amine 1.39 in refluxing ethanol. After a proton transfer forms 1.42, an intramolecular nucleophilic attack by the amine on the nitrile forms intermediate 1.44, which forms 1,4-DHP 1.45 upon another proton transfer.

Scheme 1.4: Synthesis of 1,4-DHPs via pyran cleavage and 6-exo-dig cyclization.



The inexpensive synthesis of 1,4-DHPs at room temperature was reported by Ko et al. (Scheme 1.5).<sup>41</sup> In this reaction, aryl aldehydes (**1.46.a-e**), cyclohexanediones (**1.47**), and ethyl acetoacetates (**1.48**) in the presence of ammonium acetate and catalytic iodine produced substituted

1,4-DHPs (**1.49.a-e**) in high yield. In this fashion, 1,4-DHPs could be synthesized with high structural diversity.



Unfortunately, the strategies discussed above deliver racemic mixtures of 1,4-DHPs. As access to single enantiomers of complex molecules is important to drug discovery,<sup>42–45</sup> strategies for accessing chiral 1,4-DHPs have been developed. One such strategy is the chiral resolution of the target DHP by treating it with enantiopure alkaloids, which form a mixture of quasi-diastereomeric salts, that were separated by recrystallization.<sup>46–49</sup> Another strategy employs chiral esters in the starting materials, forming diastereomeric mixtures of DHPs. After separation and transesterification, the enantioenriched target DHP can be isolated.<sup>50–53</sup>

In synthetic and medicinal chemistry, the ability to establish enantioselectivity and structural diversity in a single step remains a problematic transformation in the synthesis of 1,4-DHPs. One strategy to address this problem used chiral phosphoric acids to facilitate the room temperature cyclization between cinnamaldehyde (1.50), primary aniline derivative 1.51, and 1,3-dicarbonyl 1.52 (Scheme 1.6: Asymmetric synthesis of 1,4-DHPs utilizing chiral phosphoric acid catalysts.).<sup>54</sup> The key steps in the proposed mechanism are the Michael addition of the dicarbonyl compound 1.50 to the vinylogous imine 1.53, which is coordinated to the chiral phosphoric acid (CPA), and the cyclization driven by nucleophilic attack of the nitrogen of the enamine (1.54) to the protonated ketone. Thus, 1,4-DHP 1.55 was synthesized enantioselectively.



Scheme 1.6: Asymmetric synthesis of 1,4-DHPs utilizing chiral phosphoric acid catalysts.

Yammamoto et al., used the *t*-butyl ester of the amino acid L-valine (L-Val-O-*t*-Bu) as the nitrogen source and as a chiral auxiliary (Scheme 1.7). Aldol condensation of keto-ester **1.56** and benzaldehyde **1.57** gave access to Michael acceptor **1.58**. The condensation of L-Val-O-*t*-Bu onto dicarbonyl **1.59** gave a chiral Michael donor (**1.60**), which can be added to Michael acceptor **1.58**. Subsequent cyclization of **1.61** and deprotection of the nitrogen affords an enantioenriched 1,4-DHP (**1.62**).<sup>55</sup>

Scheme 1.7: Asymmetric synthesis of 1,4-DHPs utilizing amino acid derivatives as chiral auxiliaries.



#### 1.2.1.2. Synthesis of 2,3-DHPs:

2,3-dihydropyridines are attractive intermediates in the synthesis of saturated sixmembered azaheterocycles. Such DHPs must generally be protected as N-alkyl or N-acyl pyridinium salts, due to the facile oxidation of unprotected 2,3-DHPs to the corresponding pyridines.<sup>56</sup> N-alkyl-2,3-DHPs were used extensively in the synthesis of Manzamine natural products, which were found to have cytotoxic, antibiotic, insecticidal, and antimalarial activity after their isolation in 1986 (Scheme 1.8: Enantioselective synthesis of the manzmine ABC core. ).<sup>57–63</sup> A general strategy for forming the manzamine core was developed by the Marazano research group. Tetrahydropyridine **1.63** underwent elimination of the methoxide to form 2,3dhiyropyridinium **1.64**, which was subsequently reacted with vinylogous carbamate **1.65** at 0°C to give **1.66**. Further synthetic steps produced the tricyclic carbon skeleton core of manzamine alkaloids (**1.67**) and this method provides several opportunities for potential derivatization.<sup>57</sup>



Scheme 1.8: Enantioselective synthesis of the manzmine ABC core.

The Rovis group employed a Rh-catalyzed C-H activation strategy to couple oxime pivalates (1.68) with alkenes (1.69) to produce 2,3-DHPs (1.70) (Scheme 1.9).<sup>64</sup> The key to this reaction was the formation of Rh metallocycle 1.74, which undergoes a migratory insertion in the presence of 1,1-disubstituted alkenes to give 1.76. The catalytic cycle closes with a reductive elimination of the product (1.70) and cleavage of the N-O bond to give the 2,3-DHP 1.70.<sup>65</sup>



Scheme 1.9: 2,3-DHP synthesis by Rh(III)-catalyzed C-H activation.

1.2.1.3. Synthesis of 1,2-DHPs:

The syntheses of 1,2-DHPs have involved reactions such as cyclization, cycloaddition reactions, and multicomponent cascades. Wyle and Fowler reported multiple methods for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs, including the  $6\pi$ -electrocyclization of azatrienes (**1.80**) generated from hydroxamic acid esters (**1.79**) which form the 1,2-DHP upon heating (Scheme 1.10).<sup>66</sup> Structural diversity could be achieved in the initial step by using substituted dienes.

Scheme 1.10: Azatriene cyclization strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs.



A strategy involving the Rh-catalyzed C-H activation of substituted imines was developed by the Ellman research group. A wide scope of substituted imines (**1.82**) and alkynes (**1.83**) gave 1,2-DHPs in good yield after reaction optimization (Scheme 1.11).<sup>67</sup> The C-H activated metallocycle intermediate **1.84** was isolated and characterized in the mechanistic investigation. The azatriene **1.85** proceeded through a  $6\pi$ -electrocyclization, forming the 1,2-DHP **1.86**. An alkene isomerization of **1.85** produced **1.87**, which could not cyclize. At room temperature, this isomerization was not reversable, thus elevated temperatures were found to be crucial to the formation of the DHP by increasing the rate of the electrocyclization and reversibility of the isomerization.



The synthesis of 1,2-DHPs *via* vinylogous imino-aldol reactions between vinyloxiranes (1.88) and imines (1.90) in the presence of catalytic scandium triflate were developed in 2006 by Brunner et al. (Scheme 1.12).<sup>64</sup> Electron withdrawing group-substituted vinyloxiranes (1.88) function as precursors for enolates (1.89) in the presence of Lewis acids, attacking N-alkyl and aryl imines (1.90). E- to Z-isomerization of the addition intermediates (1.91 to 1.93) allows the cyclization of 1.93 to 1.94, which loses an equivalent of water upon addition of an equivalent of vinyloxirane 1.88 to restart the catalytic cycle.



Scheme 1.12: Scandium-catalyzed cyclization strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs.

The first Pt catalyzed cycloisomerization of aziridinyl propargylic esters (**1.97**) to form 1,2-DHPs was reported by the Sarpong group in 2007 (Scheme 1.13).<sup>68</sup> The Pt catalyzed cycloisomerization gives 1,2-DHPs (**1.101**) in good yield while retaining the stereochemistry present in the aziridine ring of (**1.97**).





A cycloisomerization strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs developed by Trost began with a one-pot procedure for the formation of ynimines (1.106) by treating a mixture of terminal alkynes (1.102) and nitriles (1.103) with trimethyl aluminum, then adding chloroformate 1.105 (Scheme 1.14).<sup>69</sup> 1,3-Bis-(diphenylphosphino) propane served as a catalyst for the isomerization of the of the ynimine (1.106) to the azatriene (1.107), which allowed a  $6\pi$ -electrocyclization to 1,2-DHPs (1.108). 1,2-DHP 1.108, was proposed as an intermediate for preparing several histamine  $H_3$  receptor agonists, which are used as analgesics and to treat sleeping disorders.<sup>70–72</sup>



Scheme 1.14: Cycloisomerization of ynimines for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs.

Multi-component reactions are highly efficient methods for introducing structural diversity into target molecules. Wan et al. reported the three-component cascade reaction of anilines (1.109), vinylogous amides (1.110), and  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated aldehydes (1.111) to produce 1,4- and 1,2-DHPs (1.112) (Scheme 1.15).<sup>73</sup> In this example, 1,2-DHPs were obtained when the aniline was bulky, or featured highly electron withdrawing groups such as NO<sub>2</sub>. After mechanistic investigations, Wan et al. proposed that the cascade begins with the coupling of 1.109 and 1.110 in the presence of TMSCl to form vinylogous amide 1.113. The amide nitrogen then attacks the  $\beta$ -position of 1.111 to form intermediate 1.114, which then cyclizes and dehydrates to form 1,2-DHP 1.112.

Scheme 1.15: Multicomponent cascade strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs.



A strategy to synthesize 1,2-DHPs from the Souri research group combined acetylenic esters (1.115 and 1.118), primary amines (1.116), and alkyl isocyanides (1.119) to produce 4-amino-1,2-DHPs (1.122) in good yield (Scheme 1.16).<sup>74</sup> In the event, the reaction of primary amine 1.116 with acetylenic ester 1.115 at -5 °C in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> forms vinylogous carbamate 1.117. Upon addition of a second acetylenic ester (1.118) and isocyanide 1.119, the reaction was allowed to warm to room temperature, promoting the formation of ketenimine 1.119. The ketenimine cyclizes to form 2,5-dihydropyridinium 1.121, which undergoes a proton transfer to afford 1,2-DHP 1.122. This method allows convergent synthesis of 1,2-DHPs with various ester and amine substituents.

Scheme 1.16: One-pot 1,2-DHP synthesis from alkylamines, isocyanides, and acetylenic esters.



A common strategy for forming 1,2-DHPs from propargyl enol ethers was discovered in 2005 (Scheme 1.17.A). The Kirsch group from the Munich Technical University found that a silver (I) salt catalyzed a propargyl Claisen rearrangement of the enol ether **1.123** to give allene **1.124**. Treatment of **1.124** with a substituted aniline (**1.125**) in the presence of a gold (I) salt produced imine **1.126**, which underwent a 6-endo-dig cyclization and proton transfer to give 1,2-DHP **1.127**.<sup>75–77</sup> Following this report, several research groups improved on this strategy. For example, Tejedor et al. developed a strategy utilizing microwave reactions to produce substituted 1,2-DHPs

(**1.129**) in good yields and short reaction times (Scheme 1.17.B),<sup>78–80</sup> and the starting material scope was expanded by Wei et al. to include allenic vinyl ethers (**1.130**) (Scheme 1.17.C).<sup>81</sup>



Scheme 1.17: Synthesis of 1,2-DHPs via Claisen rearrangement and 6-endo-dig cyclization.

Mu et al. recently reported a Mannich-Wittig-cycloisomerization cascade for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs (Scheme 1.18). In this strategy, imine **1.132** and aldehyde **1.133** were mixed in the presence of a catalytic amount of *L*-proline at 0°C. The crude Mannich product **1.136** was then heated to 80 °C with phosphorous ylide **1.134**. Upon consumption of **1.134**, the reaction was cooled to room temperature, SiCl<sub>4</sub> added, and the reaction heated to 40 °C. In the presence of triphenylphosphine oxide from the Wittig step, **1.137** adopted a 6-membered, chair-like transition state **1.138**, which facilitates the cyclization to **1.139**, forming the 1,2-DHP **1.135** upon dehydration.



Scheme 1.18: Mannich-Wittig-Cycloisomerization cascade for 1,2-DHP synthesis.

Cycloaddition reactions are another useful strategy for forming 1,2-DHPs, employing a variety of substrates. A 4+2 cyclization strategy was developed by Palacios et al. (Scheme 1.19).<sup>82</sup> Phosphazines (**1.140**) and aldehydes (**1.141**) formed azadienes (**1.142**) which reacted with an equivalent of **1.143** forming substituted tetrahydropyridines (**1.144**) which gave 1,2-DHPs (**1.145**) after elimination of the phosphazine ylide.

Scheme 1.19: 4+2 cycloaddition strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs.



Gerasyuto, with Sklenicka and Wei, developed a 3+3 cycloaddition strategy coupling vinylogous amides (1.146/1.149) and  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated iminiums (1.147/1.150) (Scheme 1.20).<sup>83,84</sup> These methods are highly stereoselective, employing chiral auxiliaries to induce diastereoselective addition of the iminiums.



Scheme 1.20: Formal 3+3 cycloaddition strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs.

#### **1.2.2.** Nucleophilic dearomatization of azaheteroarenes for the synthesis of DHPs:

The cyclization, multicomponent reaction, and cycloaddition strategies described above have significant limitations, such as substrates with specific substituents to enable reactivity. For example, substrates for multicomponent reactions often contain multiple ester and other electron withdrawing groups, and pericyclic reactions such as cycloadditions and  $6\pi$ -electrocyclizations have limitations resulting from electronic requirements for such transformations. A promising strategy to overcome these drawbacks is the dearomatization of pyridinium salts (Scheme 1.21). This dearomatization strategy is a particularly attractive method in DHP synthesis because: (1) pyridines are feedstock chemicals that can be readily purchased or synthesized; (2) activated pyridines are reactive coupling partners for nucleophiles; (3) pyridines can be activated with a variety of electrophiles to control the regio- and stereoselectivity of dearomatization reactions; (4) Both 1,2- and 1,4- DHPs (1.154 and 1.155, respectively) could be synthesized using this strategy from the same starting materials (1.152 and 1.53).





In general, the dearomatization event occurs in activated pyridines due to changes in hybridization and bond order. Pyridine is aromatic because it: (1) is cyclic; (2) contains  $4n+2\pi$  electrons; (3) contains atoms that are all in conjugation; (4) and contains atoms that are all sp<sup>2</sup>

hybridized. As an aromatic molecule, pyridine is a poor electrophilic partner; the resonance stabilization energy of pyridine is less than that of benzene (150 kJ/mol vs 117 kJ/mol, respectively).<sup>85</sup> When the pyridine is activated, the energy of the LUMO in the aromatic ring is lowered (Figure 1.5), and the energy release from hybridizing two sp<sup>2</sup> atoms (C and N) to sp<sup>3</sup>,

Figure 1.5: The change in the energies of pyridine molecular orbitals after activation.



HOMO and LUMO of pyridine. Lowering of the LUMO after pyridine activation. breaking one  $\pi$ -bond, and forming one sigma bond, drives the reaction forward.

### **1.2.2.1.** Nitrogen activating agents for the synthesis of DHPs from pyridines:

Dearomatization reactions of pyridines are usually categorized into two main pathways: reductive and nucleophilic, the latter being the focus of my studies. Due to the pyridine aromaticity, pyridines are generally poor electrophilic partners, requiring the activation of the nitrogen. Described below, is a selection of N-activation strategies for the synthesis of DHPs. One such class of activators for nucleophilic dearomatization involves the activation of the pyridine through N-metal coordination. In 2010, the groups of Maron and Okuda utilized a calcium allyl complex to activate pyridine (Scheme 1.22).<sup>86</sup> Allyl insertion occurred at the C2 position in complex **1.156**, followed by a Cope rearrangement to form complex **1.159**. Upon addition of an electrophilic group, the product is released as the 1,4-diydropyridine (**1.160**).

Scheme 1.22: N-calcium transient activation strategy to synthesize 1,4-DHP 1.158.



The Almqvist group found that pyridine-N-oxides (**1.161**) could be attacked by Grignard reagents to form 2,3-dihydropyridiniums (**1.162**) after the addition of an aldehyde (Scheme 1.23).<sup>87</sup> After the dearomatization event, Raney nickel reduction produced trans-substituted piperidines (**1.163**).

Scheme 1.23: N-O activation strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs.



The most common activators for heteroarenium dearomatization include N-acyl and Nalkyl groups.<sup>26,27</sup> N-acyl heteroarenium salts are generally unstable at ambient temperature as the activation step is in equilibrium.<sup>26</sup> As such, the salt must usually be prepared *in situ*, either by formation before the addition of organometallics, or by introducing the acylating agents in the presence of the pyridine and the organometallic reagent. Yamaguchi and coworkers pioneered the use of N-acyl pyridiniums to affect the  $\alpha$ -selective addition of organometallic reagents (Scheme 1.24).<sup>88</sup> Pyridine (**1.164**) was acylated with methyl chloroformate, and the dearomatized with a variety of allyl organometallics (**1.165.a-c**). Interestingly, Yamaguchi discovered that different organometallic reagents displayed different regioselectivities (**1.167.a** vs **1.167.c**).



In contrast to N-acyl heteroarenium salts, N-alkyl heteroarenium salts are made in a prior step to the dearomatization and are bench stable at room temperature. Unfortunately, N-alkyl DHP is not as stable as N-acyl DHP, and such reactions are more efficient when using more electron poor azaheterocycles such as nicotinates, picolinates, and quinolines.<sup>26</sup> N-alkyl heteroarenium salts are particularly attractive because N-alkyl DHPs can be easily transformed into synthetic intermediates for total synthesis<sup>3–5,25,89,90</sup>. Notably, N-alkyl pyridinium salts were key in May's approaches toward morphine analogues (**1.171**) (Scheme 1.25).<sup>90–94</sup> Activation of 3,4-lutidine (**1.168**) with methyl iodide formed pyridinium salt **1.169**, which was dearomatized to 1,2-DHP **1.170**. Further synthetic steps produced benzomorphan (**1.171**).





#### **1.2.2.2.** Nucleophiles for the dearomatization of N-activated pyridines:

After the of activation of pyridines as described above, a variety of nucleophiles are useful for forming carbon-carbon bonds to prepare 1,2- and 1,4-DHPs. A selection of such reagents is described here. The Comins group has extensively used Grignard reagents in the nucleophilic dearomatization, using chiral auxiliaries to direct the regio- and enantioselectivity of the addition (Scheme 1.26). Using a chiral chloroformate ester (1.173) to activate pyridine 1.172, pyridinium salt 1.174 could be dearomatized using Grignard reagents. The removal of methoxide and triisopropyl stannyl groups after the dearomatization event afforded 1,2-DHP 1.175. This strategy requires the tin blocking group to influence the regioselectivity of the addition. Comins and coworkers have also reported the addition of metaloenolates (1.179) to the same heteroarenium substrates (Scheme 1.27).<sup>95-97</sup>

Scheme 1.26: Grignard addition strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs.



Scheme 1.27: An Metalo-enolate addition strategy for forming 1,2-DHPs.



Recently, catalytic strategies for the dearomatization of pyridinium salts utilizing organoand transition-metal catalysts have been developed. One such approach utilized a bifunctional organocatalyst to synthesize 1,4-DHPs enantioselectively (Scheme 1.28).<sup>98</sup> N-benzylpyridinium salts (**1.182**) bearing strongly electron withdrawing groups on the C-3 position were reacted with variously substituted indoles (**1.184**). The use of a catalyst containing a tertiary amine as well as a thiourea motif such as **1.181** with a stoichiometric amount of proton sponge facilitated the enantioselective C-4 dearomatization of the pyridinium salt at the C-3 position of the indole. Upon addition of the tertiary amine component of the catalyst to the pyridinium C-6 position (**1.183** is observable via NMR), the thiourea component sequestered the bromide counter-ion. Through an  $SN^{2}$ -like mechanism, the indole (**1.184**) added to the pyridine C-4 carbon, releasing the organocatalyst. Rearomatization of the indole motif caused the release of an equivalent of HBr, which is bound to the catalyst (**1.188**). An equivalent of proton sponge removes the HBr and regenerates the catalyst.

Scheme 1.28: Proposed catalytic cycle for the organocatalytic addition of indole to pyridine, a strategy for the synthesis of 1,4-DHPs.



Sathiaiah and coworkers have reported a copper-catalyzed strategy using alkynes (**1.184**) as nucleophiles (Scheme 1.29).<sup>99–102</sup> Activating a variety of pyridine-based substrates such as nicotinic acid esters (**1.181**) with chloroformates (**1.182**) followed by copper-catalyzed addition of electron rich and poor alkynes (**1.184**) formed the 1,2-DHPs (**1.185**).

Scheme 1.29: Cu(I)-catalyzed alkyne addition strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs.



The Doyle group has investigated the use of nickel catalysis to add arylzinc reagents to N-acyl pyridinium salts (**1.188**) (Scheme 1.30).<sup>103,104</sup> While they were able to form C-C bonds  $\alpha$  to the nitrogen asymmetrically, the use of non-symmetric pyridines caused a decrease in regio- and enantioselectivity and yield.





The Merck process group reported the asymmetric addition of arylboronic acid nucleophiles to N-benzyl nicotinate salts (**1.188**) (Scheme 1.31).<sup>105</sup> Boronic acids are attractive nucleophiles for this transformation for a two main reasons; 1) there is a variety of commercially available boronic acids, and they are easily synthesized; 2) reactions utilizing boronic acids typically have a higher functional-group tolerance than that of more basic nucleophiles such as organometallic reagents and enolates. This allows addition reactions with substrates that contain

electrophilic and acidic groups such as aldehydes, ketones, secondary amides, and unprotected alcohols, to be present in the reaction.



Scheme 1.31: Rh-catalyzed boronic acid addition strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs.

### **1.3.** The Regioselectivity of Nucleophilic Dearomatization:

Since pyridinium salts (**1.193**) have three electrophilic sites (C-2, C-4, and C-6), one general problem with dearomatization is that the regioselective outcomes of the addition is difficult to predict, often resulting in mixtures of isomers (**1.194**, **1.195**, **1.196**) (Scheme 1.32).





A recent investigation into the regioselective addition of various Grignard reagents to Nalkyl pyridinium salts showed only slight substrate dependence on the site of the nucleophilic attack.<sup>106</sup> Common solutions to this problem involve the use of directing and blocking groups. Unfortunately, such groups add steps to the synthesis due to the need to install and remove them. The approach taken by the Karimov lab involves the use of transition-metal catalysis to control the site of the addition (Scheme 1.33). While activated pyridinium salts (**1.198**) have three electrophilic cites, such sites are not equally reactive. Calculations undertaken by our group show that in certain organometallic systems, we can influence the hardness and softness of the nucleophile and attack the desired pyridinium site. Our hypothesis is that different organometallic species will attack different pyridinium electrophilic sites. Our investigations began with rhodium-catalyzed addition of boronic acid nucleophiles to N-methyl nicotinate salts, forming the fully substituted stereogenic center as reported in our 2020 publication.

Scheme 1.33: Proposed strategy for the regioselective nucleophilic addition to Nalkylpyridinium salts.


#### 1.4. References:

- Vitaku, E.; Smith, D. T.; Njardarson, J. T. Analysis of the Structural Diversity, Substitution Patterns, and Frequency of Nitrogen Heterocycles among U.S. FDA Approved Pharmaceuticals: Miniperspective. *J. Med. Chem.* 2014, *57* (24), 10257–10274. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm501100b.
- (2) Qureshi, P. M. H.; Williams, R.; Marshal, C. Top 200 Small Molecule Pharmaceuticals by Retail Sales in 202. *Top Pharmaceuticals Poster*, 2021.
- (3) Nallagonda, R.; Karimov, R. R. Copper-Catalyzed Regio- and Diastereoselective Additions of Boron-Stabilized Carbanions to Heteroarenium Salts: Synthesis of Azaheterocycles Containing Contiguous Stereocenters. ACS Catal. 2021, 11 (1), 248–254. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.0c04474.
- (4) Robinson, D. J.; Spurlin, S. P.; Gorden, J. D.; Karimov, R. R. Enantioselective Synthesis of Dihydropyridines Containing Quaternary Stereocenters Through Dearomatization of Pyridinium Salts. ACS Catal. 2020, 10 (1), 51–55. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.9b03874.
- (5) Nallagonda, R.; Musaev, D. G.; Karimov, R. R. Light-Promoted Dearomative Cross-Coupling of Heteroarenium Salts and Aryl Iodides via Nickel Catalysis. ACS Catal. 2022, 12 (3), 1818–1829. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.1c05780.
- (6) Comins, D. L.; Higuchi, K.; Young, D. W. Dihydropyridine Preparation and Application in the Synthesis of Pyridine Derivatives. In *Advances in Heterocyclic Chemistry*; Elsevier, 2013; Vol. 110, pp 175–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-408100-0.00006-9.
- (7) Comins, D. L.; Sandelier, M. J.; Abad Grillo, T. Asymmetric Synthesis of (+)-Deoxoprosopinine. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66 (20), 6829–6832. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo015834u.
- (8) Comins, D. L.; Hong, H. Chiral Dihydropyridones as Synthetic Intermediates. Asymmetric Synthesis of (+)-Elaeokanine A and (+)-Elaeokanine C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113 (17), 6672–6673. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00017a047.
- (9) Comins, D. L.; Huang, S.; McArdle, C. L.; Ingalls, C. L. Enantiopure 2,3-Dihydro-4-Pyridones as Synthetic Intermediates: A Concise Asymmetric Synthesis of (+)-Allopumiliotoxin 267A. *Org. Lett.* 2001, *3* (3), 469–471. https://doi.org/10.1021/ol0069709.
- (10) Comins, D. L.; LaMunyon, D. H. Enantiopure 2,3-Dihydro-4-Pyridones as Synthetic Intermediates. Asymmetric Syntheses of the Quinolizidine Alkaloids, (+)-Myrtine, (-)-Lasubine I, and (+)-Subcosine I. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57 (22), 5807–5809. https://doi.org/10.1021/j000048a003.
- (11) McCall, W. S.; Grillo, T. A.; Comins, D. L. N -Acyldihydropyridones as Synthetic Intermediates. A Stereoselective Synthesis of Acyclic Amino Alcohols Containing Multiple Chiral Centers. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 73 (24), 9744–9751. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo802029y.
- (12) Comins, D. L.; Zeller, E. N-Acyldihydropyridones as Synthetic Intermediates. A Short Synthesis of (±)-Indolizidine 209B. *Tetrahedron Letters* 1991, *32* (42), 5889–5892. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4039(00)79418-4.
- (13) Comins, D. L.; Dehghani, A. N-Acyldihydropyridones as Synthetic Intermediates. A Short Synthesis of (±)-Pumiliotoxin C. *Tetrahedron Letters* **1991**, *32* (41), 5697–5700. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4039(00)93533-0.

- (14) Comins, D. L.; Morgan, L. A. N-Acyldihydropyridones as Synthetic Intermediates. Synthesis of (±)-Septicine and (±)-Tylophorine. *Tetrahedron Letters* 1991, *32* (42), 5919–5922. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4039(00)79426-3.
- (15) Comins, D. L.; Weglarz, M. A. Stereocontrolled Preparation of Cis- and Trans-2,6-Dialkylpiperidines via 1-Acyldihydropyridine Intermediates. Synthesis of (.+-.)-Solenopsin A and (.+-.)-Dihydropinidine. *J. Org. Chem.* **1991**, *56* (7), 2506–2512. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo00007a044.
- (16) Charette, A. B.; Grenon, M.; Lemire, A.; Pourashraf, M.; Martel, J. Practical and Highly Regio- and Stereoselective Synthesis of 2-Substituted Dihydropyridines and Piperidines: Application to the Synthesis of (–)-Coniine. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2001, *123* (47), 11829–11830. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja017136x.
- (17) Lemire, A.; Charette, A. B. Stereoselective Synthesis of 2,6-Disubstituted 3-Piperidinols: Application to the Expedient Synthesis of (+)-Julifloridine. *Org. Lett.* **2005**, *7* (13), 2747–2750. https://doi.org/10.1021/ol051022z.
- (18) Kutney, J. P.; Noda, M.; Lewis, N. G.; Monteiro, B.; Mostowicz, D.; Worth, B. R. Dihydropyridines in Synthesis and Biosynthesis. V. Synthesis of Pyridocarbazole Alkaloids: Olivacine and (±)-Guatambuine. *Can. J. Chem.* **1982**, *60* (19), 2426–2430. https://doi.org/10.1139/v82-351.
- (19) Bennasar, M. L.; Vidal, B.; Bosch, J. A Short Synthesis of N(a)-Methylervitsine.Reactivity of the Intermediate 1,4-Dihydropyridine towards Electrophiles. *J. Chem. Soc., Chem. commun.* 1995, No. 2, 125–126. https://doi.org/10.1039/C39950000125.
- (20) Bosch, J.; Bennasar, M.-L.; Zulaica, E.; Feliz, M. Total Synthesis and Stereochemical Reassignment of the Indole Alkaloid Vinoxine. *Tetrahedron Letters* 1984, 25 (29), 3119– 3122. https://doi.org/10.1016/0040-4039(84)80023-4.
- (21) Bosch, J.; Bennasar, M. L.; Zulaica, E. Synthetic Studies on the Indole Alkaloid Vinoxine. Synthesis of 19,20-Dihydro-16-Epivinoxine. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51 (12), 2289–2297. https://doi.org/10.1021/j000362a023.
- (22) Alvarez, M.; Salas, M.; de Veciana, A.; Lavilla, R.; Bosch, J. Nucleophilic Addition of Indole-2-Acetic Ester Enolates to N-Alkylpyridinium Salts. A Formal Synthesis of Strychnos Alkaloids Tubifolidine and Tubifoline. *Terahedron Lett.* **1990**, *31* (35), 5089– 5092.
- Wenkert, E.; Halls, T. D. J.; Kunesch, G.; Orito, K.; Stephens, R. L.; Temple, W. A.;
   Yadav, J. S. Total Synthesis of the Yohimbines. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1979, *101* (18), 5370–5376. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00512a043.
- (24) Hughes, D. L. Review of Synthetic Routes and Final Forms of Integrase Inhibitors Dolutegravir, Cabotegravir, and Bictegravir. *Org. Process Res. Dev.* **2019**, *23* (5), 716– 729. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.oprd.9b00031.
- Peng, Z.; Wong, J. W.; Hansen, E. C.; Puchlopek-Dermenci, A. L. A.; Clarke, H. J. Development of a Concise, Asymmetric Synthesis of a Smoothened Receptor (SMO) Inhibitor: Enzymatic Transamination of a 4-Piperidinone with Dynamic Kinetic Resolution. *Org. Lett.* 2014, *16* (3), 860–863. https://doi.org/10.1021/ol403630g.
- (26) Bertuzzi, G.; Bernardi, L.; Fochi, M. Nucleophilic Dearomatization of Activated Pyridines. *Catalysts* **2018**, *8* (12), 632. https://doi.org/10.3390/catal8120632.

- (27) Sharma, V. K.; Singh, S. K. Synthesis, Utility and Medicinal Importance of 1,2- & 1,4-Dihydropyridines. *RSC Adv.* 2017, 7 (5), 2682–2732. https://doi.org/10.1039/C6RA24823C.
- (28) Stout, D. M.; Meyers, A. I. Recent Advances in the Chemistry of Dihydropyridines. *Chem. Rev.* **1982**, 82 (2), 223–243. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr00048a004.
- (29) Weintraub, P. M.; Sabol, J. S.; Kane, J. M.; Borcherding, D. R. Recent Advances in the Synthesis of Piperidones and Piperidines. *Tetrahedron* 2003, 59 (17), 2953–2989. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4020(03)00295-3.
- (30) Hantzsch, A. Condensationsprodukte aus Aldehydammoniak und ketonartigen Verbindungen. *Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges.* **1881**, *14* (2), 1637–1638. https://doi.org/10.1002/cber.18810140214.
- (31) Yet, L. Privileged Structures in Drug Discovery: Medicinal Chemistry and Synthesis; John Wiley & Sons, Inc.: Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118686263.
- (32) Sumida, Y.; Ohmiya, H. Direct Excitation Strategy for Radical Generation in Organic Synthesis. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2021, 50 (11), 6320–6332. https://doi.org/10.1039/D1CS00262G.
- McLellan, R.; Kennedy, A. R.; Mulvey, R. E.; Orr, S. A.; Robertson, S. D. 1-Alkali-Metal-2-Alkyl-1,2-Dihydropyridines: Soluble Hydride Surrogates for Catalytic Dehydrogenative Coupling and Hydroboration Applications. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2017, 23 (66), 16853–16861. https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.201703609.
- (34) Lansbury, P. T.; Peterson, J. O. Lithium Tetrakis-(N-Dihydropyridyl)-Aluminate: Structure and Reducing Properties. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1963, 85 (15), 2236–2242. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00898a010.
- (35) Hirst, J. Mitochondrial Complex I. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* **2013**, *82* (1), 551–575. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-biochem-070511-103700.
- (36) Pollak, N.; Dölle, C.; Ziegler, M. The Power to Reduce: Pyridine Nucleotides Small Molecules with a Multitude of Functions. *Biochemical Journal* 2007, 402 (2), 205–218. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20061638.
- (37) Gutiérrez-Bonet, Á.; Tellis, J. C.; Matsui, J. K.; Vara, B. A.; Molander, G. A. 1,4-Dihydropyridines as Alkyl Radical Precursors: Introducing the Aldehyde Feedstock to Nickel/Photoredox Dual Catalysis. ACS Catal. 2016, 6 (12), 8004–8008. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.6b02786.
- (38) Chen, W.; Liu, Z.; Tian, J.; Li, J.; Ma, J.; Cheng, X.; Li, G. Building Congested Ketone: Substituted Hantzsch Ester and Nitrile as Alkylation Reagents in Photoredox Catalysis. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2016, 138 (38), 12312–12315. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.6b06379.
- (39) Nakajima, K.; Nojima, S.; Sakata, K.; Nishibayashi, Y. Visible-Light-Mediated Aromatic Substitution Reactions of Cyanoarenes with 4-Alkyl-1,4-dihydropyridines through Double Carbon–Carbon Bond Cleavage. *ChemCatChem* 2016, 8 (6), 1028–1032. https://doi.org/10.1002/cctc.201600037.
- (40) De Lucas, A. I.; Fernández-Gadea, J.; Martín, N.; Seoane, C. A New Synthetic Approach to N-Substituted 1,4-Dihydropyridines. *Tetrahedron* 2001, *57* (26), 5591–5595. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4020(01)00463-X.
- (41) Ko, S.; Sastry, M. N. V.; Lin, C.; Yao, C.-F. Molecular Iodine-Catalyzed One-Pot Synthesis of 4-Substituted-1,4-Dihydropyridine Derivatives via Hantzsch Reaction.

*Tetrahedron Letters* **2005**, *46* (34), 5771–5774. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tetlet.2005.05.148.

- (42) Ananthi, N. Role of Chirality in Drugs. *OMCIJ* **2018**, *5* (3). https://doi.org/10.19080/OMCIJ.2018.05.555661.
- (43) H. Brooks, W.; C. Guida, W.; G. Daniel, K. The Significance of Chirality in Drug Design and Development. *CTMC* 2011, *11* (7), 760–770. https://doi.org/10.2174/156802611795165098.
- (44) Nguyen, L. A.; He, H.; Pham-Huy, C. Chiral Drugs: An Overview. Int J Biomed Sci 16.
- (45) Silvestri, I. P.; Colbon, P. J. J. The Growing Importance of Chirality in 3D Chemical Space Exploration and Modern Drug Discovery Approaches for Hit-ID: Topical Innovations. ACS Med. Chem. Lett. 2021, 12 (8), 1220–1229. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmedchemlett.1c00251.
- (46) Gotrane, D. M.; Deshmukh, R. D.; Ranade, P. V.; Sonawane, S. P.; Bhawal, B. M.;
  Gharpure, M. M.; Gurjar, M. K. A Novel Method for Resolution of Amlodipine. *Org. Process Res. Dev.* 2010, *14* (3), 640–643. https://doi.org/10.1021/op900283z.
- (47) Goldmann, S.; Stoltefuss, J.; Born, L. Determination of the Absolute Configuration of the Active Amlodipine Enantiomer as (-)-S: A Correction. *J. Med. Chem.* **1992**, *35* (18), 3341–3344. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm00096a005.
- (48) Tamazawa, K.; Arima, H.; Kojima, T.; Isomura, Y.; Okada, M.; Fujita, S.; Furuya, T.; Takenaka, T.; Inagaki, O.; Terai, M. Stereoselectivity of a Potent Calcium Antagonist, 1-Benzyl-3-Pyrrolidinyl Methyl 2,6-Dimethyl-4-(m-Nitrophenyl)-1,4-Dihydropyridine-3,5-Dicarboxylate. *J. Med. Chem.* **1986**, *29* (12), 2504–2511. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm00162a013.
- (49) Zhang, B.; He, W.; Shi, X.; Huan, M.; Huang, Q.; Zhou, S. Synthesis and Biological Activity of the Calcium Modulator (R) and (S)-3-Methyl 5-Pentyl 2,6-Dimethyl-4-(3-Nitrophenyl)-1,4-Dihydropyridine-3,5-Dicarboxylate. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters* 2010, 20 (3), 805–808. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2009.12.104.
- (50) Taylor, M. D.; Himmelsbach, R. J.; Kornberg, B. E.; Quin, J.; Lunney, E.; Michel, A. 1,3-Dipolar Cycloaddition of Nitrile Oxides with 1,4-Dihydropyridines and Conformational Analysis of Isoxazolo[5,4-b]Pyridines. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54 (23), 5585–5590. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo00284a036.
- (51) Arrowsmith, J. E.; Campbell, S. F.; Cross, P. E.; Stubbs, J. K.; Burges, R. A.; Gardiner, D. G.; Blackburn, K. J. Long-Acting Dihydropyridine Calcium Antagonists. 1. 2-Alkoxymethyl Derivatives Incorporating Basic Substituents. *J. Med. Chem.* 1986, 29 (9), 1696–1702. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm00159a022.
- (52) Shan, R.; Howlett, S. E.; Knaus, E. E. Syntheses, Calcium Channel Agonist–Antagonist Modulation Activities, Nitric Oxide Release, and Voltage-Clamp Studies of 2-Nitrooxyethyl 1,4-Dihydro- 2,6-Dimethyl-3-Nitro-4-(2-Trifluoromethylphenyl)Pyridine-5-Carboxylate Enantiomers. *J. Med. Chem.* 2002, 45 (4), 955–961. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm010394k.
- (53) Vo, D.; Matowe, W. C.; Ramesh, M.; Iqbal, N.; Wolowyk, M. W.; Howlett, S. E.; Knaus, E. E. Syntheses, Calcium Channel Agonist-Antagonist Modulation Activities, and Voltage-Clamp Studies of Isopropyl 1,4-Dihydro-2,6-Dimethyl-3-Nitro- 4-Pyridinylpyridine-5-Carboxylate Racemates and Enantiomers. *J. Med. Chem.* 1995, *38* (15), 2851–2859. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm00015a007.

- (54) Jiang, J.; Yu, J.; Sun, X.-X.; Rao, Q.-Q. Organocatalytic Asymmetric Three-Component Cyclization of Cinnamaldehydes and Primary Amines with 1,3-Dicarbonyl Compounds:Straightforward Access to Enantiomerically Enriched Dihydropyridines. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2008, 47 (13), 2458–2462. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200705300.
- (55) Yamamoto, T.; Ohno, S.; Niwa, S.; Tokumasu, M.; Hagihara, M.; Koganei, H.; Fujita, S.; Takeda, T.; Saitou, Y.; Iwayama, S.; Takahara, A.; Iwata, S.; Shoji, M. Asymmetric Synthesis and Biological Evaluations of (+)- and (-)-6-Dimethoxymethyl-1,4-Dihydropyridine-3-Carboxylic Acid Derivatives Blocking N-Type Calcium Channels. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters* 2011, 21 (11), 3317–3319. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2011.04.007.
- (56) Born, S.; Kobayashi, Y. A Stable Synthetic Equivalentof 2,3-Dihydropyridine. *Synlett* **2008**, 2008 (16), 2479–2482. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2008-1078056.
- (57) Herdemann, M.; Al-Mourabit, A.; Martin, M.-T.; Marazano, C. From a Biogenetic Scenario to a Synthesis of the ABC Ring of Manzamine A. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67 (6), 1890–1897. https://doi.org/10.1021/j00162033.
- (58) Baldwin, J. E.; Whitehead, R. C. On the Biosynthesis of Manzamines. *Tetrahedron Letters* **1992**, *33* (15), 2059–2062. https://doi.org/10.1016/0040-4039(92)88141-Q.
- (59) Jakubowicz, K.; Abdeljelil, K. B.; Herdemann, M.; Martin, M.-T.; Gateau-Olesker, A.; Mourabit, A. A.; Marazano, C.; Das, B. C. Reactions of Aminopentadienal Derivatives with 5,6-Dihydropyridinium Salts as an Approach to Manzamine Alkaloids Based upon Biogenetic Considerations. *J. Org. Chem.* **1999**, *64* (20), 7381–7387. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo990604p.
- (60) Kaiser, A.; Billot, X.; Gateau-Olesker, A.; Marazano, C.; Das, B. C. Selective Entry to the Dimeric or Oligomeric Pyridinium Sponge Macrocycles via Aminopentadienal Derivatives. Possible Biogenetic Relevance with Manzamine Alkaloids. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1998, *120* (32), 8026–8034. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja9805369.
- (61) Baldwin, J. E.; Claridge, T. D. W.; Culshaw, A. J.; Heupel, F. A.; Lee, V.; Spring, D. R.; Whitehead, R. C. Studies on the Biomimetic Synthesis of the Manzamine Alkaloids. *Chem. Eur. J.* 1999, 5 (11), 3154–3161. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1521-3765(19991105)5:11<3154::AID-CHEM3154>3.0.CO;2-7.
- (62) Sakai, Ryuichi.; Higa, Tatsuo.; Jefford, C. W.; Bernardinelli, Gerald. Manzamine A, a Novel Antitumor Alkaloid from a Sponge. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1986**, *108* (20), 6404–6405. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00280a055.
- (63) El Sayed, K. A.; Kelly, M.; Kara, U. A. K.; Ang, K. K. H.; Katsuyama, I.; Dunbar, D. C.; Khan, A. A.; Hamann, M. T. New Manzamine Alkaloids with Potent Activity against Infectious Diseases. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123 (9), 1804–1808. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0020730.
- (64) Brunner, B.; Stogaitis, N.; Lautens, M. Synthesis of 1,2-Dihydropyridines Using Vinyloxiranes as Masked Dienolates in Imino-Aldol Reactions. *Org. Lett.* 2006, 8 (16), 3473–3476. https://doi.org/10.1021/ol061086p.
- (65) Romanov-Michailidis, F.; Sedillo, K. F.; Neely, J. M.; Rovis, T. Expedient Access to 2,3-Dihydropyridines from Unsaturated Oximes by Rh(III)-Catalyzed C–H Activation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137 (28), 8892–8895. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.5b04946.
- (66) Wyle, M. J.; Fowler, F. W. A Synthesis of N-Acyl-1,2-Dihydropyridines. J. Org. Chem. 1984, 49 (21), 4025–4029. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo00195a031.

- (67) Colby, D. A.; Bergman, R. G.; Ellman, J. A. Synthesis of Dihydropyridines and Pyridines from Imines and Alkynes via C-H Activation. *XRDS* 2011, *17* (4), 58–59. https://doi.org/10.1145/1961678.1961690.
- (68) Motamed, M.; Bunnelle, E. M.; Singaram, S. W.; Sarpong, R. Pt(II)-Catalyzed Synthesis of 1,2-Dihydropyridines from Aziridinyl Propargylic Esters. Org. Lett. 2007, 9 (11), 2167–2170. https://doi.org/10.1021/ol070658i.
- (69) Trost, B. M.; Biannic, B. Redox Cycloisomerization Approach to 1,2-Dihydropyridines. *Org. Lett.* **2015**, *17* (6), 1433–1436. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.orglett.5b00279.
- (70) Carson, J. R.; Carmosin, R. J.; Vaught, J. L.; Gardocki, J. F.; Costanzo, M. J.; Raffa, R. B.; Almond, H. R. 2-Substituted 1-Azabicycloalkanes, a New Class of Non-Opiate Antinociceptive Agents. *J. Med. Chem.* 1992, *35* (15), 2855–2863. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm00093a019.
- (71) Pearson, W. H.; Gallagher, B. M. The Intramolecular Schmidt Reaction of Azides with Tertiary Alcohols: Synthesis of 5- (~-Naphthyl)- and 5-([~-Naphthyl)Indolizidines as Potential Dopamine Analogs and Non- Opiate Antinociceptive Agents. 10.
- (72) Pearson, W. H.; Walavalkar, R. A Schmidt Route to 1-Azabicyclo[x.y.0]Alkanes: A Comparison of Carbocation Stabilizing Groups. *Tetrahedron* 2001, *57* (24), 5081–5089. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4020(01)00353-2.
- (73) Wan, J.-P.; Gan, S.-F.; Sun, G.-L.; Pan, Y.-J. Novel Regioselectivity: Three-Component Cascade Synthesis of Unsymmetrical 1,4- and 1,2-Dihydropyridines. *J. Org. Chem.* 2009, 74 (7), 2862–2865. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo900068z.
- (74) Yavari, I.; Bayat, M. J.; Sirouspour, M.; Souri, S. One-Pot Synthesis of Highly Functionalized 1,2-Dihydropyridines from Primary Alkylamines, Alkyl Isocyanides, and Acetylenic Esters. *Tetrahedron* 2010, 66 (40), 7995–7999. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tet.2010.08.016.
- (75) Suhre, M. H.; Reif, M.; Kirsch, S. F. Gold(I)-Catalyzed Synthesis of Highly Substituted Furans. *Org. Lett.* **2005**, *7* (18), 3925–3927. https://doi.org/10.1021/ol0514101.
- (76) Binder, J. T.; Kirsch, S. F. Synthesis of Highly Substituted Pyrroles via a Multimetal-Catalyzed Rearrangement–Condensation–Cyclization Domino Approach. Org. Lett. 2006, 8 (10), 2151–2153. https://doi.org/10.1021/ol060664z.
- (77) Menz, H.; Kirsch, S. F. Synthesis of Stable 2 *H* -Pyran-5-Carboxylates via a Catalyzed Propargyl-Claisen Rearrangement/Oxa-6π Electrocyclization Strategy. Org. Lett. 2006, 8 (21), 4795–4797. https://doi.org/10.1021/ol061856x.
- (78) Tejedor, D.; Méndez-Abt, G.; GarcÃ-a-Tellado, F. A Convenient Domino Access to Substituted Alkyl 1,2-Dihydropyridine-3-Carboxylates from Propargyl Enol Ethers and Primary Amines. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2010, *16* (2), 428–431. https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.200902140.
- (79) Tejedor, D.; Cotos, L.; Méndez-Abt, G.; García-Tellado, F. General Synthesis of Substituted 1,2-Dihydropyridines. J. Org. Chem. 2014, 79 (21), 10655–10661. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo501991s.
- (80) Tejedor, D.; Prieto-Ramírez, M. C.; Ingold, M.; Chicón, M.; García-Tellado, F. Synthesis of Polysubstituted Benzoic Esters from 1,2-Dihydropyridines and Its Application to the Synthesis of Fluorenones. *Org. Lett.* 2016, *18* (11), 2770–2773. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.orglett.6b01260.
- (81) Wei, H.; Wang, Y.; Yue, B.; Xu, P.-F. Synthesis of Substituted 1,2-Dihydropyridines from Propargyl Vinyl Ethers and Allenic Vinyl Ethers by Gold-Catalyzed Claisen

Rearrangement and 6π-Aza-Electrocyclization. *Adv. Synth. Catal.* **2010**, *352* (14–15), 2450–2454. https://doi.org/10.1002/adsc.201000292.

- (82) Palacios, F.; Herrán, E.; Rubiales, G. Reaction of *N* -Vinylic Phosphazenes Derived from β-Amino Acids with Aldehydes. Azadiene-Mediated Synthesis of Dihydropyridines, Pyridines, and Polycyclic Nitrogen Derivatives. *J. Org. Chem.* 1999, 64 (17), 6239–6246. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo9902650.
- (83) Sklenicka, H. M.; Hsung, R. P.; Wei, L.-L.; McLaughlin, M. J.; Gerasyuto, A. I.; Degen, S. J. Highly Stereoselective Formal [3 + 3] Cycloaddition Reactions of Chiral Vinylogous Amides with α,β-Unsaturated Iminiums. *Org. Lett.* 2000, *2* (8), 1161–1164. https://doi.org/10.1021/ol000049+.
- (84) Wei, L.-L.; Hsung, R. P.; Sklenicka, H. M.; Gerasyuto, A. I. A Novel and Highly Stereoselective Intramolecular Formal [3+3] Cycloaddition Reaction of Vinylogous Amides Tethered Witha,β-Unsaturated Aldehydes: A Formal Total Synthesis of (+)-Gephyrotoxin. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2001, 40 (8), 1516–1518. https://doi.org/10.1002/1521-3773(20010417)40:8<1516::AID-ANIE1516>3.0.CO;2-V.
- (85) Joule, J. A.; Mills, K. *Heterocyclic Chemistry, Fifth Edition*, 5th ed.; Blackwell Publishing Ltd: Southern Gate, Chichester, West Sussex, PO19 8SO, United Kingdom, 2010.
- (86) Jochmann, P.; Dols, T. S.; Spaniol, T. P.; Perrin, L.; Maron, L.; Okuda, J. Insertion of Pyridine into the Calcium Allyl Bond: Regioselective 1,4-Dihydropyridine Formation and C□H Bond Activation. Angewandte Chemie International Edition 2010, 49 (42), 7795– 7798. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201003704.
- (87) Andersson, H.; Gustafsson, M.; Boström, D.; Olsson, R.; Almqvist, F. The Regio- and Stereoselective Synthesis of *Trans* -2,3-Dihydropyridine *N* -Oxides and Piperidines. *Angew. Chem.* **2009**, *121* (18), 3338–3341. https://doi.org/10.1002/ange.200900189.
- (88) Yamaguchi, R.; Moriyasu, M.; Yoshioka, M.; Kawanisi, M. Highly Regioselective Alpha.-Allylation of N-(Alkoxycarbonyl)Pyridinium Salts by Means of Allyltin Reagents. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50 (2), 287–288. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo00202a031.
- (89) Robinson, D. J.; Ortiz, K. G.; O'Hare, N. P.; Karimov, R. R. Dearomatization of Heteroarenium Salts with ArBpin Reagents. Application to the Total Synthesis of a Nuphar Alkaloid. Org. Lett. 2022, 24 (19), 3445–3449. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.orglett.2c00976.
- (90) Ager, J. H.; May, E. L. Structures Related to Morphine. XIX. <sup>1</sup> Benzomorphans from 3,4-Diethylpyridine. J. Org. Chem. 1962, 27 (1), 245–247. https://doi.org/10.1021/j001048a059.
- (91) Ager, J. H.; May, E. L. Structures Related to Morphine. XIII.1 2-Alkyl-2'-Hydroxy-5,9-Dimethyl-6,7- Benzomorphans and a More Direct Synthesis of the 2-Phenethyl Compound. 25, 3.
- (92) Eddy, N. B.; Murphy, J. G.; May, E. L. Structures Related to Morphine. IX. <sup>\*1</sup> Extension of the Grewe Morphinan Synthesis in the Benzomorphan Series and Pharmacology of Some Benzomorphans. *J. Org. Chem.* **1957**, *22* (11), 1370–1372. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo01362a018.
- (93) May, E. L.; Ager, J. H. Structures Related to Morphine. XI. <sup>1</sup> Analogs and a Diastereoisomer of 2'-Hydroxy-2,5,9-Trimethyl-6,7-Benzomorphan. J. Org. Chem. 1959, 24 (10), 1432–1435. https://doi.org/10.1021/j001092a011.

- (94) May, E. L.; Fry, E. M. Structures Related to Morphine. VIII. Further Syntheses in the Benzomorphan Series <sup>\*1,2</sup>. J. Org. Chem. **1957**, 22 (11), 1366–1369. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo01362a017.
- (95) Comins, D. L.; Kuethe, J. T.; Hong, H.; Lakner, F. J.; Concolino, T. E.; Rheingold, A. L. Diastereoselective Addition of Prochiral Metallo Enolates to Chiral 1-Acylpyridinium Salts. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121 (11), 2651–2652. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja990024+.
- (96) Corey, E. J.; Chen, C.; Reichard, G. N,O-Methylboronate (2) and Its Enentiomer, Chiral Chemzymes Which Serve as Catalysts for Their Own Enantioselective Synthesis. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1989**, *30* (41), 5547–5550. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4039(01)93796-7.
- (97) Bennasar, M.-L.; Jiménez, J.-M.; Vidal, B.; Sufi, B. A.; Bosch, J. Nucleophilic Addition of 1-Acetylindole Enolates to Pyridinium Salts. Stereoselective Formal Synthesis of (±)-Geissoschizine and (±)-Akagerine via 1,4-Dihydropyridines. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64 (26), 9605–9612. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo9911894.
- (98) Bertuzzi, G.; Sinisi, A.; Caruana, L.; Mazzanti, A.; Fochi, M.; Bernardi, L. Catalytic Enantioselective Addition of Indoles to Activated *N* -Benzylpyridinium Salts: Nucleophilic Dearomatization of Pyridines with Unusual C-4 Regioselectivity. *ACS Catal.* 2016, *6* (10), 6473–6477. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.6b01962.
- (99) Black, D. A.; Beveridge, R. E.; Arndtsen, B. A. Copper-Catalyzed Coupling of Pyridines and Quinolines with Alkynes: A One-Step, Asymmetric Route to Functionalized Heterocycles. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 73 (5), 1906–1910. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo702293h.
- (100) Sun, Z.; Yu, S.; Ding, Z.; Ma, D. Enantioselective Addition of Activated Terminal Alkynes to 1-Acylpyridinium Salts Catalyzed by Cu–Bis(Oxazoline) Complexes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129 (30), 9300–9301. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0734849.
- (101) Wei, C.; Li, C.-J. Enantioselective Direct-Addition of Terminal Alkynes to Imines Catalyzed by Copper(I)Pybox Complex in Water and in Toluene. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124 (20), 5638–5639. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja026007t.
- (102) Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B. V. S.; Sreenivas, M.; Sathaiah, K. Facile Addition of Alkynes to Aza-Aromatic Systems: A New Protocol for the Preparation of 2-Alkynyl-1,2-Dihydroquinolines. *Tetrahedron Letters* 2005, 46 (51), 8905–8908. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tetlet.2005.10.101.
- (103) Chau, S. T.; Lutz, J. P.; Wu, K.; Doyle, A. G. Nickel-Catalyzed Enantioselective Arylation of Pyridinium Ions: Harnessing an Iminium Ion Activation Mode. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2013, *52* (35), 9153–9156. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201303994.
- (104) Lutz, J. P.; Chau, S. T.; Doyle, A. G. Nickel-Catalyzed Enantioselective Arylation of Pyridine. *Chem. Sci.* **2016**, *7* (7), 4105–4109. https://doi.org/10.1039/C6SC00702C.
- (105) Nadeau, C.; Aly, S.; Belyk, K. Rhodium-Catalyzed Enantioselective Addition of Boronic Acids to N -Benzylnicotinate Salts. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2011, 133 (9), 2878–2880. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja111540g.
- (106) Knight, B. J.; Tolchin, Z. A.; Smith, J. M. A Predictive Model for Additions to N-Alkyl Pyridiniums. *Chem. Commun.* 2021, 57 (21), 2693–2696. https://doi.org/10.1039/D1CC00056J.

# <u>Chapter 2: Synthesis of 1,6-DHPs via Enantioselective Addition of</u> <u>Boronic Acids</u>

This chapter is reproduced from Robinson, D. J.; Spurlin, S. S.; Gorden, J. D.; and Karimov, R. R. *ACS Catal.* **2020**, 10, 51–55.

#### 2.1. Introduction:

Nonaromatic 6-membered azaheterocycles are the most common nitrogen heterocycles in FDA approved small molecule drugs.<sup>1</sup> In addition to their abundance in drug molecules, these heterocycles are common in agrochemicals and alkaloid natural products.<sup>2</sup> Often sp<sup>3</sup> carbons of these heterocycles, especially the ones in natural products, are functionalized to contain stereogenic centers. A number of these compounds contain a fully substituted stereogenic center alpha to the ring nitrogen atom. Examples of such molecules include rolapitant (2.1), a NK1 receptor antagonist that has recently been approved for treating delayed phase of chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting, and alkaloids roxburghine (2.2) and lycodine (2.3) (Figure 2.1). Despite the wide abundance of these azaheterocycles in bioactive molecules, methods for their synthesis, especially the ones that contain fully substituted stereocenters, are limited as the synthesis of quaternary centers in general remains one of the great challenges in organic chemistry.<sup>3-7</sup>



Figure 2.1: Examples of bioactive molecules containing six-membered azaheterocycles with a fully substituted stereocenter.

Catalytic dearomatization of electron deficient pyridines is an attractive approach toward the synthesis of 6-membered nonaromatic azaheterocycles because of the following: (1) pyridines are widely available commercially and through chemical synthesis; (2) initial dearomatization yields dihydropyridines (2.5) that contain a stereocenter and two double bonds that subsequently could be sequentially functionalized in a diastereoselective manner for the synthesis of highly substituted tetrahydropyridines and piperidines (Scheme 2.1).<sup>8–20</sup> Previous efforts on the catalytic enantioselective dearomatization of pyridines have focused on the hydrogenation of the heteroarene double bonds<sup>21-31</sup> and addition of nucleophiles to activated pyridines<sup>32-41</sup> and related heteroarenes.<sup>42–44</sup> Despite the surge of research interest in asymmetric heteroarene hydrogenation, complete reduction of highly substituted pyridines is still challenging, and the hydrogenation method cannot establish a fully substituted stereogenic center as one of the substituents introduced is hydrogen. Catalytic nucleophilic additions to activated pyridines on the other hand have mainly focused on the dearomatization reactions of unsubstituted or symmetrically substituted N-acyl and N-alkylpyridiniums. Examples of these reactions include addition of arylboronic acids,<sup>32,42</sup> alkynes,<sup>33,34</sup> aryl and alkyl zinc reagents,<sup>35–37</sup> indoles,<sup>38,43</sup> and other nucleophiles<sup>39–41,44,45</sup> to pyridinium and quinolinium salts. Despite these advances in heteroarene dearomatization, there is no general method reported for the dearomative formation of the fully substituted stereocenters starting from either N-alkyl or N-acylpyridinium salts with practical yield and enantioselectivity.





Herein we report rhodium catalyzed dearomatization of N-alkyl nicotinic acid esters (2.4) for the synthesis of dihydropyridines that contain a fully substituted stereocenter at the C-6 position (Scheme 2.1). We have chosen nicotinic acid ester-derived pyridinium salts, as the regioselective dearomatization of these salts lead to DHPs (2.5) that contain two double bonds with distinct reactivities. One of these double bonds, C4=C5, typically reacts as a C=C double bond while the C2=C3 bond is part of the vinylogous carbamate, and thus resembles the reactivity of that functional group.<sup>46</sup> Together these reactivities would provide a versatile reactivity profile for the dearomatization products (2.5) to synthesize functionalized nonaromatic azaheterocycles where at least one of the stereocenters is fully substituted.

#### **2.2. Optimization of Reaction Conditions:**

We initiated our studies using N-methylpyridinium triflate **2.7** as a substrate, which is readily available from the reaction of methyl 6-methylnicotinate and methyl triflate (Table 2.1). Initial reactions were conducted at 80 °C in a 2:1 THF/water mixture as the solvent, phenyl boronic acid as the nucleophile, and Rh(COD)<sub>2</sub>BF<sub>4</sub>/(R)-BINAP as the catalyst. We were delighted to find out that under these conditions dihydropyridine (**2.8.a**) was formed in excellent enantioselectivity and regioselectivity albeit in low yield (Table 2.1, entry 1). In order to improve the yield, we evaluated several solvents and found that ethereal solvents gave a higher yield than that of toluene and 1,2-dichloroethane (Table 2.1, entries 1–5). To further improve the yield of the reaction, we investigated KPF<sub>6</sub> as an additive with the idea that a more soluble anion PF<sub>6</sub> may improve solubility of the pyridinium salts in organic solvents. In fact, addition of 2 equiv. of KPF<sub>6</sub> improved the yield in all solvents tested while the highest yield was obtained in 1,4-dioxane (Table 2.1, entries 6–8). Lastly, we evaluated the impact of amount of water on the yield of the reaction (Table 2.1, entries 9–11). Increasing the amount of water from 0.5 to 1 mL yielded only a trace amount dearomatization product, while decreasing the amount of water to 0.25 or 0.1 mL significantly improved the yield. As the *ee* slightly decreased for the 0.1 mL water case, we decided to go with the 0.25 mL water as the optimal reaction conditions. It is worth noting that the reaction did not work without the addition of  $Rh(COD)_2BF_4$  or (R)- BINAP (Table 2.1: Optimization of reaction conditions., entries 12 and 13) and gave only trace amounts of the product without addition of the water (Table 2.1, entry 14).

Me N Me x <sup>©</sup> - 2.7		Rh(COD) <sub>2</sub> B (R)-BINAI PhB(OH) <sub>2</sub> Na <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub> ( Solvent/H <sub>2</sub> 80 °C, 2	F <sub>4</sub> (5 mol%) ? (5 mol%) (2.5 equiv) 2.5 equiv) O, Additive 2 Hours	Me <sup>III</sup> Me 2.8.a		
Entry	Solvent	H <sub>2</sub> O	Additive	Yield (%) <sup>a</sup>	ee (%) <sup>b</sup>	
1	THF	0.50 mL	none	27	96	
2	1,4-dioxane	0.50 mL	none	39	ND	
3	DME	0.50 mL	none	27	ND	
4	DCE	0.50 mL	none	24	ND	
5	PhMe	0.50 mL	none	25	ND	
6	1,4-dioxane	0.50 mL	KPF <sub>6</sub>	52	ND	
7	THF	0.50 mL	KPF <sub>6</sub>	45	ND	
8	DME	0.50 mL	KPF <sub>6</sub>	47	ND	
9	1,4-dioxane	1.0 mL	none	< 5	ND	
10	1,4-dioxane	0.25 mL	none	84	94	
11	1,4-dioxane	0.10 mL	none	86	92	
12 <sup>c</sup>	1,4-dioxane	0.25 mL	none	0	ND	
13 <sup>d</sup>	1,4-dioxane	0.25 mL	none	0	ND	
14	1,4-dioxane	0 mL	none	< 5	ND	

Table 2.1: Optimization of reaction conditions.

<sup>a</sup>Yield of **2.8.a** was reported based on <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra analysis of crude reaction mixtures using 1,3,5-trimethoxybenzene as in internal standard. <sup>b</sup>Enantiomeric excess (*ee*) was determined by chiral HPLC. <sup>c</sup>No Rh(COD)<sub>2</sub>BF<sub>4</sub> was added. <sup>d</sup>No (R)-BINAP was added.

#### **2.3. Reaction Scope:**

#### 2.3.1. Scope of Boronic Acids:

With the optimal reaction conditions in hand, we investigated the scope of the boronic acids in this reaction. Boronic acids containing ester, amide, ether, olefin, alcohol, halide functional groups reacted to give the corresponding dearomatization products (2.8) in good to excellent yield and excellent enantioselectivities (Table 2.2). Regioselectivity of the addition was also high where no C-4 addition product was observed, while the ratio of the C-6 versus C-2 addition products was greater than 15:1 favoring the C-6 addition product. Both electron-donating and electronwithdrawing groups are well tolerated, although boronic acids containing electron-withdrawing groups gave dihydropyridines in slightly diminished yields and enantioselectivities (Table 2.2, **2.8.b** and **2.8.c**). Substituents at the ortho and meta positions of aryl boronic acids also tolerated delivering the expected products without erosion of enantioselectivity (Table 2.2, **2.8.b-l**, and **2.8.n**-p). The yield of the reaction was lower for the ortho-substituted boronic acid (Table 2.2, **2.8.m**), while the enantioselectivity remained high. Heterocycles are important building blocks in medicinal chemistry. Considering this, we have evaluated a number of heteroarene boronic acids under the optimal reaction conditions. Furan-, thiophene-, and indole-containing boronic acids reacted to give the corresponding dearomatized products in good to excellent yield and excellent enantioselectivities (Table 2.2, 2.8.q-t) with only slight erosion of enantioselectivity when furan-2-boronic acid was used (Table 2.2, 2.8.q). Finally, an alkenyl boronic acid also reacted to give the corresponding dihydropyridine derivative in excellent enantioselectivity (Table 2.2, 2.8.u). Absolute stereochemistry of the two products (2.8.p and 2.8.t) was determined to be (R) using Xray crystallography.



## Table 2.2: : Scope of Rhodium-catalyzed synthesis of dihydropyridines containing a fully substituted stereocenter.<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Isolated yield is reported. Enantiomeric excess (*ee*) was measured by chiral HPLC analysis. <sup>b</sup>*ee* was measured by converting the alcohol to the corresponding methyl ether. <sup>c</sup>*ee* was measured after N-acylation of the free N-H using Boc<sub>2</sub>O. See supporting information for details. The pictured X-ray structures are shown with thermal elipsoids at 30% probability. CCDC 1921656 (**2.8.p**) and 1920061 (**2.8.t**) contain the crystalographic data for this publication.

#### 2.3.2. Substitutions to the Nicotinate Salt:

After establishing the scope of the boronic acids, we turned our attention to investigate the influence of pyridinium substituents and counter-anions on the yield and stereoselectivity of this reaction by systematically varying the ester, C-6, and N-alkyl substituents and counter-anions (Table 2.3). In our optimization studies, we have observed that pyridinium salts that are more soluble in organic solvents give the dearomatization product in higher yield compared with the less soluble pyridinium salts (Table 2.3, entries 6–8). This trend was further evidenced by the fact that more hydrophobic pyridiniums, which contain larger alkyl substituents or more hydrophobic

counter-anions consistently gave higher yields than those that are less hydrophobic (Table 2.3: Evaluation of substituent and counter anion effects on the yield and enantioselectivity of the dearomatization., entry 1 vs entry 2 and entry 2 vs entries 3 and 4). Altering the C-6 substituent (Table 2.3, entry 8 vs Table 2.2, **2.8.a**) or ester group (Table 2.3, entry 3 vs Table 2.2, **2.8.a**) did not significantly influence the enantioselectivity of the reactions. However, substituents that are sterically bulkier than the methyl group at the N-alkyl site resulted in diminished *ees* (Table 2.3, entries 6 and 7).

$ \begin{array}{c}                                     $		Rh(COD) <sub>2</sub> BF <sub>4</sub> (5 mol <sup>4</sup> (R)-BINAP (5 mol <sup>4</sup> PhB(OH) <sub>2</sub> (2.5 equiv) Na <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub> (2.5 equiv) Dioxane/H <sub>2</sub> O (4:1) 80 °C, 2 Hours			$2^{2}$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$	
Entry	R <sup>1</sup>	R <sup>2</sup>	R <sup>3</sup>	X	yield (%) <sup>a</sup>	ee (%) <sup>b</sup>
1	Me	Me	Me	Ι	6	96
2	Me	Me	<i>t</i> -Bu	Ι	75	95
3	Me	Me	<i>t</i> -Bu	OTf	80	93
4	Me	Me	<i>t</i> -Bu	PF <sub>6</sub>	99	91
5	Me	Me	<i>t</i> -Bu	$BF_4$	75	93
6	Me	Et	Me	Br	31	84
7	Me	Bn	Me	Br	56	66
8	Et	Me	Me	OTf	67	97
1	1					•

 Table 2.3: Evaluation of substituent and counter anion effects on the yield and enantioselectivity of the dearomatization.

<sup>a</sup>Isolated yield is reported. <sup>b</sup>Enantiomeric excess (*ee*) was determined by chiral HPLC.

In general, dearomative nucleophilic addition to pyridinium salts takes place at C-2, C-4, and C-6 positions. In all reactions described in Table 2.2 and Table 2.3, formation of a small amount (<5%) of constitutional isomer of the major product where the addition occurred at the C-

2 position instead of the C-6 position was observed. No C-4 addition product was detected in any of these reactions. Presumably this is due to the fact that C-2 or C-6 are closer to the electron-withdrawing nitrogen atom; thus, these two positions are more activated. In order to further probe the steric influence of the C-6 substituent on the regioselectivity of the reaction, we synthesized pyridinium salt **2.9** which contains a sterically bulky phenyl group at the C-6 position (Scheme 2.2: : Dearomatization of pyridinium salt with sterically hindered C-6 substituent.). When this pyridinium salt was subjected to the standard reaction conditions, C-2 addition product **2.10.b** was observed as the major product. Enantioselectivity of the reaction was still good, giving the highly sterically hindered C-6 addition product **2.10.a** in 72% *ee* and constitutional isomer **2.10.b** in 84% *ee*.

Scheme 2.2: : Dearomatization of pyridinium salt with sterically hindered C-6 substituent.



#### 2.4. Functionalization of the 1,6-DHP Product:

In order to demonstrate that the two double bonds of the dihydropyridines **2.8.a** can be selectively functionalized, we carried out several reductive derivatization reactions (Scheme 2.3). To do this, we first carried out the initial dearomatization reaction on a 1 g scale. At this scale, yield and enantioselectivity remained essentially the same compared to the standard 0.2 mmol scale reaction, which demonstrates the scalability of this dearomatization reaction. Hydrogenation of the dihydropyridine **2.8.a** resulted in the vinylogous carbamate **2.11** in excellent yield and purity. This carbamate can be further reduced to piperidine **2.12** using sodium cyanoborohydride.

Treatment of **2.8a** with cyanoborohydride selectively reduces the C2=C3 double bond delivering **2.13** as a 1.0:1.0 mixture of diastereomers in 87% overall yield. Interestingly, when LiAlH<sub>4</sub> was used as a reductant, instead of complete reduction of the C2=C3 double bond and ester group to primary alcohol, aldehyde **2.14** was obtained in 28% yield as the major product.



#### Scheme 2.3: Gram-scale synthesis and derivatization of dihydropyridine 2.8.a.

#### **2.5. Method Shortcomings:**

Although the method developed by us show a broad scope, dearomatization of certain pyridinium salts proved to be challenging. particularly, highly electrophilic pyridinium salts such as **2.15–2.18** did not produce the corresponding dearomatization products (Figure 2.2). The main side product observed in these reactions was the product of addition of hydroxide to the pyridinium





salts under basic reaction conditions. The amide **2.19** gave some product, although the yield was again low. We are currently working toward overcoming these limitations to further expand the substrate scope for this important reaction.

#### 2.6. Mechanism Proposal:

Mechanistically, two possible catalytic cycles could be envisioned for this transformation (Scheme 2.4: Possible catalytic cycles for Rh-catalyzed dearomatization of N-Alkyl nicotinate salts.). The first one involves a reactivity that resembles the rhodium-catalyzed conjugate addition reactions of boronic acids with Michael acceptors. The key steps in this mechanism involve (1) transmetalation of ligated Rh(I) **2.20** to give aryl rhodium species **2.21**; (2) coordination of the pyridinium salt; (3) insertion of the C=N bond into the Rh–Ar bond; and (4) hydrolysis of the product **2.8a** from **2.23** to regenerate the catalyst **2.20**. An alternative mechanism has a resemblance to the rhodium-catalyzed allylic substitution reactions and involves (1) transmetalation of ligated Rh(I) **2.20** to give aryl rhodium species **2.21**; (2) oxidative addition of

Scheme 2.4: Possible catalytic cycles for Rh-catalyzed dearomatization of N-Alkyl nicotinate salts.



Rh(I)-Ar species **2.21** to pyridinium salts to form **2.24**; (3) reductive elimination; and (4) hydrolysis of the product **2.8a** from **2.23** to regenerate the catalyst **2.20**. Experimental and computational studies to understand detailed mechanism of this reaction are currently ongoing in our laboratory.

#### **2.7. Conclusion:**

In conclusion, we report a practical method for the dearomatization of pyridinium salts using boronic acid nucleophiles and readily available Rh/BINAP catalyst system to access dihydropyridines that contain a fully substituted stereogenic center. The dearomatization reaction proceeded with high yield and enantioselectivity and demonstrated excellent functional group tolerance. We have also demonstrated that this dearomatization reaction can be carried out in gram scale, and the dearomatization products can be selectively functionalized to deliver tetrahydropyridine and piperidine derivatives.

#### 2.8. Experimental Section:

#### 2.8.1. Materials and Methods:

Reactions were performed in flame-dried sealed tubes or modified Schlenk (Kjeldahl shape) flasks fitted with a glass stopper under a positive pressure of nitrogen or inside nitrogen filled glovebox using 1 dram or 4 dram vials unless otherwise noted. Air- and moisture-sensitive liquids and solutions were transferred via syringe. The appropriate starting materials and reagents were dried via azeotropic removal of water with toluene. Molecular sieves were activated at 350 °C then flame-dried under vacuum immediately prior to use. Organic solutions were concentrated by rotary evaporation below 40 °C. Flash column chromatography was performed employing 230–400 mesh silica gel. Thin-layer chromatography was performed using glass plates pre-coated to a depth of 0.25 mm with 230–400 mesh silica gel impregnated with a fluorescent indicator (254 nm) and visualized under UV light (254 and 360 nm), or stained with Ceric Ammonium Molybdate in concentrated H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>.

Dichloromethane, tetrahydrofuran, diethyl ether, dimethylformamide, dimethoxyethane and toluene were purified by passage through two packed columns of neutral alumina under an argon atmosphere.<sup>47</sup> Methanol was dried by storing over 3A molecular sieves for at least 36 hours. Amines were distilled from CaH<sub>2</sub> at 760 torr. All other chemicals were obtained from commercial vendors and were used without further purification unless otherwise noted.

Automated flash chromatography was performed with a Teledyne Isco Combiflash<sup>®</sup>  $R_f$  system with Redi*Sep* Gold<sup>TM</sup> columns. Infrared (IR) spectra were obtained using a *Thermo Scientific*<sup>TM</sup> *Nicolet*<sup>TM</sup> *iS50* FTIRspectrophotometer. Data are presented as the frequency of absorption (cm<sup>-1</sup>). Proton nuclear magnetic resonance (<sup>1</sup>H NMR) spectra were acquired on commercial instruments (400 and 600 MHz) at Auburn University NMR facility. Carbon-13

nuclear magnetic resonance (<sup>13</sup>C NMR) spectra were acquired at 100 and 151MHz. Fluorine-19 nuclear magnetic resonance (19F NMR) spectra were acquired at 235 MHz. Chemical shifts are expressed in parts per million ( $\delta$  scale) downfield from tetramethylsilane and are referenced to residual peaks in the NMR solvent (d-chloroform:  $\delta$  7.26 for <sup>1</sup>H NMR,  $\delta$  77.16 for <sup>13</sup>C NMR; d4-methanol:  $\delta$  3.31 for <sup>1</sup>H NMR,  $\delta$  49.00 for <sup>13</sup>C NMR). Data are presented as follows: chemical shift, multiplicity (s = singlet, bs = broad singlet, d = doublet, t = triplet, q = quartet, m = multiplet and/or multiple resonances), coupling constant in Hertz (Hz), integration.

#### 2.8.2. Synthesis of Pyridine Starting Materials:

#### tert-Butyl 6-methylpyridine-3-carboxylate (2.S.1)

Me

Me

**Ot-Bu** To a stirred solution of 6-methylpyridine carboxylic acid (6.86 g, 50.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (85 mL) under nitrogen atmosphere was added

(in this order) *t*-BuOH (7.12 mL, 75.0 mmol, 1.5 equiv.), DMAP (2.45 g, 20.0 mmol, 0.40 equiv.), and DCC (20.6 g, 100 mmol, 2.0 equiv.). The solution was stirred for 20 hours at 23 °C and filtered through celite. The solids and celite were further washed with CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (100 mL) and the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure. The residue was purified via flash column chromatography to yield **2.S.1** as a colorless oil. **Yield** 7.50 g (78%); **TLC** R<sub>*f*</sub> 0.19 (hexanes:EtOAc 9:1). The <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectral data match those of the reported molecule.<sup>48</sup> <sup>1</sup>H **NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.96 (s, 1H), 8.04 (dd, *J* = 7.8, 2.1 Hz, 1H), 7.12 (dd, *J* = 7.9, 3.7 Hz, 1H), 2.52 (d, *J* = 4.1 Hz, 3H), 1.51 (d, *J* = 4.5 Hz, 9H); <sup>13</sup>C **NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  164.57, 162.47, 150.35, 137.17, 124.87, 122.74, 81.67, 28.11, 24.67.

# $\underbrace{\mathsf{Methyl}}_{\mathsf{N}} \mathbf{O} \mathbf{Methyl} \mathbf{6} - \mathbf{phenylpyridine} - \mathbf{3} - \mathbf{carboxylate} (\mathbf{2.S.2})$ In a N<sub>2</sub> filled glove box, dppf (91.5 mg, 0.165 mmol, 0.11 equiv.) and

 $Pd(OAc)_2$  (34 mg, 0.15 mmol, 0.10 equiv.) were dissolved in 4 mL of dioxane

in a 4-dram vial and allowed to stir for 10 min to prepare the solution of the catalyst. This solution was then added to a flame dried Schlenk tube (25 mL) that contained a stir bar and methyl-6-bromonicotinate (324 mg, 1.50 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and stirred until homogenous solution was obtained. 1 M solution of Et<sub>2</sub>Zn in PhMe (1.80 mL, 1.80 mmol, 1.20 equiv.) was added dropwise. The Schlenk tube was sealed and transferred to a Schlenk line where it was then heated at 80 °C with stirring for 16 hours. The reaction mixture was cooled to ambient temperature, diluted to 25 mL with Et<sub>2</sub>O, filtered through a plug of silica gel and then celite, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The brown crude mixture was purified via automated flash chromatography to afford **2.S.2**. **Yield:** 210 mg (85%) The <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectral data match those of the reported molecule.<sup>49</sup> <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  9.06 (s, 1H), 8.13 (dd, *J* = 8.1, 1.9 Hz, 1H), 7.18 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 3.87 (s, 3H), 2.83 (q, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 1.26 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.88, 165.67, 150.22, 137.25, 123.19, 121.54, 52.03, 31.33, 13.4; **HRMS** (ESI) *m*/*z* calc'd for C<sub>9</sub>H<sub>12</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 166.0863, found 166.0869.

#### Methyl 6-phenylpyridine-3-carboxylate (2.S.3)

0

To a flame dried Schlenk tube (25 mL) charged with stir bar and methyl-6bromonicotinate (432 mg, 2.00 mmol, 1.0 equiv.), PhB(OH)<sub>2</sub> (366 mg, 3.00 mmol, 1.5 equiv.) was added under N<sub>2</sub>. The reaction vessel was transferred to a N<sub>2</sub> filled glove box where Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> (116 mg, 0.100 mmol, 0.05 equiv.) was added followed by PhMe (10 mL). The tube was sealed and transferred to a Schlenk line where degassed 2M Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>(aq) (2 mL, 4 mmol, 2 equiv.) was added under N<sub>2</sub>. The reaction vessel was sealed and heated at 80° C for 16 hours. The reaction mixture was cooled to ambient temperature, diluted to 25 mL with EtOAc, filtered through silica and then celite, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The orange crude mixture was purified via automated flash chromatography to give **2.S.3**. **Yield:** 373 mg (87%). The <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectral data match those of the reported molecule.<sup>50</sup> <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  9.28 (d, J = 1.3 Hz, Me  $\stackrel{\bigcirc}{N}_{Me} \stackrel{\bigcirc}{OTf}$  Hz, 1H), 8.35 (dd, J = 8.3, 2.1 Hz, 1H), 8.06 (d, J = 6.7 Hz, 2H), 7.82 (d, J = 8.3Hz, 1H), 7.53 – 7.44 (m, 3H), 3.98 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ 165.74, 160.65, 150.84, 138.03, 137.89, 130.01, 128.90, 127.32, 124.08, 119.83, 52.36; **HRMS** (ESI) m/z calc'd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>12</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 214.0863, found 214.0864.

#### 2.8.3. Synthesis of N-Alkyl Pyridinium Salts:

#### General procedure for pyridinium salts using MeOTf (GP):

In a Schlenk flask, specified nicotinic ester (1.0 equiv) was dissolved in  $CH_2Cl_2$  (10 mL/g) and cooled in an ice water bath. MeOTf (1.1 equiv) was added slowly via syringe and the reaction mixture was stirred overnight allowing it to warm to ambient temperature. ~1/3 of the  $CH_2Cl_2$  was removed under reduced pressure to obtain light yellow oil. Pyridinium salt was isolated from this oil according to the general isolation protocol described below.

#### General procedure for isolation of pyridinium salts (GIP):

Crude pyridinium salt solution was slowly added to a beaker containing rapidly stirring Et<sub>2</sub>O (50 mL/g). Stirring was continued for additional 30 min at which point, pyridinium salt precipitated out. This precipitate was filtered off and washed with Et<sub>2</sub>O (3 x 10 mL/g) to give pyridinium salt as white to off white solid unless otherwise noted.

#### 5-(methoxycarbonyl)-1,2-dimethylpypiridin-1-ium triflate (2.7)

Prepared from methyl 6-methylpyridine carboxylate (3.02 g, 20.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv,) according to GP and isolated according to GIP to give **2.7** as a white solid. **Yield:** 5.80 g (87%); **FTIR** 3014.96, 2969.35, 1732.49, 1637.39; <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CD<sub>3</sub>OD)  $\delta$  7.83 (s, 1H), 7.26 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 6.49 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 2.75 (s, 3H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 1.29 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C **NMR** (151 MHz, CD<sub>3</sub>OD)  $\delta$  163.50, 161.50, 148.79, 145.72, 130.75, 129.48, 121.67 (q, *J* = 318.6 Hz), 53.93, 46.85; <sup>19</sup>**F NMR** 

(235 MHz, CD<sub>3</sub>OD)  $\delta$  -80.02; **HRMS** (ESI) *m*/*z* calc'd for C<sub>10</sub>H<sub>14</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M]<sup>+</sup> 166.0863, found 166.0870.



**5-(methoxycarbonyl)-1-methyl-2-phenylpyridin-1-ium triflate (2.9)** Prepared from **2.S.3** (350 mg, 1.64 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) according to GP and

isolated according to GIP to give 2.9 as a white solid. Yield: 539 mg (87%).

**FTIR:** 2994, 2944, 2842, 1715, 1592; <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 9.48 (s, 1H), 8.92 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 7.94 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 7.68 – 7.60 (m, 5H), 4.36 (s, 3H), 4.04 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 161.69, 159.20, 148.65, 144.82, 132.21, 130.65, 129.90, 129.72, 129.25, 128.90, 53.92, 48.48; <sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (235 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -78.44. **HRMS** (ESI) m/z calc'd for C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>14</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M]<sup>+</sup>: 228.1019, found 228.1018.



## 5-(*tert*-butoxycarbonyl)-1,2-dimethylpypiridin-1-ium iodide (2.S.4) Bu To a vial charged with a stir bar and 2.S.1 (1.00 g, 1.0 equiv, 5.18 mmol),

was added MeI (0.484 mL, 7.77 mmol, 1.5 equiv.). The vial was fitted with

a Teflon lined cap and stirred at 23 °C for 16 hours. The reaction was worked up following GIP to afford **2.S.4** as a white powder. **Yield** 905 mg (52%); **FTIR** 3035.68, 2989.08, 2973.70, 1718.41, 1641.31; <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  9.32 (s, 1H), 8.73 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.08 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 7.26 (s, 1H), 4.62 (s, 3H), 3.11 (s, 3H), 1.64 (s, 9H); <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  160.00, 159.64, 147.12, 144.84, 130.40, 130.23, 85.53, 48.72, 28.22, 22.96; **HRMS** (ESI) *m/z* calc'd for C<sub>12</sub>H<sub>18</sub>NO<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup> [M]<sup>+</sup> 208.1332, found 208.1329.



#### 5-(*tert*-butoxycarbonyl)-1,2-dimethylpypiridin-1-ium triflate (2.S.5)

To a stirred solution of **2.S.4** (200 mg, 0.596 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (10 mL) in a 50 mL round-bottomed flask was added solution of NaOTf

(102 mg, 0.596 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) in H<sub>2</sub>O (10 mL). The biphasic solution was stirred vigorously

for 1 hour at 23 °C. The CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> layer was separated and dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>. Solids were filtered off and CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> layer was concentrated to afford **2.S.5** as a dark purple solid. **Yield** 171 mg (80%); **FTIR** 2982.45, 2251.38, 1724.75, 1640.84; <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  9.18 (s, 1H), 8.72 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 7.99 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 4.48 (s, 3H), 2.99 (s, 3H), 1.62 (s, 9H); <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  160.06, 159.46, 147.08, 144.55, 129.95, 129.93, 123.64, 121.52, 120.46 (q, J = 320.6 Hz), 119.40, 117.27, 85.14, 47.60, 27.98, 21.69; <sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (235 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -78.53; **HRMS** (ESI) m/z calc'd for C<sub>12</sub>H<sub>18</sub>NO<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup> [M]<sup>+</sup> 208.1332, found 208.1337.

# O<br/>U<br/>O<br/>t-Bu5-(tert-butoxycarbonyl)-1,2-dimethylpypiridin-1-ium hexafluoro-<br/>phosphate (2.S.6)

Me  $PF_6$  To a stirred solution of 2.S.4 (200 mg, 0.596 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (10 mL). in a 50 mL round-bottomed flask was added a solution of KPF<sub>6</sub> (109 mg, 0.596 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) in H<sub>2</sub>O (10 mL). The biphasic solution was stirred vigorously for 1 hour at 23 °C. The CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> layer was separated and dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>. Solids were filtered off and CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> layer was concentrated to afford **2.S.6** as an off green solid. **Yield** 188 mg (90%); **FTIR** 3100.51, 2976.93, 1718.41, 1641.31; <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 9.02 (s, 1H), 8.70 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 7.92 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 4.33 (s, 3H), 2.89 (s, 3H), 1.61 (s, 9H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CD<sub>3</sub>OD) δ 161.95, 160.99, 148.55, 145.62, 131.04, 130.59, 85.48, 46.77, 28.12, 20.70; <sup>19</sup>F NMR (235 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -73.37 (d, *J* = 711.9 Hz); <sup>31</sup>P NMR (101 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -144.38 (hept, *J* = 711.5 Hz); **HRMS** (ESI) *m*/*z* calc'd for C<sub>12</sub>H<sub>18</sub>NO<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup> [M]<sup>+</sup> 208.1332, found 208.1330.



## 5-(*tert*-butoxycarbonyl)-1,2-dimethylpypiridin-1-ium tetrafluoro-Bu borate (2.S.7)

 $\dot{M}e~BF_4$  To a stirred solution of **2.S.4** (200 mg, 0.596 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (10 mL) in a 50 mL round-bottomed flask was added a solution of KBF<sub>4</sub> (75.1 mg, 0.596

mmol, 1.0 equiv.) in H<sub>2</sub>O (10 mL). The biphasic solution was stirred vigorously for 1 hour at 23 °C. The CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> layer was separated and dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>. Solids were filtered off and CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> layer was concentrated to afford **2.S.7** as a light green solid. **Yield** 87.9 mg (50%); **FTIR** 3041.48, 3105.54, 2982.77, 1719.96, 1642.98, 1565.21; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  9.21 (s, 1H), 8.72 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.01 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 4.51 (s, 3H), 3.02 (s, 3H), 1.63 (s, 9H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  160.09, 159.57, 147.11, 144.61, 130.04, 129.84, 85.20, 47.25, 28.01, 21.38; <sup>19</sup>F NMR (235 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -153.00; **HRMS** (ESI) *m*/*z* calc'd for C<sub>12</sub>H<sub>18</sub>NO<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup> [M]<sup>+</sup> 208.1332, found 208.1344.



To a 4 dram vial charged with stir bar and methyl 6-methyl-nicotinate (756 mg, 5.00 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) was added ethyl bromide (0.45 mL, 6.0 mmol,

5-(methoxycarbonyl)-1-ethyl-2-methylpypiridin-1-ium bromide (2.S.8)

1.2 equiv.). The vial was fitted with a Teflon-lined cap and heated at 80 °C for 12 hours. The reaction was worked up following GIP to afford **2.S.8** as a light brown solid. **Yield** 360.3 mg (28%); **FTIR** 3438.4, 301.92, 3003.28, 1729.83; <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  9.58 (s, 1H), 8.80 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 8.15 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 5.06 (q, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 2H), 4.04 (s, 3H), 3.15 (s, 3H), 1.69 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  161.80, 159.15, 146.06, 144.60, 131.33, 128.45, 54.95, 53.74, 21.47, 15.62; **HRMS** (ESI) *m*/*z* calc'd C<sub>9</sub>H<sub>12</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M]<sup>+</sup> 180.1019, found 180.1024.



δ 161.77, 160.51, 146.73, 144.91, 131.05, 130.92, 129.91, 129.88, 128.51, 128.33, 62.96, 53.89, 22.46.

## 2-ethyl-5-(methoxycarbonyl)-1-methylpyridin-1-ium triflate (2.S.10) Ο ОМе To a 25 mL Schlenk tube charged with stir bar and solution of methyl 6-Me Me OTf ethylpyridine-3-carboxylate (200 mg, 1.21 mmol, 1.00 equiv) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (3.1 mL), MeOTf (238 mg, 1.45 mmol, 1.20 equiv) was added dropwise under N<sub>2</sub> at 4 $^{\circ}$ C, and the reaction was gradually warmed to ambient temperature after addition of methyl triflate. After 12 hours, the reaction mixture was added dropwise to 400 mL of stirring 1:1 Et<sub>2</sub>O/Hex. After an hour of additional stirring, the precipitate was collected and washed with 5 mL of cold ether to afford **2.S.10**. Yield: 380 mg (95%). FTIR: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) $\delta$ 9.29 (s, 1H), 8.83 (d, J = 8.2Hz, 1H), 7.98 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 4.43 (s, 3H), 4.03 (s, 3H), 3.22 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.49 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 163.94, 161.85, 147.93, 144.75, 127.98, 127.18, 123.63, 121.51, 119.39, 117.27, 77.28, 77.07, 76.85, 53.65, 53.49, 46.57, 26.61, 10.88; <sup>19</sup>F NMR $(235 \text{ MHz}, \text{CDCl}_3) \delta$ -78.61 (s); **HRMS** (ESI) m/z calc'd for C<sub>10</sub>H<sub>14</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M]<sup>+</sup>: 180.1019, found 180.1024.

#### 2.8.4. Dearomative Synthesis of Dihydropyridines:

#### Preparation of the Rh catalyst stock solution:

In a nitrogen filled glove box  $Rh(COD)_2BF_4$  (64 mg, 0.16 mmol, 1.0 equiv) and (R)-BINAP (99 mg, 0.16 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was weighed into a 4-dram vial and dissolved in dioxane (16 mL). This solution was used in the dearomatization reactions below. To prepare the racemic dearomatization products racemic BINAP was used to prepare the catalyst.

#### General procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts:

The specified pyridinium salt (0.20 mmol, 1.0 equiv), aryl boronic acid (0.50 mmol, 2.5 equiv), and Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (53 mg, 0.50 mmol, 2.5 equiv), were measured into a 1 dram scintillation vial on the benchtop. The vial was then transferred into the glovebox where 1.0 mL of the solution of the catalyst was added into the vial. The vial was sealed with a Teflon lined septa cap and brought outside the glovebox. Degassed water (250  $\mu$ L) was added to the reaction mixture via syringe and the reaction mixture was heated at 80 °C for 2 hours. The vial was then removed from the heating block and diluted with 2 mL of EtOAc. The reaction mixture was dried with 1.0 g of MgSO<sub>4</sub> and filtered through basic Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>. Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> was washed with additional EtOAc (2 x 4 mL) and the combined filtrate was concentrated to give brown residue. The residue was purified by flash column chromatography on a Teledyne Isco Combiflash<sup>®</sup> R<sub>f</sub> system with Redi*Sep* Gold<sup>TM</sup> columns (24-gram silica gel column) using a hexanes:EtOAc gradient (0 to 100% EtOAc) to give **8-10** as a light yellow oil unless otherwise noted.

## Methyl (6S)-1,6-dimethyl-6-phenyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate (2.8.a)

Dihydropyridine **2.8.a** was synthesized from pyridinium **2.7** and phenylboronic acid according to the general procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. **Yield:** 40 mg (82%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 94%ee (254 nm, 25°C); *t<sub>minor</sub>* = 14.7 min, *t<sub>major</sub>* = 16.3 min [(Chiralpak ID) hexane/i-PrOH, 90:10, 1.0 mL/min]; **TLC** R<sub>*f*</sub> 0.56 (Hex:EtOAc 1:1); **FTIR:** 3055, 3025, 2976, 2947, 1677, 1634, 1588;  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : -0.3728 (c 0.046 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.47 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.36 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 7.32 (s, 1H), 7.29 – 7.25 (m, 1H), 6.31 (d, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 4.77 (d, *J* = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 3.70 (s, 3H), 2.72 (s, 3H), 1.75 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.12, 147.67,

145.61, 128.51, 127.57, 126.52, 120.00, 118.03, 94.61, 63.22, 50.76, 38.40, 24.81; HRMS (ESI) m/z calc'd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>18</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 244.1332, found 244.1347.

#### Methyl (6S)-1,6-dimethyl-6-[4-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl]-1,6-ОМе dihvdro-pyridine-3-carboxylate (2.8.b)



Dihydropyridine 2.8.b was synthesized from pyridinium 2.7 and 4-(trifluoromethyl)phenylboronic acid according to the general procedure

for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. Yield: 39 mg (63%); The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC analysis to be 91% ee (254 nm, 25 °C);  $t_{minor} = 13.1 \text{ min}, t_{major} = 13.8 \text{ min}$ [(Chiralpak IG) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 90:10, 1.0 mL/min]; **TLC** R<sub>f</sub> 0.57 (Hex:EtOAc 1:1); **FTIR:** 2978, 2948, 1681, 1637, 1569; [**α**]<sup>20</sup><sub>**p**</sub>: 0.2700 (c 0.020 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.63 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.59 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.34 (s, 1H), 6.32 (d, J = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 4.75 (d, J = 10.0 Hz, 1H), 3.70 (s, 3H), 2.73 (s, 3H), 1.78 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 166.94, 149.39, 147.61, 129.68 (q, J = 32.5 Hz), 126.78, 125.55 (q, J = 3.6 Hz), 124.01 (q, J = 272.2 Hz), 119.40, 118.73, 95.15, 63.19, 50.85, 38.44, 24.97; <sup>19</sup>F NMR (235 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -62.55; HRMS: (ESI) m/z calc'd for C<sub>19</sub>H<sub>17</sub>F<sub>3</sub>NO [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 312.1206, found 312.1196.



MeO

## Methyl (6S)-6-(4-methoxycarbonylphenyl) -1,6-dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate (2.8.c)

Dihydropyridine 2.8.c was synthesized from pyridinium 2.7 and 4methoxycarbonylphenylboronic acid according to the general procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. Yield: 46 mg (76%); The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC analysis to be 81% ee (254 nm, 25 °C);  $t_{minor} = 26.8 \text{ min}, t_{maior} =$ 23.4 min [(Chiralpak IG) hexane/i-PrOH, 80:20, 1.0 mL/min]; TLC R<sub>f</sub> 0.44 (Hex:EtOAc 1:1); **FTIR:** 2949, 1720, 1678, 1636, 1567;  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : 0.2288 (c 0.090 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz,

CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.02 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 7.53 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.33 (s, 1H), 6.30 (d, J = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 4.74 (d, J = 10.0 Hz, 1H), 3.90 (s, 3H), 3.69 (s, 3H), 2.71 (s, 3H), 1.77 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.03, 166.80, 150.36, 147.71, 129.91, 129.29, 126.50, 119.49, 118.61, 95.04, 63.36, 52.35, 50.87, 38.49, 25.00; **HRMS:** (ESI) m/z calc'd for C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>20</sub>NO<sub>4</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 302.1387, found 302.1381.



## Methyl (6S)-6-(4-methoxyphenyl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate (2.8.d)

Me Dihydropyridine **2.8.d** was synthesized from pyridinium **2.7** and 4methoxyphenylboronic acid according to the general procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. **Yield:** 52 mg (95%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 91%ee (254 nm, 25°C);  $t_{minor} = 13.3$  min,  $t_{major} = 14.3$ min [(Chiralpak IG) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 80:20, 1.0 mL/min]; **TLC** R<sub>f</sub> 0.50 (Hex:EtOAc 1:1); **FTIR:** 3050, 2946, 2836, 1676, 1635, 1568;  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : -1.2092 (c 0.086 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.45 – 7.35 (m, 2H), 7.30 (s, 1H), 6.91 – 6.83 (m, 2H), 6.30 (d, *J* = 10.0 Hz, 1H), 4.75 (d, *J* = 10.0 Hz, 1H), 3.80 (s, 3H), 3.69 (s, 3H), 2.70 (s, 3H), 1.71 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.18, 158.83, 147.56, 138.02, 127.91, 120.10, 117.90, 113.63, 94.45, 62.69, 55.36, 50.77, 38.30, 24.92; **HRMS:** (ESI) *m/z* calc'd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>20</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 274.1438, found 274.1437.



## Methyl (6*S*)-6-(4-methoxyphenyl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate (2.8.e)

Dihydropyridine **2.8.e** was synthesized from pyridinium **2.7** and 4-fluorophenylboronic acid according to the general procedure for

dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. **Yield:** 52 mg (99%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 94%ee (254 nm, 25 °C);  $t_{minor} = 9.8$  min,  $t_{major} = 10.5$  min

[(Chiralpak IG) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 80:20, 1.0 mL/min]; **TLC** R<sub>f</sub> 0.37 (Hex:EtOAc 4:1); **FTIR:** 3052, 2977, 2947, 1677, 1636, 1569;  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : -0.6176 (c 0.057 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.47 – 7.40 (m, 2H), 7.31 (s, 1H), 7.04 (t, J = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 6.31 (d, J = 9.7 Hz, 1H), 4.75 (d, J = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 3.70 (s, 3H), 2.71 (s, 3H), 1.73 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.07, 162.83, 161.19, 147.50, 141.62 (d, J = 3.1 Hz), 128.37 (d, J = 8.1 Hz). 119.83, 118.22, 115.34, 115.20, 94.73, 62.74, 50.82, 38.29, 24.99. <sup>19</sup>F NMR (235 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -114.95; HRMS: (ESI) m/z calc'd for C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>17</sub>FNO [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 262.1238, found 262.1237.

## Methyl (6*S*)-6-(4-chlorophenyl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-Me carboxylate (2.8.f)

Dihydropyridine **2.8.f** was synthesized from pyridinium **2.7** and 4chlorophenylboronic acid according to the general procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. **Yield:** 50 mg (90%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 91%ee (254 nm, 25 °C); *t<sub>minor</sub>* = 18.3 min, *t<sub>major</sub>* = 18.9 min [(Chiralpak IG) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 90:10, 1.0 mL/min]; **TLC** R<sub>*f*</sub> 0.77 (Hex:EtOAc 1:1); **FTIR:** 3051, 2975, 2946, 1677, 1636, 1567;  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : -0.4905 (c 0.057 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ 7.42 – 7.39 (7.40 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 2H), 7.33 (s, 1H), 7.31 (d, *J* = 6.6 Hz, 2H), 6.30 (d, *J* = 10.0 Hz, 1H), 4.73 (d, *J* = 10.0 Hz, 1H), 3.69 (s, 3H), 2.71 (s, 3H), 1.72 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.03, 147.57, 144.23, 133.50, 128.66, 128.01, 119.64, 118.43, 94.88, 62.89, 50.85, 38.37, 24.91; **HRMS:** (ESI) *m/z* calc'd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>17</sub>CINO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 278.0942, found 278.0951.

## Methyl (6S)-6-(4-bromophenyl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-<sup>Me</sup> carboxylate (2.8.g)



Dihydropyridine **2.8.g** was synthesized from pyridinium **2.7** and 4bromophenylboronic acid according to the general procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. **Yield** 51.4 mg (80%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 95%ee (254 nm, 25 °C);  $t_{minor} = 17.7$  min,  $t_{major} = 16.2$  min [(Chiralpak IE) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 80:20, 1.0 mL/min]; **TLC** R<sub>f</sub> 0.48 (hexanes:EtOAc, 3:2);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$  -3.16 (*c* 0.095 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); **FTIR** 1949.06, 1736.57, 1678.07, 1636.69; <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ 7.48 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.34 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 7.30 (s, 1H), 6.30 (d, *J* = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 4.73 (d, *J* = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 3.69 (s, 3H), 2.71 (s, 3H), 1.72 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.07, 147.57, 144.82, 131.70, 128.42, 121.83, 119.65, 118.59, 95.14, 63.05, 50.87, 38.39, 24.89; **HRMS** (ESI) *m*/*z* calc'd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>17</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 322.0437, found 322.0455.



## Methyl (6S)-6-(4-methylphenyl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-<sup>1e</sup> 3-carboxylate (2.8.h)

Dihydropyridine **2.8.h** was synthesized from pyridinium **2.7** and 4methylphenylboronic acid according to the general procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. **Yield** 45.2 mg (88%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 94%ee (254 nm, 25 °C); *t<sub>minor</sub>* = 9.1 min, *t<sub>major</sub>* = 9.8 min [(Chiralpak IG) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 80:20, 1.0 mL/min]; **TLC** R<sub>f</sub> 0.55 (hexanes:EtOAc, 3:2);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$  -8.06 (*c* 0.783 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); **FTIR** 3050, 2974, 2945, 2922, 1677, 1639, 1567; <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.35 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.32 (s, 1H), 7.17 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 6.29 (d, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 4.75 (d, *J* = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 3.70 (s, 3H), 2.71 (s, 3H), 2.34 (s, 3H), 1.72 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  = 167.17, 147.66, 142.78, 137.34, 129.17, 126.48, 120.10, 117.89, 94.49, 62.97, 50.75, 38.36, 24.86, 21.14; **HRMS** (ESI) *m/z* calc'd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>20</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 258.1489, found 258.1502.



### Methyl (6*S*)-6-(4-hydroxymethylphenyl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate (2.8.i)

Dihydropyridine **2.8.i** was synthesized from pyridinium **2.7** and 4hydroxymethylphenylboronic acid according to the general procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. **Yield:** 38.2 mg (70%); **ee:** We

were not able to achieve acceptable separation for this compound on chiral HPLC. For ee see derivative **S11; TLC** R<sub>f</sub> 0.1 (hexanes:EtOAc, 3:2);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$  -4.24 (*c* 0.726 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); **FTIR** 3414, 3051, 2973, 2946, 2872, 1664; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.45 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 7.36 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.31 (s, 1H), 6.27 (d, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 4.72 (t, *J* = 12.2 Hz, 1H), 4.68 (s, 2H), 3.68 (s, 3H), 2.70 (s, 3H), 1.73 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.22, 147.69, 145.68, 138.03, 129.18, 124.38, 120.16, 117.74, 94.38, 63.15, 50.75, 38.46, 24.92, 21.56; **HRMS** (ESI) *m/z* calc'd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>20</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 274.1438, found 274.1438.



## Methyl (6S)-6-(4-methoxymethylphenyl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate (2.S.11)

In order to determine the enantiomeric excess of dihydropyridine **2.8.i**, it was converted to the methyl ether **2.S.11** through the following procedure:

**OMe** To a stirred solution of **2.8.i** (12.1 mg, 0.0440 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) in dry DMF (1.0 mL) in a Schlenk flask at 0 °C was added sodium hydride (60% dispersion in mineral oil) (2.25 mg, 0.0530 mmol, 1.2 equiv.) in one addition. The solution was stirred for 30 minutes. Methyl Iodide (4.65  $\mu$ l, 0.066 mmol, 1.5 equiv.) was added via syringe. The solution was warmed to 23 °C and stirred for 3 hours. The reaction was quenched with NH<sub>4</sub>Cl (1.0 ml) and then diluted with H<sub>2</sub>O (5.0 ml) and extracted three times with diethyl ether (3 x 5.0 ml). The combined ether layers were dried over sodium sulfate. Solids were filtered off and the filtrate was evaporated to give a residue. This residue was purified via flash column chromatography to afford **2.S.11** as a colorless oil. **Yield** 8.6 mg (68%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 86% ee (254 nm, 25 °C);  $t_{minor} = 15.5$  min,  $t_{major} = 16.8$  min [(Chiralpak ID) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 80:20, 1.0 mL/min]; **TLC** R<sub>*f*</sub> 0.45 (hexanes:EtOAc, 3:2);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$  -0.011 (*c* 0.055 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); **FTIR** 3055.94, 2976.93, 2849.30, 2818.91, 1677.98, 1635.91; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.46 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.35 – 7.30 (m, 3H), 6.31 (d, *J* = 9.7 Hz, 1H), 4.76 (d, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 4.45 (s, 2H), 3.70 (s, 3H), 3.41 (s, 3H), 2.71 (s, 3H), 1.74 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.07, 147.56, 145.11, 137.56, 127.86, 126.64, 119.95, 118.11, 94.79, 74.32, 63.10, 58.38, 50.70, 38.33, 24.81; **HRMS** (ESI) *m/z* calc'd for C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>22</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 288.1594, found 288.1610.

Methyl (6S)-6-(4-biphenyl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-



#### carboxylate (2.8.j)

Dihydropyridine **2.8.j** was synthesized from pyridinium **2.7** and 4biphenylboronic acid according to the general procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. **Yield** 43.4 mg (99%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 93% ee (254 nm, 25 °C);  $t_{minor} = 14.7$  min,  $t_{major} = 15.7$  min [(Chiralpak IG) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 80:20, 1.0 mL/min]; **TLC** R<sub>f</sub> 0.26 (hexanes:EtOAc, 4:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$  -6.64 (*c* 1.456, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); **FTIR** 3041, 3025, 2991, 2966, 2941, 1682; <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.60 (d, J = 7.0 Hz, 3H), 7.55 (d, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 7.45 (t, J = 6.9 Hz, 2H), 7.37 (s, 2H), 6.35 (d, J = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 5.29 (s, 1H), 4.82 (d, J = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 3.72 (s, 3H), 2.77 (s, 3H), 1.79 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>**C** NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.14, 147.73, 144.62, 140.48, 140.40, 128.91, 127.55, 127.24, 127.17, 126.99, 119.95, 118.21, 94.71, 63.11, 50.81, 38.49, 24.99; **HRMS** (ESI) *m/z* calc'd for C<sub>19</sub>H<sub>23</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 320.1645, found 320.1626.



Methyl (6*S*)-6-(4-acetamidophenyl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate (2.8.k)

Dihydropyridine **2.8.k** was synthesized from pyridinium **2.7** and 4-acetamidophenylboronic acid according to the general procedure for

dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. **Yield**: 45 mg (75%); **ee:** We were not able to achieve acceptable separation for this compound on chiral HPLC. For ee see derivative **S12; TLC** R<sub>*f*</sub> 0.12 (Hex:EtOAc 1:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : -0.9158 (c 0.227 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); **FTIR:** 3052, 2976, 2947, 1668, 1633, 1600, 1568, 1530; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.57 (s, 1H), 7.51 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.33 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 6.23 (d, *J* = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 4.69 (d, *J* = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 3.66 (s, 3H), 2.63 (s, 3H), 2.12 (d, *J* = 15.0 Hz, 3H), 1.67 (s, 3H).; <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  169.28, 167.44, 147.87, 141.02, 137.76, 127.11, 120.12, 119.74, 117.76, 94.17, 62.90, 50.87, 38.37, 24.96, 24.5.; **HRMS:** (ESI) *m*/*z* calc'd C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>20</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>Na [M+Na]<sup>+</sup> 323.1366, found 323.1382.



## Methyl (6S)-6-[*p*-(N-acetyl-N-tert-butoxycarbonylamino)phenyl]-<sup>a</sup> 1-methyl-6-methyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate (2.S.12)

To a 500  $\mu$ L Schlenk tube charged with stir bar, dihydropyridine **2.8.k** (20.0 mg, 0.066, 1 equiv), and DMAP (4.00 mg, 0.033 mmol, 0.50

**Boc** equiv), DMF (75 µL) was added. Boc<sub>2</sub>O (22 mg, 0.098 mmol, 1.5 equiv) was then added and the reaction mixture was stirred for 1.5 hours at ambient temperature. The reaction was quenched into H<sub>2</sub>O (5 mL), extracted with EtOAc. EtOAc layer was dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>. Solids were removed through a filtration over a pad of silica then celite, and concentrated. Crude mixture was purified via automated flash chromatography to yield **2.S.12**. Yield: 25 mg (96%). The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 93% ee (254 nm, 25 °C);  $t_{minor} = 22.8 \text{ min}, t_{major} =$ 25.3 min [(Chiralpak ID) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 80:20, 1.0 mL/min]; **TLC** R<sub>f</sub> 0.57 (Hex:EtOAc 1:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : -0.4642 (c 0.063 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); **FTIR**: 3053, 2977, 2947, 1736, 1682, 1637, 1570; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.44 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 7.02 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 6.25 (d, J = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 4.72 (d, J = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 3.64 (s, 3H), 2.65 (s, 3H), 2.53 (s, 3H), 1.69 (s, 3H), 1.31 (s, 9H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  173.14, 167.11, 152.65, 147.53, 144.98, 138.12, 128.17, 127.37, 119.79, 118.23, 94.75, 83.48, 63.02, 50.82, 38.34, 27.82, 26.73, 24.75.; **HRMS**: (ESI) *m/z* calc'd for C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>30</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>Na [M+Na]<sup>+</sup> 401.2071, found 401.2060.

## Methyl (6S)-6-[4-(cyclopent-1-en-1-yl)phenyl]-1,6-dimethyl-1,6dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate (2.8.l)

Dihydropyridine **2.8.1** was synthesized from pyridinium **2.7** and (4-cyclopent-1-en-1-yl)phenylboronic acid according to the general procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. **Yield:** 58 mg

(93%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 95% ee (254 nm, 25 °C);  $t_{minor} = 13.2 \text{ min}, t_{major} = 14.6 \text{ min}$  [(Chiralpak IA) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 95:5, 1.0 mL/min]; **TLC** R<sub>f</sub> 0.79 (Hex:EtOAc 1:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ :-0.780 (c 0.003 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); **FTIR**: 3050, 2949, 2845, 1735, 1679, 1636, 1572; <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.42 (q, J = 8.5 Hz, 3H), 7.32 (s, 1H), 7.26 (s, 1H), 6.31 (d, J = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 6.21 (s, 1H), 4.76 (d, J = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 3.70 (s, 3H), 2.80 – 2.67 (m, 5H), 2.59 – 2.46 (m, 2H), 2.07 – 1.92 (m, 2H), 1.74 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>**C** NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.16, 147.66, 144.02, 141.78, 136.03, 126.90, 126.51, 125.60, 119.94, 118.02, 94.55, 63.05, 50.78, 38.39, 33.43, 33.16, 24.81, 23.36; **HRMS**: (ESI) *m*/*z* calc'd for C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>24</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 310.1802, found 310.1807.
## Methyl (6S)-6-(2-fluorophenyl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-Come carboxylate (2.8.m)

Dihydropyridine **2.8.m** was synthesized from pyridinium **2.7** and 2fluorophenylboronic acid according to the general procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. **Yield:** 24 mg (46%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 94% ee (254 nm, 25 °C);  $t_{minor} = 20.8 \text{ min}$ ,  $t_{major} = 21.9 \text{ min}$  [(Chiralpak ID) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 90:10, 1.0 mL/min]; **TLC** R<sub>f</sub> 0.71 (Hex:EtOAc 1:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : 0.6886 (c 0.070 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); **FTIR:** 3057, 2978, 2946, 1678, 1636, 1567; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.39 – 7.27 (m, 3H), 7.16 (t, J = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.09 (dd, J = 11.7, 8.2 Hz, 1H), 6.35 (d, J = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 4.93 (d, J = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 3.72 (s, 3H), 2.88 (s, 3H), 1.85 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.06, 161.46, 159.80, 147.59, 131.03 (d, J = 10.7 Hz), 129.80 (d, J = 8.7 Hz), 127.81 (d, J = 3.4 Hz), 124.06 (d, J = 3.6 Hz), 119.05, 117.86, 117.08, 116.92, 95.51, 62.09, 50.78, 38.72, 26.34 (d, J = 3.3 Hz); **HRMS:** (ESI) m/z calc'd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>17</sub>NO<sub>2</sub>F [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 262.1239 found: 262.1240.



## Methyl (6S)-6-(2-napthalen-2-yl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6e dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate (2.8.n)

Dihydropyridine **2.8.n** was synthesized from pyridinium **2.7** and 2napthalen-2-ylboronic acid according to the general procedure for

dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. **Yield** 58.0 (99%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 94% ee (254 nm, 25 °C);  $t_{minor} = 14.6 \text{ min}, t_{major} = 12.0 \text{ min}$  [(Chiralpak IG) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 80:20, 1.0 mL/min]; **TLC** R<sub>f</sub> 0.26 (hexanes:EtOAc, 4:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$  - 1.14 (*c* 2.686 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); **FTIR** 3053, 2974, 2945, 1675, 1634; <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.85 (dd, J = 14.6, 7.9 Hz, 3H), 7.78 – 7.73 (m, J = 10.9 Hz, 2H), 7.54 – 7.47 (m, 2H), 7.39 (s, 1H), 6.36 (d, J = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 4.81 (d, J = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 3.73 (s, 3H), 2.72 (s, 3H), 1.87 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C

**NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.16, 147.82, 142.72, 132.77, 132.59, 128.66, 128.44, 127.61, 126.50, 126.44, 125.74, 123.87, 119.82, 118.44, 94.71, 63.46, 50.82, 38.44, 24.86; **HRMS** (ESI) *m/z* Calc'd for C<sub>19</sub>H<sub>20</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 294.1489, found 294.1485.



## Methyl (6*S*)-6-([1,1'-biphenyl]-3-yl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate (2.8.0)

**Ph**-  $\bigwedge$  Dihydropyridine **2.8.0** was synthesized from pyridinium **2.7** and 1,1'biphenylboronic acid according to the general procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. **Yield** 62.5 mg (98%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 96% ee (254 nm, 25 °C); *t<sub>minor</sub>* = 13.9 min, *t<sub>major</sub>* = 10.5 min [(Chiralpak IG) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 80:20, 1.0 mL/min]; **TLC** R<sub>f</sub> 0.29 (hexanes:EtOAc, 4:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$  -5.32 (*c* 1.003 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); **FTIR** 3054, 3029, 2974, 2945, 2246, 1677, 1635; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.68 (s, 1H), 7.59 (d, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 7.52 (d, *J* = 6.4 Hz, 1H), 7.49 – 7.43 (m, 4H), 7.40 – 7.35 (m, 2H), 6.35 (d, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 4.83 (d, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 3.72 (s, 3H), 2.77 (s, 3H), 1.81 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ 167.16, 147.69, 146.27, 141.53, 140.98, 129.00, 128.93, 127.59, 127.34, 126.45, 125.49, 119.99, 118.19, 94.73, 63.38, 53.59, 50.82, 38.52, 24.93; **HRMS** (ESI) *m/z* calc'd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>22</sub>O<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 320.1645, found 320.1642.



## Methyl (6S)-6-(3,5-dimethylphenyl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydrole pyridine-3-carboxylate (2.8.p)

Me Dihydropyridine 2.8.p was synthesized from pyridinium 2.7 and 3,5-Me dimethylboronic acid according to the general procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. Yield 51.5 mg (95%); The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC analysis to be 97% ee (254 nm, 25°C);  $t_{minor} = 7.2$  min,  $t_{major} = 8.6$  min [(Chiralpak IG) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 80:20, 1.0 mL/min]; TLC R<sub>f</sub> 0.35 (hexanes:EtOAc, 4:1); [*α*]<sup>20</sup><sub>D</sub> -6.65 (*c* 0.526 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); **FTIR** 3050, 2980, 2940, 2910, 2850; <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.33 (s, 1H), 7.06 (s, 2H), 6.91 (s, 1H), 6.28 (d, J = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 4.74 (d, J = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 3.71 (s, 3H), 2.72 (s, 3H), 2.32 (s, 6H), 1.71 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.32 147.80, 145.75, 138.11, 129.24, 124.44, 120.23, 117.78, 94.41, 63.22, 50.84, 38.54, 25.00, 21.64; **HRMS** (ESI) *m*/*z* calc'd for C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>22</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 272.1645, found 272.1653. Single crystals suitable for **X-Ray** analysis were obtained by slow evaporation of diethylether from a solution of **8p** in a mixture of diethylether and hexanes. CCDC registry number 1921656.

## Methyl (6S)-6-(furan-2-yl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-<sup>C</sup>OMe carboxylate (2.8.q)

Dihydropyridine **2.8.q** was synthesized from pyridinium **2.7** and furan-2ylboronic acid according to the general procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. **Yield:** 44 mg (94%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 82% ee (254 nm, 25°C); *t<sub>minor</sub>* = 23.0 min, *t<sub>major</sub>* = 23.9 min [(Chiralpak IG) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 90:10, 1.0 mL/min]; **TLC** R<sub>*f*</sub> 0.74 (Hex:EtOAc 1:1); **FTIR:** 2980, 2947, 1677, 1637, 1568;  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : -1.8176 (c 0.057 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.44 (s, 1H), 7.30 (s, 1H), 6.48 (d, *J* = 9.6 Hz, 1H), 6.37 (d, *J* = 1.1 Hz, 1H), 6.28 (d, *J* = 1.1 Hz, 1H), 4.85 (d, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 3.71 (s, 3H), 2.84 (s, 3H), 1.68 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  166.99, 156.91, 147.16, 142.86, 120.53, 116.16, 110.32, 107.63, 95.36, 59.18, 50.80, 38.45, 24.28; **HRMS:** (ESI) *m/z* calc'd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>16</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 234.1125, found 234.1141.

## Methyl (6S)-6-(furan-3-yl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-OMe carboxylate (2.8.r)

 $\downarrow 0$  Me Dihydropyridine **2.8.r** was synthesized from pyridinium **2.7** and furan-3-ylboronic acid according to the general procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts.

**Yield:** 23 mg (49%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 92% ee (254 nm, 25°C);  $t_{minor} = 10.2$  min,  $t_{major} = 11.1$  min [(Chiralpak IG) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 80:20, 1.0 mL/min]; **TLC** R<sub>f</sub> 0.71 (Hex:EtOAc 1:1); **FTIR:** 3051, 2976, 2947, 1676, 1636, 1568;  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : - 0.9525 (c 0.026 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.42 (s, 1H), 7.33 (s, 1H), 7.31 – 7.28 (m, 2H), 6.50 (s, 1H), 6.37 (d, J = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 4.81 (d, J = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 3.72 (s, 3H), 2.85 (s, 3H), 1.66 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.15, 147.62, 143.88, 138.58, 131.00, 119.42, 118.53, 110.09, 95.24, 57.93, 50.86, 38.20, 25.50; **HRMS:** (ESI) *m/z* calc'd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>16</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 234.1125, found 234.1131.



Dihydropyridine **2.8.s** was synthesized from pyridinium **2.7** and thiophen-3ylboronic acid according to the general procedure for dearomatization of *n*-

alkyl pyridinium salts. **Yield** 38.3 mg (77%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 95% ee (254 nm, 25°C);  $t_{minor} = 11.1$  min,  $t_{major} = 12.6$  min [(Chiralpak IG) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 80:20, 1.0 mL/min]; **TLC** R<sub>f</sub> 0.29 (hexanes:EtOAc, 4:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$  -11.21 (*c* 0.616 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); **FTIR** 3100, 3049, 2975, 2945, 1673, 1634; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.38 – 7.32 (m, 2H), 7.27 (s, *J* = 1.5 Hz, 1H), 7.17 (s, 1H), 6.38 (d, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 4.86 (d, *J* = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 3.75 (s, 3H), 2.83 (s, *J* = 14.4 Hz, 3H), 1.79 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.09, 147.49, 147.32, 127.56, 126.39, 120.78, 119.11, 118.73, 94.94, 60.68, 50.77, 38.28, 25.78; **HRMS** (ESI) *m*/*z* calc'd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>16</sub>NO<sub>2</sub>S [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 250.0896, found 250.0896.

# ОМе

## Methyl (6S)-6-(1H-indol-5-yl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3carboxylate (2.8.t)

Dihydropyridine 2.8.t was synthesized from pyridinium 2.7 and 1Hindol-5-ylboronic acid according to the general procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. Yield 32.1 (57%); The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC analysis to be 92% ee (254 nm, 25 °C);  $t_{minor} = 20.7 \text{ min}, t_{major} = 10.0 \text{ min}$ [(Chiralpak IG) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 80:20, 1.0 mL/min]; **TLC**  $R_f 0.32$  (hexanes:EtOAc, 3:2);  $[\alpha]_{D}^{20}$  -0.71 (*c* 20.953 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); FTIR 3390, 3310, 2940, 2480; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, <sub>CD3OD</sub>) δ 7.62 (s, 1H), 7.42 (s, 1H), 7.38 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.33 (s, 1H), 7.24 (s, 1H), 6.45 (s, 1H), 6.22 (d, J = 9.2 Hz, 1H), 4.82 (d, J = 9.1 Hz, 1H), 3.68 (s, 3H), 2.73 (s, 3H), 1.81 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CD<sub>3</sub>OD) δ 168.20, 148.25, 136.34, 135.49, 127.73, 125.01, 120.83, 120.79, 117.39, 116.54, 110.95, 101.53, 93.33, 63.47, 49.87, 37.38, 24.21; HRMS (ESI) m/z calc'd for C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>19</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>

[M+H]<sup>+</sup> 283.1441, found 283.1442.

Single crystals suitable for **X-Ray** analysis were obtained by slow evaporation of diethylether from a solution of 8t in a mixture of diethylether and hexanes. CCDC registry number 1920061.



## Methyl (6S)-6-(cyclohex-1-ene-1-yl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate (2.8.u)

Dihydropyridine 2.8.u was synthesized from pyridinium 2.7 and cyclohex-1-ene-1ylboronic acid according to the general procedure for

dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. Yield 33.1 (67%); The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC analysis to be 95% ee (254 nm, 25 °C);  $t_{minor} = 16.3 \text{ min}, t_{major} = 17.3 \text{ min}$ [(Chiralpak IE) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 90:10, 1.0 mL/min]; **TLC** Rf 0.33 (hexanes:EtOAc, 4:1);  $[\alpha]_{n}^{20}$  -0.005 (c 0.310 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); FTIR 2925.19, 2855.26, 1681.86, 1634.24; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)

δ 7.26 (s, 1H) 6.28 (d, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 5.61 (s, 1H), 4.54 (d, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 3.66 (s, 3H), 2.78 (s, 3H), 2.24 (d, *J* = 16.8 Hz, 1H), 2.07 (s, 2H), 1.89 (d, *J* = 16.8 Hz, 1H), 1.67 – 1.56 (m, 2H), 1.55 (d, *J* = 5.4 Hz, 2H), 1.42 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.10, 148.53, 140.23, 122.50, 120.00, 118.88, 94.28, 64.35, 50.58, 37.51, 25.34, 25.23, 24.17, 23.00, 22.23; HRMS (ESI) *m/z* calc'd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>22</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 248.1645, found 248.1651.

## *Tert*-butyl (6*S*)-6-(phenyl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-<sup>3u</sup> carboxylate (2.S.13)

Dihydropyridine **2.S.13** was synthesized from pyridinium salts **2.S.4**, **2.S.5**, **2.S.6**, **2.S.7** and phenyl boronic acid according to the general

procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. Yields and enantiomeric excess for each case was as follows: from **2.S.4** (67.0 mg, 75% yield, 95% ee), from **2.S.5** (71.4 mg, 80% yield, 93% ee), from **2.S.6** (70.6 mg, 99% yield, 91% ee), and from **2.S.7** (59.0 mg, 75% yield, 90% ee). The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis (254 nm, 25 °C);  $t_{minor} = 5.2 \text{ min}$ ,  $t_{major} = 5.6 \text{ min}$  [(Chiralpak ID) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 80:20, 1.0 mL/min];**TLC** R<sub>f</sub> 0.63 (hexanes:EtOAc, 4:1), [ $\alpha$ ]<sup>20</sup><sub>D</sub> -2.11 (*c* 0.060 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); **FTIR** 2973.91, 2929.11, 1729.93, 1673.98; <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.51 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 7.40 (t, J = 7.7 Hz, 2H), 7.32 – 7.28 (m, 1H), 6.30 (d, J = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 4.78 (d, J = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 2.73 (s, 3H), 1.77 (s, 3H), 1.52 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C **NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  166.48, 147.13, 145.93, 128.52, 127.53, 126.66, 119.83, 118.43, 96.25, 78.62, 63.23, 38.40, 28.65, 24.84; **HRMS** (ESI) calc'd for C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>23</sub>NO<sub>2</sub>Na [M+Na]<sup>+</sup> 308.1621, found 308.1625.

## O Methyl (6S)-1-ethyl-6-methyl-6-phenyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-OMe carboxylate (2.S.14)

Dihydropyridine **2.S.14** was synthesized from pyridinium **2.S.8** and phenylboronic acid according to the general procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. **Yield**: 16 mg (31%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 84% ee (254 nm, 25°C); *t<sub>minor</sub>* = 9.1 min, *t<sub>major</sub>* = 8.2 min [(Chiralpak ID) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 80:20, 1.0 mL/min]; **TLC** R<sub>*f*</sub> 0.28 (Hex:EtOAc 4:1); );  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : -0.675 (*c* 0.027 CHCl<sub>3</sub>) **FTIR**: 2977, 2945, 1678, 1636, 1566; <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  9.06 (s, 1H), 8.13 (dd, *J* = 8.1, 1.9 Hz, 1H), 7.18 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 3.87 (s, 3H), 2.83 (q, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 1.26 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 3H). <sup>13</sup>C **NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.15, 146.44, 145.35, 128.40, 127.57, 126.79, 120.27, 117.82, 94.87, 63.83, 50.77, 44.43, 26.09, 16.32. **HRMS**: (ESI) *m/z* calc'd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>20</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 258.1489, found 258.1503.

## Methyl (6S)-1-benzyl-6-methyl-6-phenyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-<sup>COMe</sup> carboxylate (2.S.15)

Dihydropyridine **2.S.15** was synthesized from pyridinium **2.S.9** and phenylboronic acid according to the general procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. **Yield:** 36 mg (56%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 66% ee (254 nm, 25°C);  $t_{minor} = 8.8$  min,  $t_{major} = 8.1$  min [(Chiralpak ID) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 80:20, 1.0 mL/min]; **R**<sub>f</sub>: 0.30 (Hex:EtOAc 4:1); **FTIR:** 3059, 2979, 2946, 1679, 1637, 1566; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.57 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 7.41 (t, J = 7.5 Hz, 3H), 7.33 (t, J = 7.6 Hz, 3H), 7.30 – 7.26 (m, 1H), 7.13 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 6.41 (d, J = 10.0 Hz, 1H), 4.91 (d, J = 10.0 Hz, 1H), 4.12 (s, 2H), 3.71 (s, 3H), 1.73 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.06, 146.30, 146.02, 137.60,

128.80, 128.51, 127.80, 127.72, 127.46, 126.94, 121.01, 118.08, 95.96, 63.87, 53.72, 50.83, 26.28; **HRMS:** (ESI) *m/z* calc'd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>22</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 320.1645, found 320.1647.

## O Methyl (6S)-6-ethyl-1-methyl-6-phenyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-OMe carboxylate (2.S.16)

Dihydropyridine **2.S.16** was synthesized from pyridinium **2.S.10** and phenylboronic acid according to the general procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. **Yield:** 34 mg (67%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 97% ee (254 nm, 25°C);  $t_{minor} = 8.4$  min,  $t_{major} = 8.8$  min [(Chiralpak IG) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 80:20, 1.0 mL/min]; **TLC** R<sub>*f*</sub> 0.26 (Hex:EtOAc 4:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : -0.3225 (c 0.053 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); **FTIR:** 3054, 2968, 2943, 1677, 1635, 1568; <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.51 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.44 (s, 1H), 7.39 (t, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 2H), 7.29 (dd, *J* = 8.5, 6.1 Hz, 1H), 6.43 (d, *J* = 10.0 Hz, 1H), 4.61 (d, *J* = 10.1 Hz, 1H), 3.73 (s, 3H), 2.70 (s, 3H), 2.33 (dq, *J* = 14.4, 7.2 Hz, 1H), 1.74 (dq, *J* = 14.6, 7.4 Hz, 1H), 1.16 (t, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.21, 148.85, 146.04, 128.51, 127.57, 126.67, 119.69, 118.31, 94.15, 67.21, 50.74, 37.96, 29.08, 8.38; **HRMS:** (ESI) *m/z* calc'd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>20</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 258.1489, found 258.1492.

Compounds **2.10.a** and **2.10.b** were synthesized by reacting pyridinium salt **2.9** with 4methoxyphenylboronic acid according to the general procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts.



## Methyl (6*S*)-6-phenyl-6-(4-methoxyphenyl)-1-methyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate (2.10.a)

**Yield** 16.8 mg (25 %); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 72% ee (254 nm, 25 °C);  $t_{minor} = 14.2 \text{ min}, t_{major} =$ 

11.9 min [(Chiralpak IG) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 80:20, 1.0 mL/min]; **TLC** R<sub>f</sub> 0.23 (hexanes:EtOAc, 4:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$  -12.667 (c 0.060 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); **FTIR** 2946.96, 2835.69, 1679.37, 1607.34; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.42 (s, 1H), 7.38 (t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.34 – 7.27 (m, 5H), 6.90 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 6.40 (d, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 5.08 (d, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 3.83 (s, 3H), 3.69 (s, 3H), 2.71 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.17, 158.80, 147.00, 143.06, 135.08, 130.02, 128.53, 127.86, 127.34, 119.82, 117.98, 113.58, 95.54, 70.58, 55.46, 50.92, 40.68 <sup>+</sup> HRMS (ESI) calc'd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>22</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 336.1594, found 336.1599.



## Methyl (6*S*)-6-phenyl-1-(4-methoxyphenyl)-1-methyl-1,2-dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate (2.10.b)

 $\dot{M}$ e **Yield** 27.5 mg (41 %); The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC analysis to be 84% ee (254 nm, 25 °C); *t<sub>minor</sub>* = 10.6 min, *t<sub>major</sub>* = 8.8 min [(Chiralpak IG) hexane/*i*-PrOH, 80:20, 1.0 mL/min]; **TLC** R<sub>*f*</sub> 0.41 (hexanes:EtOAc, 4:1); [*α*]<sup>20</sup><sub>D</sub> 16.000 (c 0.060 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); **FTIR** 2946.88, 1732.67, 1684.96, 1607.07,; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.45 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 7.37 − 7.32 (m, *J* = 3.7 Hz, 3H), 7.30 − 7.24 (m, 3H), 6.85 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 5.46 (s, 1H), 5.01 (d, *J* = 6.4 Hz, 1H), 3.78 (s, 3H), 3.68 (s, 3H), 2.93 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.20, 159.27, 153.15, 136.80, 135.10, 134.53, 129.19, 128.54, 128.20, 127.86, 113.82, 109.87, 97.75, 62.49, 55.34, 51.43, 40.80; **HRMS** (ESI) calc'd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>22</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 336.1594, found 336.1616.

#### 2.8.5. Derivatizations of 2.8.a:

0

## Methyl (6S)-1,6-dimethyl-6-phenyl-1,4,5,6-tetrahydropyridine-3-OMe carboxylate (2.11)

To a septa-capped vial charged with **2.8.a** (24.5 mg, 0.100 mmol, 1.0 equiv) and 10% Pd/C (10.6 mg, 0.01 mmol, 0.1 equiv) was added MeOH (1 mL).

A balloon filled with hydrogen was inserted through the septum via a needle. The reaction was stirred for 3 hours at 23 °C and filtered through celite. The celite was rinsed with a further 5 mL of MeOH and the filtrate concentrated to afford **2.11** as a colorless oil. **Yield** 24.4 mg (99%); **TLC**  $R_f 0.4$  (CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>); **FTIR** 2943.78, 2849.73, 1676.47, 1606.26;  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$  -2.400 (c 0.075 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H **NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.53 (s, 1H), 7.33 (t, J = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 7.27 – 7.20 (m, J = 21.0, 7.9 Hz, 3H), 3.67 (s, 3H), 2.81 (s, 3H), 2.30 – 2.23 (m, 1H), 2.00 – 1.92 (m, 2H), 1.85 – 1.76 (m, 1H), 1.61 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C **NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  169.14, 148.00, 144.31, 128.66, 127.05, 125.64, 94.69, 59.87, 50.76, 38.59, 38.18, 23.77, 18.34; **HRMS** (ESI) m/z calc'd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>20</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 246.1489, found 246.1494.

#### Methyl (6S)-1,6-dimethyl-6-phenylpiperidine-3-carboxylate (2.12)



To a Teflon lined septa-capped vial charged with **2.11** (24.4 mg, 0.100 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was added 0.5 mL of glacial acetic acid. A solution of NaBH<sub>3</sub>CN (7.54 mg, 0.12 mmol, 1.2 equiv) in MeOH (1.0 mL) was then

added to the stirring solution of **2.11**. The mixture was stirred for three hours, diluted with diethyl ether and acidified with 3 mL of 1M HCl. The ether layer was removed and washed with 3 times with 2 mL of 1M HCl. The combined aqueous layer was neutralized with saturated NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, extracted with EtOAc (3 x 5 mL). The combined organic layers were concentrated to afford a colorless oil residue. The residue was purified by flash chromatography to afford **2.12** as an inseparable 1.3:1 mixture of C3 diastereomers. Isomers were characterized as a pair of diastereomers, NMR shifts are reported using HSQC to determine which peaks belong to the major and minor products. Indeterminable peaks are reported as the mixture. Yield 16.1 mg (65%) **TLC**  $R_f 0.55$  (hexanes:EtOAc, 4:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$  9.778 (c 0.030 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); **FTIR:** 2947.78, 2844.76, 2798.44, 1732.10, 1600.06; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) (for major diastereomer)  $\delta$  7.59 – 7.53 (m, 2H),

3.01 – 2.97 (m, J = 11.4 Hz, 1H), 1.96 (s, 3H), 1.37 (s, 3H); (for minor diastereomer) 7.51 (d, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 3.12 – 3.08 (m, J = 12.6 Hz, 1H), 2.15 (s, 3H), 1.31 (s, 3H); (for the mixture of diastereomers) 7.35 – 7.28 (m, 2H), 7.21 (dd, J = 15.6, 7.0 Hz, 1H), 3.70 (s, 3H) 2.83 – 2.62 (m, 2H), 2.03 – 1.88 (m, 2H), 1.79 – 1.49 (m, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  (for major diastereomer) 126.21, 51.51, 39.28, 11.21; (for minot diastereomer) 126.33, 51.43, 38.53, 22.75; (for the mixture of diastereomers) 175.15, 174.99, 149.48, 149.02, 128.22, 126.44, 59.39, 59.24, 51.57, 42.67, 24.17, 41.99; **HRMS** (ESI) *m*/*z* calc'd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>22</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 248.1645, found 248.1651.

## Methyl (6S)-1,6-dimethyl-6-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine-3-<sup>OMe</sup> carboxylate (2.13)

To a 4 mL Schlenk tube charged with stir bar and solution of **2.8a** (46.0 mg, 0.20 mmol, 1.00 equiv) in AcOH (500 µL), NaBH<sub>3</sub>CN (15 mg, 0.24 mmol, 1.2 equiv) in MeOH (1 mL) was added under N<sub>2</sub>. The reaction was stirred for four hours, diluted to 4 mL with EtOAc, quenched with 10% HCl (250 µL), and neutralized with NaHCO<sub>3</sub>. The organics were filtered through basic alumina and then celite, dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The crude mixture was purified via automated flash chromatography to yield a 1:1 mixture of diasteriomers. **Yield: 42** mg (85%) <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  (for 1:1 mixture of diastereomers) 7.50 – 7.42 (m, 5H), 7.32 (ddd, *J* = 10.8, 9.5, 5.4 Hz, 5H), 5.86 (dd, *J* = 9.9, 4.1 Hz, 1H), 5.82 (dd, *J* = 9.9, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 5.65 (dd, *J* = 9.9, 1.7 Hz, 1H), 5.59 (dd, *J* = 10.0, 2.6 Hz, 1H), 3.75 (s, 3H), 3.73 (s, 3H), 3.54 – 3.49 (m, 1H), 3.25 (d, *J* = 4.1 Hz, 1H), 3.01 – 2.85 (m, 4H), 2.09 (s, 6H), 1.47 (s, 3H), 1.45 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C **NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) (for 1:1 mixture of diastereomers)  $\delta$  173.34, 138.01, 137.40, 128.31, 128.04, 127.90, 127.66, 127.21, 126.85, 126.41,

120.05, 119.85, 60.36, 57.41, 52.13, 51.75, 49.91, 48.74, 48.67, 42.08, 41.27, 38.34, 38.27, 16.27; **HRMS** (ESI) *m/z* calc'd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>20</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 246.1489, found 246.1500.

## 0 (6S)-1,6-dimethyl-6-phenyl-1,2,5,6-tetrahydropyridine-3-carbaldehyde H (2.14)

To a stirred solution of LiAlH<sub>4</sub> (37.9 mg, 1.00 mmol, 10.0 equiv) in dry Et<sub>2</sub>O (1.0 mL), in a 1-dram vial fitted with a Teflon lined septa cap, was added a solution of **2.8a** in dry Et<sub>2</sub>O at 23 °C. After 30 minutes of vigorous stirring, the reaction was diluted with 2 mL of Et<sub>2</sub>O and cooled to 0 °C. To this solution was sequentially added H<sub>2</sub>O (40 µl), 15% NaOH (aq.) (40 µl), and further H<sub>2</sub>O (120 µl). The reaction was warmed to 23 °C, stirred for 15 minutes, dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and concentrated. The pale-yellow oil was purified by flash column chromatography to afford **2.14** as a clear oil. **Yield** 6.2 mg (28%); **TLC** R<sub>*f*</sub> 0.19 (hexanes:EtOAc, 4:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$  17.333 (*c* 0.03, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); **FTIR** 2975.22, 2929.10, 2850.7, 2787.1, 2116.61, 1678.05; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  9.48 (s, 1H), 7.47 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.35 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 7.31 – 7.22 (m, 2H), 6.95 (s, 1H), 3.47 (d, *J* = 17.9 Hz, 1H), 3.28 (d, *J* = 17.8 Hz, 1H), 2.88 (dd, *J* = 19.6, 2.3 Hz, 1H), 2.44 (d, *J* = 19.6 Hz, 1H), 2.06 (s, 3H), 1.34 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  192.73, 148.17, 145.99, 138.89, 128.47, 127.05, 126.48, 58.31, 47.89, 38.38, 17.95, 1.17; **HRMS** (ESI) *m*/z calc'd for C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>18</sub>NO [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 215.1383, found 216.1379.

#### 2.9. References:

- (1) Vitaku, E.; Smith, D. T.; Njardarson, J. T. Analysis of the Structural Diversity, Substitution Patterns, and Frequency of Nitrogen Heterocycles among U.S. FDA Approved Pharmaceuticals: Miniperspective. *J. Med. Chem.* **2014**, *57* (24), 10257–10274. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm501100b.
- (2) Seigler, D. S. Introduction to Alkaloids. In *Plant Secondary Metabolism*; Springer US: Boston, MA, 1998; pp 506–513. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-4913-0\_27.
- (3) Wang, C. J.; Wuonola, M. A. Recent Progress in the Synthesis and Reactions of Substituted Piperidines. A Review. *Org. Prep. Proced. Int.* **1992**, *24* (5), 583–621. https://doi.org/10.1080/00304949209356729.
- (4) Weintraub, P. M.; Sabol, J. S.; Kane, J. M.; Borcherding, D. R. Recent Advances in the Synthesis of Piperidones and Piperidines. *Tetrahedron* **2003**, *59* (17), 2953–2989. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4020(03)00295-3.
- (5) Yuan, Q.; Sigman, M. S. Palladium-Catalyzed Enantioselective Relay Heck Arylation of Enelactams: Accessing α,β-Unsaturated δ-Lactams. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2018, 140 (21), 6527–6530. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.8b02752.
- (6) Cai, L.; Zhang, K.; Chen, S.; Lepage, R. J.; Houk, K. N.; Krenske, E. H.; Kwon, O. Catalytic Asymmetric Staudinger–Aza-Wittig Reaction for the Synthesis of Heterocyclic Amines. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2019, *141* (24), 9537–9542. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.9b04803.
- (7) Quasdorf, K. W.; Overman, L. E. Catalytic Enantioselective Synthesis of Quaternary Carbon Stereocentres. *Nature* 2014, *516* (7530), 181–191. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14007.
- (8) Zhuo, C.-X.; Zhang, W.; You, S.-L. Catalytic Asymmetric Dearomatization Reactions. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2012**, *51* (51), 12662–12686. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201204822.
- (9) Zheng, C.; You, S.-L. Catalytic Asymmetric Dearomatization by Transition-Metal Catalysis: A Method for Transformations of Aromatic Compounds. *Chem* 2016, *1* (6), 830– 857. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chempr.2016.11.005.
- (10) Wertjes, W. C.; Southgate, E. H.; Sarlah, D. Recent Advances in Chemical Dearomatization of Nonactivated Arenes. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2018**, 47 (21), 7996–8017. https://doi.org/10.1039/C8CS00389K.
- (11) Southgate, E. H.; Pospech, J.; Fu, J.; Holycross, D. R.; Sarlah, D. Dearomative Dihydroxylation with Arenophiles. *Nature Chem* **2016**, *8* (10), 922–928. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchem.2594.

- (12) Wertjes, W. C.; Okumura, M.; Sarlah, D. Palladium-Catalyzed Dearomative Syn -1,4-Diamination. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2019, 141 (1), 163–167. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.8b13030.
- (13) Lavilla, R. Recent Developments in the Chemistry of Dihydropyridines. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2002, No. 9, 1141–1156. https://doi.org/10.1039/b101371h.
- (14) Ahamed, M.; Todd, Matthew. H. Catalytic Asymmetric Additions of Carbon-Centered Nucleophiles to Nitrogen-Containing Aromatic Heterocycles. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2010, 2010 (31), 5935–5942. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejoc.201000877.
- (15) Bull, J. A.; Mousseau, J. J.; Pelletier, G.; Charette, A. B. Synthesis of Pyridine and Dihydropyridine Derivatives by Regio- and Stereoselective Addition to *N* -Activated Pyridines. *Chem. Rev.* **2012**, *112* (5), 2642–2713. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr200251d.
- (16) Comins, D. L.; Higuchi, K.; Young, D. W. Dihydropyridine Preparation and Application in the Synthesis of Pyridine Derivatives. In *Advances in Heterocyclic Chemistry*; Elsevier, 2013; Vol. 110, pp 175–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-408100-0.00006-9.
- (17) Ding, Q.; Zhou, X.; Fan, R. Recent Advances in Dearomatization of Heteroaromatic Compounds. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2014, 12 (27), 4807–4815. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4OB00371C.
- (18) Sowmiah, S.; Esperança, J. M. S. S.; Rebelo, L. P. N.; Afonso, C. A. M. Pyridinium Salts: From Synthesis to Reactivity and Applications. *Org. Chem. Front.* **2018**, *5* (3), 453–493. https://doi.org/10.1039/C7QO00836H.
- (19) Yang, Z.-P.; Wu, Q.-F.; Shao, W.; You, S.-L. Iridium-Catalyzed Intramolecular Asymmetric Allylic Dearomatization Reaction of Pyridines, Pyrazines, Quinolines, and Isoquinolines. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137 (50), 15899–15906. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.5b10440.
- (20) Wang, S.-G.; Xia, Z.-L.; Xu, R.-Q.; Liu, X.-J.; Zheng, C.; You, S.-L. Construction of Chiral Tetrahydro-β-Carbolines: Asymmetric Pictet-Spengler Reaction of Indolyl Dihydropyridines. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2017**, *56* (26), 7440–7443. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201703178.
- (21) Murata, S.; Sugimoto, T.; Matsuura, S. Hydrogenation and Hydrosilylation of Quinoxaline by Homogeneous Rhodium Catalysts. *Heterocycles.* **1987**, *26* (3), 763. https://doi.org/10.3987/R-1987-03-0763.
- (22) Bianchini, C.; Barbaro, P.; Scapacci, G.; Farnetti, E.; Graziani, M. Enantioselective Hydrogenation of 2-Methylquinoxaline to (-)-(2 S)-2-Methyl-1,2,3,4-Tetrahydroquinoxaline by Iridium Catalysis. *Organometallics* 1998, *17* (15), 3308–3310. https://doi.org/10.1021/om980219a.

- (23) Wang, W.-B.; Lu, S.-M.; Yang, P.-Y.; Han, X.-W.; Zhou, Y.-G. Highly Enantioselective Iridium-Catalyzed Hydrogenation of Heteroaromatic Compounds, Quinolines. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125 (35), 10536–10537. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0353762.
- (24) Glorius, F.; Spielkamp, N.; Holle, S.; Goddard, R.; Lehmann, C. W. Efficient Asymmetric Hydrogenation of Pyridines. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2004, 43 (21), 2850–2852. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200453942.
- (25) Glorius, F. Asymmetric Hydrogenation of Aromatic Compounds. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2005, 3 (23), 4171. https://doi.org/10.1039/b512139f.
- (26) Legault, C. Y.; Charette, A. B. Catalytic Asymmetric Hydrogenation of *N* -Iminopyridinium Ylides: Expedient Approach to Enantioenriched Substituted Piperidine Derivatives. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2005, *127* (25), 8966–8967. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0525298.
- (27) Zhou, Y.-G. Asymmetric Hydrogenation of Heteroaromatic Compounds. Acc. Chem. Res. 2007, 40 (12), 1357–1366. https://doi.org/10.1021/ar700094b.
- (28) Rueping, M.; Antonchick, A. P. Organocatalytic Enantioselective Reduction of Pyridines. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2007**, *46* (24), 4562–4565. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200701158.
- (29) Wang, D.-S.; Chen, Q.-A.; Lu, S.-M.; Zhou, Y.-G. Asymmetric Hydrogenation of Heteroarenes and Arenes. *Chem. Rev.* **2012**, *112* (4), 2557–2590. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr200328h.
- (30) Chen, Z.-P.; Zhou, Y.-G. Asymmetric Hydrogenation of Heteroarenes with Multiple Heteroatoms. *Synthesis* **2016**, *48* (12), 1769–1781. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0035-1561622.
- (31) Wiesenfeldt, M. P.; Nairoukh, Z.; Dalton, T.; Glorius, F. Selective Arene Hydrogenation for Direct Access to Saturated Carbo- and Heterocycles. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2019, *58* (31), 10460–10476. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201814471.
- (32) Nadeau, C.; Aly, S.; Belyk, K. Rhodium-Catalyzed Enantioselective Addition of Boronic Acids to *N* -Benzylnicotinate Salts. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2011**, *133* (9), 2878–2880. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja111540g.
- (33) Sun, Z.; Yu, S.; Ding, Z.; Ma, D. Enantioselective Addition of Activated Terminal Alkynes to 1-Acylpyridinium Salts Catalyzed by Cu–Bis(Oxazoline) Complexes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129 (30), 9300–9301. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0734849.
- (34) Black, D. A.; Beveridge, R. E.; Arndtsen, B. A. Copper-Catalyzed Coupling of Pyridines and Quinolines with Alkynes: A One-Step, Asymmetric Route to Functionalized Heterocycles. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 73 (5), 1906–1910. https://doi.org/10.1021/j0702293h.

- (35) Fernández-Ibáñez, M. A.; Maciá, B.; Pizzuti, M. G.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. Catalytic Enantioselective Addition of Dialkylzinc Reagents to *N* -Acylpyridinium Salts. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2009**, 48 (49), 9339–9341. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200904981.
- (36) Chau, S. T.; Lutz, J. P.; Wu, K.; Doyle, A. G. Nickel-Catalyzed Enantioselective Arylation of Pyridinium Ions: Harnessing an Iminium Ion Activation Mode. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2013, 52 (35), 9153–9156. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201303994.
- (37) Lutz, J. P.; Chau, S. T.; Doyle, A. G. Nickel-Catalyzed Enantioselective Arylation of Pyridine. *Chem. Sci.* **2016**, *7* (7), 4105–4109. https://doi.org/10.1039/C6SC00702C.
- (38) Bertuzzi, G.; Sinisi, A.; Caruana, L.; Mazzanti, A.; Fochi, M.; Bernardi, L. Catalytic Enantioselective Addition of Indoles to Activated *N* -Benzylpyridinium Salts: Nucleophilic Dearomatization of Pyridines with Unusual C-4 Regioselectivity. *ACS Catal.* 2016, 6 (10), 6473–6477. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.6b01962.
- (39) García Mancheño, O.; Asmus, S.; Zurro, M.; Fischer, T. Highly Enantioselective Nucleophilic Dearomatization of Pyridines by Anion-Binding Catalysis. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2015, 54 (30), 8823–8827. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201502708.
- (40) Bertuzzi, G.; Sinisi, A.; Pecorari, D.; Caruana, L.; Mazzanti, A.; Bernardi, L.; Fochi, M. Nucleophilic Dearomatization of Pyridines under Enamine Catalysis: Regio-, Diastereo-, and Enantioselective Addition of Aldehydes to Activated *N* -Alkylpyridinium Salts. *Org. Lett.* 2017, *19* (4), 834–837. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.orglett.6b03824.
- (41) Gribble, M. W.; Guo, S.; Buchwald, S. L. Asymmetric Cu-Catalyzed 1,4-Dearomatization of Pyridines and Pyridazines without Preactivation of the Heterocycle or Nucleophile. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2018**, *140* (15), 5057–5060. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.8b02568.
- (42) Wang, Y.; Liu, Y.; Zhang, D.; Wei, H.; Shi, M.; Wang, F. Enantioselective Rhodium-Catalyzed Dearomative Arylation or Alkenylation of Quinolinium Salts. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2016**, *55* (11), 3776–3780. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201511663.
- (43) Zhang, M.; Sun, W.; Zhu, G.; Bao, G.; Zhang, B.; Hong, L.; Li, M.; Wang, R. Enantioselective Dearomative Arylation of Isoquinolines. ACS Catal. 2016, 6 (8), 5290– 5294. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.6b01693.
- (44) Fischer, T.; Bamberger, J.; Mancheño, O. G. Asymmetric Nucleophilic Dearomatization of Diazarenes by Anion-Binding Catalysis. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2016, 14 (24), 5794–5802. https://doi.org/10.1039/C6OB00248J.
- (45) Flanigan, D. M.; Rovis, T. Enantioselective N-Heterocyclic Carbene-Catalyzed Nucleophilic Dearomatization of Alkyl Pyridiniums. *Chem. Sci.* 2017, 8 (9), 6566–6569. https://doi.org/10.1039/C7SC02648J.

- (46) Yedoyan, J.; Wurzer, N.; Klimczak, U.; Ertl, T.; Reiser, O. Regio- and Stereoselective Synthesis of Functionalized Dihydropyridines, Pyridines, and 2H-Pyrans: Heck Coupling of Monocyclopropanated Heterocycles. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2019**, *58* (11), 3594–3598. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201813716.
- (47) Pangborn, A. B.; Giardello, M. A.; Grubbs, R. H.; Rosen, R. K.; Timmers, F. J. Safe and Convenient Procedure for Solvent Purification. *Organometallics* **1996**, *15* (5), 1518–1520. https://doi.org/10.1021/om9503712.
- (48) Fu, C.; Pei, J.; Ning, Y.; Liu, M.; Shan, P.; Liu, J.; Li, Y.; Hu, F.; Zhu, Y.; Yang, H.; Zou, X. Synthesis and Insecticidal Activities of Novel Pyrazole Oxime Ether Derivatives with Different Substituted Pyridyl Rings: Novel Pyrazole Oxime Ether Derivatives. *Pest. Manag. Sci.* 2014, 70 (8), 1207–1214. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.3672.
- (49) Deng, J.; Lei, H.; Ren, F.; Cai, W.; Lin, X. Patent WO2015180613A1, 2015.
- (50) Yedoyan, J.; Wurzer, N.; Klimczak, U.; Ertl, T.; Reiser, O. Regio- and Stereoselective Synthesis of Functionalized Dihydropyridines, Pyridines, and 2H-Pyrans: Heck Coupling of Monocyclopropanated Heterocycles. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2019**, *58* (11), 3594–3598. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201813716.
- (51) Nadeau, C.; Aly, S.; Belyk, K. Rhodium-Catalyzed Enantioselective Addition of Boronic Acids to *N* -Benzylnicotinate Salts. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2011**, *133* (9), 2878–2880. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja111540g.

## <u>Chapter 3:</u> <u>Synthesis of 1,6-DHPs via Enantioselective Addition of</u> <u>Boronic Acid Pinacol Esters: Application to the Total Synthesis of a</u> <u>Nuphar Alkaloid:</u>

This chapter is reproduced from Robinson, D. J.; Ortíz, K. G.; O'Hare, N. P.; and Karimov, R. R. *Org. Lett.* **2022**, 24, 3445-3449.

#### **3.1. Introduction:**

As discussed in Chapters 1 and 2, nitrogen heterocycles are common structural motifs in natural products and active pharmaceutical ingredients.<sup>1–4</sup> In particular, indole alkaloids contain 2-indolesubstituted piperidines such as in mitragynine (**3.1**) and roxburghine D (**3.2**) (Figure 3.1). The latter contains a fully substituted stereogenic center at the C-2 position of the piperidine. Nuphar alkaloids contain 2-furan-substituted piperidine. These alkaloids demonstrate significant biological activities as anticancer agents, immunosuppressants, etc.<sup>5,6</sup> For example, rolapitant (**3.4**) is an FDA-approved small molecule used for the treatment of chemotherapy induced nausea and vomiting that contains such an aryl-substituted piperidine structural motif, as well.

Figure 3.1: Structures of natural products and a drug molecule containing (hetero)aryl-substituted nonaromatic azaheterocycles.



In Chapter 2, we established the utility of a Rh-catalyzed nucleophilic dearomatization strategy for the synthesis of saturated azaheterocycles. With regard to the asymmetric dearomative arylation of pyridiniums and related heteroarenium salts, recently our group and others have reported that N-alkyl- and N-acylpyridinium salts can undergo asymmetric dearomatization using aryl boronic acids, aryl zinc, and electron rich aryl nucleophiles.<sup>6-10</sup> During our studies of the asymmetric addition of aryl boronic acids to pyridinium salts, we have observed that the addition of indole-2-boronic acid to pyridinium salts under rhodium catalysis did not yield any of the corresponding dihydropyridine product while addition of furan-3-boronic acid gave the corresponding DHP in moderate yield.<sup>10</sup> This was due to the competing protodeboronation side reaction of these boronic acid is an important synthetic challenge as it could enable efficient synthesis of nuphar and indole alkaloids.

Pinacol esters of aryl boronic acids are more stable alternatives to arylboronic acids under basic conditions.<sup>12,13</sup> In addition to their increased stability compared to that of aryl boronic acids, ArBpins are also easier to access through direct C–H borylation of arenes<sup>14</sup> or Miyaura<sup>15</sup> and Masuda<sup>16</sup> borylation of aryl and alkenyl halides and triflates.<sup>17</sup> Considering their improved stability and availability when compared to that of aryl boronic acids, we thought to develop a rhodium-catalyzed dearomative arylation of heteroarenium salts using aryl boronic acid pinacol esters as aryl nucleophiles. Herein, we report the results from these studies, which shows that ArylBpins are competent nucleophiles for Rh-catalyzed dearomatization reactions that tolerate a wide range of functional groups and enable addition of challenging heteroarenes such as indoles. The

methodology reported herein has been applied to the synthesis of a bioactive nuphar alkaloid 2 to illustrate its efficiency for the synthesis of alkaloid natural products.

#### **3.2. Optimization of Reaction Conditions:**

Optimization of reaction conditions started by using reaction conditions developed for aryl boronic acids. Under these conditions, dearomatization product (**3.6**) was obtained in 50% yield as measured by analysis of <sup>1</sup>H NMR of the crude reaction mixture using 1,3,5-trimethoxybenzene as an internal standard (Table 3.1, entry 1). Changing the base from Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> to Et<sub>3</sub>N or NaOH resulted in a decreased yield (Table 3.1, entries 2 and 3). Increasing or decreasing the reaction temperature resulted in diminished yields, as well (Table 3.1, entries 3 and 4). 1,4-Dioxane was found to be the best solvent for this reaction as other solvents gave inferior yields (Table 3.1, entries 6–9). Finally, we found that the water content in the reaction had a crucial impact on the reaction yield. Thus, while dry dioxane or a 2:1 dioxane/water mixture as a solvent gave low yields, using a 20:1 dioxane/water mixture gave the dearomatization product in 85% yield and 94% ee (Table 3.1, entries 10–12).

Me N O Me OTf 3.5	$ \frac{Rh(COD)_2BF_4 (5 mol\%)}{(R)-BINAP (5 mol\%)} \\ \frac{Rh(COD)_2BF_4 (5 mol\%)}{PhBpin (2.5 mol\%)} \\ \frac{Na_2CO_3 (2.5 mol\%)}{1,4-Dioxane:H_2O (4:1)} \\ 80 °C, 2 hours $	Me Ph Me 3.6
Entry	Deviation from above	Yield (%) <sup>a</sup>
1	none	50
2	Et <sub>3</sub> N instead of Na <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub>	41
3	NaOH instead of Na <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub>	30
4	40 °C instead of 80 °C	30
5	100 °C instead of 80 °C	43
6	PhMe instead of 1,4-dioxane	2
7	DME instead of 1,4-dioxane	38
8	DCE instead of 1,4-dioxane	8
9	THF instead of 1,4-dioxane	28
10	no H <sub>2</sub> O	14
11	20:1 1,4-dioxane:H <sub>2</sub> O	85
12	2:1 1,4-dioxane:H <sub>2</sub> O	16
1		

Table 3.1: Optimization of reaction conditions.

Yields are reported based on <sup>1</sup>H NMR analysis of crude reactiuon mixtures using 1,3,5-trimethoxybenzene as an internal standard.

#### **3.3. Dearomatization Substrate Scope:**

#### 3.3.1. Scope of Bpins for the Dearomatization Reaction Forming Fully Substituted

#### **Stereogenic Centers:**

With the optimized reaction conditions in hand, we explored the scope of ArBPins. Electron rich, electron neutral, and electron deficient pinacol esters reacted with the pyridinium **3.7** and gave the corresponding dihydropyridines **3.8.a**–**i** in good to excellent yields and *ee*. In general, both the yields and the enantioselectivities of dihydropyridines were lower when the ArBpins contained an electron-withdrawing group at the para position (Table 3.2, **3.8.b**, **3.8.h**, and **3.8.i**). The reaction tolerated a wide range of functional groups such as halogens (Table 3.2, **3.8.d–f**), a perfluoroalkyl group (Table 3.2, **3.8.b**), an ester (Table 3.2, **3.8.h**), a ketone (Table 3.2, **3.8.i**), and an unprotected primary alcohol (Table 3.2, **3.8.g**). While C-6 ethyl substitution was still

tolerated and gave the corresponding DHP **3.8.m** in 62% yield and 97% *ee*, substituents larger than an ethyl group at the C-6 position of the pyridinium salt were not well tolerated giving DHPs **3.8.n** and **3.8.o** in low yield. Finally, increased sterics of the N-alkyl group resulted in diminished enantioselectivities for DHPs **3.8.p** and **3.8.q** when compared to those of N-methylsubstituted pyridinium salts (Table 3.2).

 Table 3.2: Scope of aryl, heteroaryl, and vinyl boron pinacol esters for the dearomatization of pyridinium salt 7.



Isolated yields are reported. Enantiomeric excess (*ee*) was determined using chiral HPLC. <sup>a</sup>*ee* was measured after subjecting **3.8.h** to Wittig conditions. See suporting information for details.

#### 3.3.2. Scope of Bpins for the Dearomatization Reaction forming Tertiary

#### **Stereogenic Centers:**

Next, we focused on exploring the scope of the heteroarenium salts for the synthesis of DHPs containing tertiary stereocenters (Table 3.3). Thus, N-benzyl nicotinate salt **3.9** reacted with various heteroarene nucleophiles to afford dihydropyridines **3.10.a**–j in excellent yield and *ee*. We were pleased to find that heteroaryl Bpin nucleophiles gave improved yields of the corresponding

DHPs compared to that of the heteroarylboronic acid nucleophiles (yields with aryl boronic acids are shown in parentheses in Table 3.3: Scope of ArBpins and heteroarenes for the synthesis of dihydroheteroarenes containing tertiary stereocenters.). The most drastic difference in the yield of the corresponding DHP was observed for the addition of the indole group. While indole-2-boronic acid failed to yield any of the DHP **3.10.c**, the corresponding aryl Bpin gave **3.10.c** in 71% yield and 91% *ee*. Dihydropyridine **3.10.c** represents the core of many indole alkaloids. Substitutions at positions C-2 and C-5 of the pyridinium salts were tolerated, albeit the corresponding products **3.10.g–i** were obtained in diminished yields compared to unsubstituted nicotinic acid esters. The N-methyl salt of N,N-diisopropyl nicotinamide underwent dearomatization to give DHP **3.10.j** in moderate yield and *ee*. Finally, N-alkyl quinolinium salts underwent dearomatization, affording **3.10.k** and **3.10.l** in 71% and 39% yields, respectively.

#### **3.4.** Synthesis of Nuphar Indolizidine:

To demonstrate the utility of the method detailed herein, we pursued synthesis of a nuphar alkaloid **2**. This indolizidine alkaloid is a minor component of the alkaloids isolated from beaver castoreum.<sup>18</sup> The synthesis of alkaloid **3.2** commenced with a Sonogoshira coupling between pyridine **3.11** and propargyl alcohol, which gave alkyne **3.12** in 91% yield (Scheme 3.1). Hydrogenation of alkyne **3.12** followed by the activation of alcohol **3.13** as the corresponding mesylate gave pyridinium salt **3.14** after anion exchange. Pyridinium **3.14** underwent dearomatization under the standard reaction conditions developed by us to give dihydropyridine **3.15** in 79% yield over two steps starting from alcohol **3.13** and in 94% *ee*. The two double bonds of the dihydropyridine were sequentially reduced to give ester **3.17** as a 2.4:1 mixture of

 Table 3.3: Scope of ArBpins and heteroarenes for the synthesis of dihydroheteroarenes containing tertiary stereocenters.



in parentheses. Enantiomeric excess (*ee*) was determined using chiral HPLC.

diastereomers favoring the desired diastereomer. Reduction of ester **3.17** gave primary alcohol **3.18** in 84% yield. The relative and absolute stereochemistry of alcohol **3.18** was unambiguously assigned by X-ray analysis of the corresponding single crystals. Alcohol **3.18** was converted to xanthate **3.19** in high yield, and subsequent deoxygenation delivered nuphar alkaloid **3.2** in nine overall steps starting from commercially available pyridine **3.11**. The synthetic route executed by us would allow efficient synthesis of analogues of this compound for structure–activity relationship studies as using this route, the furan moiety can be modified to probe different aryl groups at position C-6 and dihydropyridine **3.15** would allow modifications within the piperidine ring of alkaloid 2 through functionalization of the two C=C bonds.



Scheme 3.1: Dearomative approach for the total synthesis of nuphar indolizidine (2).

Isolated yields are reported. Enantiomeric excess (*ee*) was determined using chiral HPLC. <sup>a</sup> The pictured X-ray structure of **3.18** is shown with thermal elipsoids at 50% probability. CCDC 2084950 contains the crystalographic data for this publication.

#### **3.5. Conclusion:**

In conclusion, herein we report the Rh-catalyzed dearomatization of pyridinium and quinolinium salts with ArBpin nucleophiles. ArBpins are easier to access than ArB(OH)2 through C-H borylation of arenes as well as from aryl halides and triflates through Miyaura and Matsuda ArBPins significantly borylations correspondingly. have improved stability toward protodeboronation under basic conditions, which in this case led to the successful addition of heteroarenes to pyridiniums. Addition of heteroarenes to hetearoniums is potentially important for the synthesis of natural products that contain heteroarene-substituted piperidines. We demonstrate application of the dearomatization strategy to the synthesis of a bioactive alkaloid from the nuphar alkaloid family.

#### **3.6. Experimental Section:**

#### **3.6.1.** Materials and Methods:

Reactions were performed in flame-dried sealed tubes or modified Schlenk (Kjeldahl shape) flasks fitted with a glass stopper under a positive pressure of nitrogen or inside nitrogen filled glovebox using 1-dram vials unless otherwise noted. Air- and moisture-sensitive liquids and solutions were transferred *via* syringe. The appropriate starting materials and reagents were dried *via* azeotropic removal of water with toluene. Molecular sieves were activated at 350 °C and were crushed immediately prior to use, then flame-dried under vacuum. Organic solutions were concentrated by rotary evaporation below 40 °C. Flash column chromatography was performed employing 230–400 mesh silica gel.

Dichloromethane, tetrahydrofuran, diethyl ether, DMF and toluene were purified by passage through two packed columns of neutral alumina under an argon atmosphere.<sup>18</sup> Methanol was distilled from magnesium at 760 Torr. Amines were distilled from CaH<sub>2</sub> at 760 torr. Mesyl Chloride was distilled from P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> at 760 torr. All other chemicals were obtained from commercial vendors and were used without further purification unless otherwise noted.

Automated flash chromatography was performed with a Teledyne Isco Combiflash® R*f* system with Redi*sep* Gold<sup>TM</sup> silica columns. Thin-layer chromatography was performed using glass plates pre-coated to a depth of 0.25 mm with 230–400 mesh silica gel impregnated with a fluorescent indicator (254 nm) and visualized under UV light (254 and 360 nm), or stained with Ceric Ammonium Molybdate in conc. H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, vanillin in acidic EtOH, or I<sub>2</sub> on SiO<sub>2</sub>.

Proton, carbon-13, and fluorine-19 nuclear magnetic resonance (<sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR, and <sup>19</sup>F NMR) spectra were recorded on a Bruker Avance III instrument; chemical shifts are expressed in parts per million ( $\delta$  scale) downfield from tetramethylsilane and are referenced to residual isotopes

in the NMR solvent (d-chloroform:  $\delta$  7.26 for <sup>1</sup>H NMR,  $\delta$  77.16 for <sup>13</sup>C NMR; d4-methanol:  $\delta$  3.31 for <sup>1</sup>H NMR,  $\delta$  49.00 for <sup>13</sup>C NMR; d6-benzene:  $\delta$  7.16 for <sup>1</sup>H NMR,  $\delta$  128.06 for <sup>13</sup>C NMR). Data are presented as follows: chemical shift, multiplicity (s = singlet, bs = broad singlet, d = doublet, t = triplet, q = quartet, m = multiplet and/or multiple resonances), coupling constant in Hertz (Hz), integration. HPLC analysis for the determination of enantiomeric access (ee) was performed using a Waters 1515 isocratic solvent pump, 2489 UV-Vis detector, and CHIRALPAK® columns (IA, IC, ID, and IG columns), or Agilent Technologies 1260 Infinity II HPLC system and InfinityLab Poroshell 120 column (Chiral-CD). Optical rotations are calculated and reported in concentrations of g/mL, and were recorded using a Rudolph Research Analytical Autopol® IV Automatic Polarimeter with a 0.5 dm path length. High resolution mass spectrometry (HRMS) was performed using an Orbitrap Exploris 120 quadrupole orbitrap.

#### **3.6.2.** Synthesis of Pyridine Starting Materials:

#### Methyl 6-Ethylpyridine-3-carboxylate (3.S.1)



0

Compound **3.S.1** was prepared according to a reported procedure.<sup>40</sup> <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectral data matched those of the reported compound. Yield: 129.8 mg (52%); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 8.91 (d, J = 2.2 Hz, 1H), 7.98 (dd, J = 8.1, 2.2 Hz, 1H), 7.03 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 3.72 (s, 3H), 2.67 (q, J = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 1.11 (t, J = 7.6 Hz, 3H).; <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.9, 165.7, 150.2, 137.3, 123.2, 121.5, 52.0, 31.3, 13.4.



#### Methyl 6-isopropenylpyridine-3-carboxylate (3.S.2)

To a flame dried Schlenk tube (25 mL) charged with  $N_{\rm 2}$  and a magnetic stirbar was added methyl-6-bromonicotinate (324.0 mg, 1.50 mmol, 1.0 equiv.), and 2-propenyl boronic acid pinacol ester (378.2 mg, 2.25 mmol, 1.5 equiv.). The vessel was sealed and transferred to the N<sub>2</sub> filled glovebox where Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> (86.7 mg, 0.08 mmol, 0.05 equiv.) and toluene (5.0 mL) were added. The vessel was sealed and removed to the Schlenk line, where degassed 2M K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>(aq) (1.5 mL, 3.0 mmol, 2.0 equiv.) was added under N<sub>2</sub>. The vessel was sealed and heated in an oil bath to 80 °C with vigorous stirring for 16 hours. The reaction mixture was cooled to ambient temperature, diluted to 25 mL with EtOAc, filtered through silica, then celite, and concentrated *in vaccuo*. The crude mixture was purified *via* automated flash column chromatography to give a mixture of **S2** and Methyl-6-bromonicotinate (10%). **Yield:** 221.3 mg (75 % for **S2**). **TLC:** R*f* 0.50 (EtOAc:Hexanes 1:4); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  9.22 (d, J = 1.6 Hz, 1H), 8.34 (d, J = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 7.60 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 1H), 6.11 (s, 1H), 5.52 (s, 1H), 3.97 (s, 3H), 2.27 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  165.9, 161.8, 150.2, 142.6, 137.5, 124.2, 119.2, 118.2, 52.3, 20.3; **HRMS** (ESI) *m*/z Calcd for C<sub>10</sub>H<sub>12</sub>O<sub>2</sub>N [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 178.0863, found 178.0862.



#### Methyl 6-isopropylpyridine-3-carboxylate (3.S.3)

To a 50 ml round bottomed flask charged with a magnetic stirbar was added **S2** (132.5 mg, 0.75 mmol, 1.0 equiv.), then Pd/C (5%) (159.6 mg,

0.0.08 mmol, 0.1 equiv.) which were then dissolved in MeOH (5.0 mL). The flask was capped with a rubber septum. With stirring, the solution was purged with H<sub>2</sub> by applying a light vacuum on the flask and back-filling with H<sub>2</sub> from a balloon with a needle attached. The reaction was stirred at ambient temperature for 1 hour. After TLC analysis showed complete consumption of the starting material, the reaction mixture filtered over a silica plug, which was washed with MeOH (5.0 mL). The collected washes were concentrated *in vacuo* and the crude reaction mixture was purified *via* flash column and the solvents removed under reduced pressure to afford **S3** as a clear to light yellow oil. **Yield:** 71.3 mg (35%); **TLC:** Rf 0.36 (EtOAc:Hexanes, 1:4); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  9.12 (dd, J = 2.2, 0.9 Hz, 1H), 8.19 (dd, J = 8.2, 2.3 Hz, 1H), 7.24 (dd, J = 8.2, 0.9

Hz, 1H), 3.92 (s, 3H), 3.12 (hept, J = 6.9 Hz, 1H), 1.31 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 7H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  172.1, 166.1, 150.6, 137.7, 123.7, 120.4, 52.4, 36.7, 22.5; **HRMS** (ESI) *m*/z Calcd for C<sub>10</sub>H<sub>14</sub>O<sub>2</sub>N [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 180.1019, found 180.1019.

#### Methyl 6-phenylpyridine-3-carboxylate (3.S.4)

Compound S4 was prepared according to a reported procedure.<sup>10 1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectral data matched those of the reported compound. Yield: 287.7 mg (54%); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  9.27 (d, J = 2.4 Hz, 1H), 8.33 (dd, J = 8.3, 2.2 Hz, 1H), 8.08 – 8.02 (m, 2H), 7.79 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.53 – 7.42 (m, 3H), 3.96 (s, 3H).; <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  165.94, 160.98, 151.02, 138.32, 137.98, 130.06, 128.99, 127.44, 124.28, 119.93, 52.43.

#### Ethyl 2-phenylpyridine-3-carboxylate (3.S.5)

O

**OEt** A 100 mL Schlenk tube charged with ethyl-2-chloro-3-carboxylate (1.0 g, 5.39 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and phenylboronic acid (0.9 g, 8.09 mmol, 1.5 equiv.) was transferred to a N<sub>2</sub>-filled glovebox. Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> (62.4 mg, 0.05 mmol, 1 mol%) was added and the mixture was dissolved in dry, degassed THF (22.5 mL). The Schlenk tube was sealed and removed to a Schlenk line where degassed 2.0 M K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (aq.) (10.7 mL, 10.78 mmol, 2.0 equiv.) was added. The tube was sealed, and the reaction heated in an oil bath to 65 °C with vigorous stirring overnight (18 hours). The reaction was cooled to room temperature and filtered over celite. The celite filter was rinsed with EtOAc (10.0 mL) and the combined organic solvent was dried over MgSO<sub>4</sub>, filtered, and evaporated under reduced pressure. The crude reaction mixture was purified via flash column and the solvent removed under reduced pressure to give **S5** as a yellow oil. **Yield:** 929.7 mg (76%); **TLC:** Rf 0.39 (EtOAc:Hexanes, 20:80); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl3)  $\delta$  8.73 (dd, J = 5.1, 1.7 Hz, 1H), 8.07 (dd, J = 7.9, 1.7 Hz, 1H), 7.52 (dt, J = 6.6, 2.6 Hz, 2H), 7.46 – 7.34 (m, 3H), 7.29 (dd, J = 7.8, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 4.12 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.01 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C **NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl3)

δ 168.1, 158.8, 151.1, 140.2, 137.8, 128.6, 128.5, 128.1, 127.4, 121.6, 61.4, 13.6; **HRMS** (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>14</sub>O<sub>2</sub>N [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 228.1019, found 228.1012.

 $\begin{array}{l} \textbf{Methyl-5-fluoropyridine-3-carboxylate (3.S.6)} \\ \textbf{F} & \textbf{Methyl-5-fluoropyridine-3-carboxylate (3.S.6)} \\ \textbf{Compound 3.S.6 was prepared according to a reported procedure.}^{20 \ 1} H \ and \ ^{13}C \\ \textbf{Spectral data matched those of the reported compound. Yield: 113.2 mg (73%); }^{1} H \ NMR \ (500 \ MHz, CDCl_3) \ \delta \ 9.05 \ (s, 1H), \ 8.65 \ (d, J = 2.9 \ Hz, 1H), \ 7.99 \ (ddd, J = 8.6, 2.7, 1.6 \ Hz, 1H), \ 3.97 \ (s, 3H). \ ^{13}C \ NMR \ (126 \ MHz, CDCl_3) \ \delta \ 164.82 \ (d, J = 2.1 \ Hz), \ 159.25 \ (d, J = 258.5 \ Hz), \ 146.80 \ (d, J = 4.3 \ Hz), \ 142.30 \ (d, J = 23.2 \ Hz), \ 127.55, \ 123.75 \ (d, J = 19.5 \ Hz), \ 52.90. \end{array}$ 

N,N-di(propan-2-yl)pyridine-3-carboxamide (3.S.7) N(*i*-Pr)<sub>2</sub> Compound 3.S.5 was prepared according to a reported procedure.<sup>21</sup> <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectral data matched those of the reported compound. Yield: 2.2 g (66%); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.55 (d, J = 5.0 Hz, 1H), 8.51 (s, 1H), 7.58 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.26 (dd, J = 7.8, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 3.61 (d, J = 102.5 Hz, 2H), 1.28 (d, J = 162.0 Hz, 5H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  168.2, 149.9, 146.7, 134.6, 133.6, 123.5, 51.2, 46.2, 20.8.

#### Methyl quinoline-3-carboxylate (3.S.8)

Compound **3.S.8** prepared from quinoline-3-carboxylic acid (1.0 g, 5.35 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) using a modified procedure<sup>4</sup>. **3.S.8** was used without further purification. **Yield:** 1.10 g (50%). <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectra match those of the reported compound.<sup>22</sup> <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  9.45 (s, 1H), 8.85 (d, J = 2.0 Hz, 1H), 8.17 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 1H), 7.94 (dd, J = 8.1, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 7.84 (t, J = 7.7 Hz, 1H), 7.63 (t, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 4.02 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  166.0, 150.1, 150.0, 139.0, 132.1, 129.6, 129.3, 127.6, 127.0, 123.2, 52.7.

#### 3.6.3. Synthesis of N-Alkyl Pyridinium Salts:

#### 3.6.3.1. General procedure for pyridinium salts using MeOTf (GP 1):

In a Schlenk flask, the specified nicotinic ester (1.0 equiv.) was dissolved in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (0.1M) and cooled to 4 °C in an ice water bath. MeOTf (1.1 equiv.) was added slowly *via* syringe and the reaction mixture was stirred overnight allowing it to warm to ambient temperature. ~1/3 of the CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> was removed under reduced pressure and obtained oil was slowly added to a beaker containing rapidly stirring Et<sub>2</sub>O (50 mL). Stirring was continued for additional 30 min at which point, the initial thick oil solidified. This solid was filtered and washed with Et<sub>2</sub>O (50 mL) to give pyridinium salt as white to brown solid.

## **3.6.3.2.** General procedure for pyridinium salts using benzyl bromide and

#### AgOTf (GP 2):

In a Schlenk tube, the specified nicotinic ester (2.0 g, 1.0 equiv.) was dissolved in *i*-PrOH (0.2M). BnBr (2.0 equiv.) was added slowly *via* syringe, the tube was sealed, and the reaction mixture was stirred overnight. The solvents were evaporated under reduced pressure and the obtained oil was dissolved in acetone (0.2M). In a 20 ml scintillation vial, AgOTf (1.0 equiv.) was dissolved in acetone (1.0M). The solution of AgOTf was added to the bromide dropwise with stirring. The resulting AgBr was filtered out over celite, and the filtrate was added slowly to a beaker containing rapidly stirring Et<sub>2</sub>O (100 mL). Stirring was continued for additional 30 min at which point, the initial thick oil solidified. This solid was filtered and washed with Et<sub>2</sub>O (50 mL) to give pyridinium salt as white to brown solid.



#### 5-(methoxycarbonyl)-1,2-dimethylpypiridin-1-ium triflate (3.5)

<sup>1e</sup> Prepared from methyl 6-methylpyridine carboxylate (10.0 g, 66.00 mmol, 1 equiv.) and according to GP1. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectral data matched those of a

reported compound.<sup>10</sup> Yield: 16.8 g (81%); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CD<sub>3</sub>OD) δ 7.83 (s, 1H), 7.26 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 6.49 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 2.75 (s, 3H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 1.29 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151) MHz, CD<sub>3</sub>OD) δ 163.5, 161.5, 148.8, 145.7, 130.8, 129.5, 121.7 (q, *J* = 318.6 Hz), 53.93, 46.9.



#### 2-ethyl-5-(methoxycarbonyl)-1-methylpyridin-1-ium triflate (3.7.m)

ОМе Prepared from **3.S.4** (165.0 mg, 1.00 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) via GP1.  $^{1}$ H and  $^{13}$ C Me OTf spectral data match those of a reported compound.<sup>10</sup> **Yield:** 188.4 mg (58%). <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  9.29 (s, 1H), 8.83 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 7.98 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 4.43 (s, 3H), 4.03 (s, 3H), 3.22 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.49 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) § 163.9, 161.9, 147.9, 144.8, 128.0, 127.2, 123.6, 121.5, 119.4, 117.3, 77.3, 77.1, 76.9, 53.7, 53.5, 46.6, 26.6, 10.9.



## 5-(methoxycarbonyl)-1-methyl-2-(propan-2-yl)-pyridin-1-ium triflate (3.7.n)

Prepared from **3.S.3** (57.4 mg, 0.32 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) according to GP1. **Yield:** 90.2 mg (82%); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, C6D6)  $\delta$  9.11 (d, J = 1.6 Hz, 1H), 8.16 (dd, J = 8.4, 1.7 Hz, 1H), 6.97 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 1H), 3.70 (s, 3H), 3.16 (dt, J = 13.5, 6.7 Hz, 1H), 0.99 (d, J = 6.7 Hz, 6H), 0.56 (s, 6H) <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl3) δ 168.0, 161.8, 148.3, 145.1, 128.1, 125.6, 120.6 (q, J = 320.2 Hz), 53.6, 46.7, 31.0, 21.4; <sup>19</sup>F NMR (471 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -78.52; HRMS (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>16</sub>O<sub>2</sub>N [M-OTf]<sup>+</sup>: 194.1176, found 194.1175.



5-(methoxycarbonyl)-1-methyl-2-phenylpyridin-1-ium triflate (70) Prepared from **3.S.4** (287.9 mg, 1.35 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) via GP1. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectral data match those of a reported molecule.<sup>10</sup> **Yield:** 447.7 mg (88%).

<sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  9.48 (s, 1H), 8.92 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 7.94 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 7.68 – 7.60 (m, 5H), 4.36 (s, 3H), 4.04 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 161.8, 159.2, 148.6, 144.9, 132.1, 130.9, 130.1, 129. 7, 129. 6, 129.1, 120.6 (q, J = 320.4 Hz), 53. 8, 48.4. 128.9, 53.9, 48.5.

# Me N O Me OTf

1-ethyl-5-(methoxycarbonyl)-2-methylpyridin-1-ium triflate (3.7.p)

In a 20 mL scintillation vial charged with a Teflon-coated stir bar, methyl 6-

Me or f methylpyridine carboxylate (2.000 g, 13.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) was dissolved in bromoethane (1.10 mL, 14.5 mmol, 1.1 equiv.). The vial was sealed with a Teflon-coated cap and heated in an aluminum heating block to 60°C overnight. The reaction was cooled to 23°C and a few drops (less than 1.0 mL) of methanol was added to the resulting slurry until all solids were dissolved. The resulting solution was treated with AgOTf according to GP2 to furnish the N-ethyl triflate salt **3.7.p. Yield**: 1.2 g (28% over two steps); <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  9.26 (s, 1H), 8.77 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 8.00 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 4.79 (q, J = 7.3 Hz, 2H), 4.04 (s, 3H), 3.00 (s, 3H), 1.67 (t, J = 7.4 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  161.8, 159.2, 146.1, 144.7, 130.8, 129.1, 125.0 – 116.2 (m); 55.0, 53.9, 20.9, 15.3, 0.1; <sup>19</sup>F NMR (471 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -78.48; HRMS (ESI) *m*/z Calcd for C<sub>10</sub>H<sub>14</sub>O<sub>2</sub>N [M-OTf]<sup>+</sup>: 180.1019, found 180.1012.



**1-benzyl-3-(methoxycarbonyl)pyridin-1-ium triflate (3.9.a)** Prepared from methyl nicotinate (480.0 mg, 3.5 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) according to GP2. **Yield**: 1.0 g (79% over two steps); <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (500 MHz, D<sub>2</sub>O)  $\delta$  9.52 (s, 1H), 9.12 (d, J = 6.2 Hz, 1H), 9.06 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 8.23 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 1H), 7.52 (m, 5H), 5.93 (s, 2H), 4.05 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, D<sub>2</sub>O)  $\delta$  164.9, 149.0, 147.7, 147.3, 133.8, 132.6, 131.8, 131.3, 130.9, 130.4, 126.6 – 115.2 (m), 66.8, 55.5; <sup>19</sup>F NMR (471 MHz, D2O)  $\delta$  -78.82. **HRMS** (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>14</sub>O<sub>2</sub>N [M-OTf]<sup>+</sup>: 228.1019, found 228.1010.

**1-benzyl-3-(ethoxycarbonyl)-2-methylpyridin-1-ium triflate (3.9.g)** Prepared from ethyl 2-methyl nicotinate (1.863 g, 8.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) according to GP2. **Yield**: 2.350 g (71% over two steps); <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (500 MHz, D<sub>2</sub>O)  $\delta$  9.21 – 9.04 (m, 1H), 8.82 (dd, J = 8.2, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 8.03 (dd, J = 8.1, 6.3 Hz, 1H), 7.45 – 7.33 (m, 3H), 7.19 (dd, J = 7.4, 2.1 Hz, 2H), 5.93 (s, 2H), 4.43 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.02 (s, 3H), 1.40 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, D<sub>2</sub>O)  $\delta$  163.0, 157.4, 149.5, 146.7, 132.5, 131.6, 129.9, 129.7, 127.9, 125.8, 126.6 – 115.2 (m), 63.6, 63.1, 18.2, 14.1.; <sup>19</sup>F NMR (471 MHz, D2O)  $\delta$  -78.82. **HRMS** (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>18</sub>O<sub>2</sub>N [M-OTf]<sup>+</sup>: 256.1332, found 256.1324.s

 $\begin{array}{l} \textbf{3-(ethoxycarbonyl)-1-methyl-2-phenylpyridin-1-ium triflate (3.9.h)} \\ \textbf{Prepared from 3.S.6 (1.0 g, 4.40 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) according to GP1.Yield: 802.6 mg, (98%); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, D<sub>2</sub>O) <math>\delta$  9.01 (dd, J = 6.2, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 8.93 (dd, J = 8.1, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 8.06 (dd, J = 8.1, 6.3 Hz, 1H), 7.53 – 7.45 (m, 3H), 7.33 – 7.21 (m, 2H), 4.49 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.97 (s, 3H), 1.41 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, D<sub>2</sub>O)  $\delta$  166.5, 158.7, 149.8, 148.4, 134.5, 133.4, 131.2, 131.1, 129.3, 127.0, 121.3 (q, J = 317.4 Hz), 65.7, 63.7, 19.3, 14.8; <sup>19</sup>F NMR (471 MHz, D<sub>2</sub>O)  $\delta$  -78.80; HRMS (ESI) m/z Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>16</sub>O<sub>2</sub>N [M-OTf]<sup>+</sup>: 242.1175, found 242.1167.



 $\begin{array}{l} \textbf{3-[di(propan-2-yl)carbamoyl]-1-methylpyridin-1-ium triflate (3.9.j)} \\ \textbf{W(i-Pr)_2} \\ \textbf{W(i-Pr)_2} \\ \textbf{We} \\ \textbf{W} \\ \textbf{$ 



#### 1-methylquinolin-1-ium triflate (3.9.k)

Prepared from quinoline (1.2 mL, 10 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) according to GP1. Yield 2.6 g (89%). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl3)  $\delta$  9.65 (d, J = 5.7 Hz, 1H), 8.98 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 1H), 8.38 (d, J = 8.9 Hz, 1H), 8.25 (ddd, J = 12.3, 10.1, 4.7 Hz, 2H), 8.08 (dd, J = 8.3, 5.8 Hz, 1H), 8.00 (t, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 4.79 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, MeOD)  $\delta$  151.1, 148.8, 140.3, 137.2, 131.7, 131.4, 131.3, 122.9, 121.8 (q, J = 318.4 Hz), 119.8, 46.2; <sup>19</sup>F NMR (471 MHz, CDCl3)  $\delta$  -76.16. HRMS (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>10</sub>H<sub>10</sub>N [M-OTf]<sup>+</sup>: 144.0808, found 144.0808.


3H), 4.12 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, D<sub>2</sub>O, ref DMSO D6)  $\delta$  165.6, 151.2, 150.2, 141.5, 140.0, 133.6, 132.7, 130.4, 125.4, 121.2 (q, J = 317.4 Hz), 120.2, 55.4, 47.4; <sup>19</sup>F NMR (471 MHz, D<sub>2</sub>O)  $\delta$  -78.86; **HRMS** (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>12</sub>H<sub>12</sub>O<sub>2</sub>NF [M-OTf]<sup>+</sup>: 202.0862, found 202.0857.

#### 3.6.4. Synthesis of Dihydropyridines:

#### **3.6.4.1.** Preparation of Rh catalyst stock solution for dearomatization reactions:

In a nitrogen filled glovebox,  $Rh(COD)_2BF_4$  (64 mg, 0.16 mmol, 1 equiv.) and BINAP (99 mg, 0.16 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) were weighed into a 4-dram vial and dissolved in dioxane (16 mL, 0.01M). This solution was stirred for 15 minutes to promote the formation of the catalyst. The solution is a clear red color. This solution was used in the dearomatization reactions below. For racemic dearomatization products, racemic BINAP was used.

#### **3.6.4.2.** General procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts:

The specified pyridinium salt (1.0 equiv.), boronic acid pinacol ester (Bpin) (2.5 equiv.), and Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (2.5 equiv.), were measured into a 1 dram scintilation vial on the benchtop. The vials containing pyridinium salt, Bpin, and Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> were transferred into the nitrogen filled glovebox where the Rh/BINAP stock solution of catalyst was added into each vial (0.2 M). The vials were then sealed and brought outside the glovebox. A specified amount of degassed water was added to each reaction mixture *via* syringe and the reaction mixture was heated to the specified temerature for 2 hours using an aluminum heating block. The vials were then removed from the heating block.

and cooled to room temperature. **Workup:** room temperature solutions were diluted with 1 mL of EtOAc and dried with 1.0 g of MgSO<sub>4</sub>. The reactions were filtered through Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and the filtrate was concentrated. The residue was purified by manual or automatic flash column chromatography to give **3.6**, **3.8.a-q**, and **3.10.a-l**. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectra for compounds **3.6**, **3.8.a-h**, **3.8.j-m**, and **3.8.o-q** match those of reported compounds.<sup>10</sup>

## Methyl (6S)-1,6-dimethyl-6-phenyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate (3.6)

Me Dihydropyridine 6 was synthesized from pyridinium 3.5 (63.1 mg, 0.20 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and phenyl Bpin (102.1 mg, 0.50 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) with 50  $\mu$ L of water at 80°C according to the general procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectra match those of a reported compound.<sup>10</sup> Yield: 41.3 mg (85%); The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC analysis to be 95% *ee.* HPLC (Chiral-CD, water/acetonitrile = gradient from 90:10 to 5:95, flow rate = 1.0 mL/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 13.9 min (major), 14.4 min (minor); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.47 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.36 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 7.32 (s, 1H), 7.29 – 7.25 (m, 1H), 6.31 (d, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 4.77 (d, *J* = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 3.70 (s, 3H), 2.72 (s, 3H), 1.75 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.1, 147.7, 145.6, 128.5, 127.6, 126.5, 120.0, 118.0, 94.6, 63.2, 50.8, 38.4, 24.8.

#### **Representative scaleup of 6:**

Me

To demonstrate the scalability of the dearomatization of n-alkyl pyridinium salts, pyridinium **3.5** (315 mg, 1.00 mmol, 1.0 equiv.), phenyl Bpin (510 mg, 2.50 mmol, 2.5 equiv.), and  $Na_2CO_3$  (265 mg, 2.50 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) were added to a 25 ml Schlenk tube charged with a magnetic stirbar.

The contents of the tube were placed under N<sub>2</sub> by evacuating under vacuum and back-filling with N<sub>2</sub> three times. In an N<sub>2</sub>-filled glovebox, Rh(COD)<sub>2</sub>BF<sub>4</sub> (20.3 mg, 0.050 mmol, 5 mol%) and (R)-Binap (31.1 mg, 0.050 mmol, 5 mol%) were added to a 20 ml scintillation vial and dissolved in 5 ml of dioxane. The resulting solution was stirred for 15 minutes to promote the formation of the catalyst. The Schlenk tube was transferred to the glovebox, where the catalyst solution was added. The Schlenk tube was sealed and transferred to a Schlenk line, where degassed H<sub>2</sub>O (250 µl) was added. The Schlenk tube was sealed and heated in an oil bath to 80°C. After two hours, the reaction was cooled to room temperature and worked up according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n***-alkyl pyridinium salts. The crude reaction mixture was purified via flash column chromatography to give <b>3.6** as a light yellow oil. **Yield:** 153.1 mg (63%). The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 92% *ee.* **HPLC** (Chiral-CD, water/acetonitrile = gradient from 90:10 to 5:95, flow rate = 1.0 mL/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 14.4 min (major), 14.7 min (minor).



## Methyl (6S)-6-(4-methoxyphenyl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydro-OMe pyridine-3-carboxylate (3.8.a)

Dihydropyridine **3.8.a** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.5** (63.1 mg,

MeO 0.20 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and 4-methoxyphenyl Bpin (117.1 mg, 0.50 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) with 50  $\mu$ L of water and heated to 80°C according to **the general procedure** for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectra match those of a reported compound.<sup>10</sup> Yield: 48.6 mg (89%); The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC analysis to be 91% *ee.* HPLC (Chiral-CD, water/acetonitrile = Gradient from 90:10 to 5:95, flow rate 1 mL/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 11.6 min (major), 12.1 min (minor); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.45 – 7.35 (m, 2H), 7.30 (s, 1H), 6.91 – 6.83 (m, 2H), 6.30 (d, *J* = 10.0 Hz, 1H), 4.75 (d, *J* = 10.0

Hz, 1H), 3.80 (s, 3H), 3.69 (s, 3H), 2.70 (s, 3H), 1.71 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.2, 158.8, 147.6, 138.0, 127.9, 120.1, 117.9, 113.6, 94.5, 62.7, 55.4, 50.8, 38.3, 24.9.

#### Methyl (6S)-1,6-dimethyl-6-[4-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl]-1,6-di-OMe hydropyridine-3-carboxylate (3.8.b)

Dihydropyridine **3.8.b** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.5** (63.1 mg, 0.20 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and 4-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl Bpin (136.1 mg,

0.50 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) with 50 µL of water and heated to 80°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n***-alkyl pyridinium salts**. <sup>1</sup>**H** and <sup>13</sup>**C** spectra match those of a reported compound.<sup>10</sup> **Yield:** 34.9 mg (56%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 74% *ee*. **HPLC** (Chiralpak-IA, 2-propanol/*n*-hexane = 90:10, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 8.35 min (major), 9.18 min (minor); <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.63 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.59 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.34 (s, 1H), 6.32 (d, *J* = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 4.75 (d, *J* = 10.0 Hz, 1H), 3.70 (s, 3H), 2.73 (s, 3H), 1.78 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  166.9, 149.4, 147.6, 129.7 (q, *J* = 32.5 Hz), 126.8, 125.6 (q, *J* = 3.6 Hz), 124.0 (q, *J* = 272.2 Hz), 119.4, 118.7, 95.2, 63.2, 50.9, 38.4, 25.0.



Ο

F۹

### Methyl (6*S*)-6-(4-methylphenyl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-(a) carboxylate (3.8.c)

Dihydropyridine **3.8.c** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.5** (63.1 mg, 0.20 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and 4-methylphenyl Bpin (109.1 mg, 0.50 mmol,

2.5 equiv.) with 50  $\mu$ L of water and heated to 80°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n***-alkyl pyridinium salts**. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectra match those of a reported compound.<sup>10</sup> **Yield** 33.7 mg (66 %); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 90% *ee*. **HPLC** (Chiral-CD, water/acetonitrile = gradient from 90:10 to 5:95, flow rate = 1.0

ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 14.4 min (major), 14.9 min (minor); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.35 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.32 (s, 1H), 7.17 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 6.29 (d, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 4.75 (d, *J* = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 3.70 (s, 3H), 2.71 (s, 3H), 2.34 (s, 3H), 1.72 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.2, 147.7, 142.8, 137.3, 129.2, 126.5, 120.1, 117. 9, 94.5, 63.0, 50.8, 38.4, 24.9, 21.1.

# O<br/>MethylMethyl(6S)-6-(4-bromophenyl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-<br/>carboxylate (3.8.d)

Dihydropyridine **3.8.d** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.5** (63.1 mg, 0.20 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and 4-bromophenyl Bpin (141.5 mg, 0.50 mmol,

2.5 equiv.) with 50 µL of water and heated to 80°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n***-alkyl pyridinium salts**. <sup>1</sup>**H** and <sup>13</sup>**C** spectra match those of a reported compound.<sup>10</sup> **Yield** 41.9 mg (65%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 89% *ee;* **HPLC** (Chiral-CD, water:acetonitrile = gradient from 90:10 to 5:95, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 11.2 min (major), 11.5 min (minor); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.48 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.34 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 7.30 (s, 1H), 6.30 (d, *J* = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 4.73 (d, *J* = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 3.69 (s, 3H), 2.71 (s, 3H), 1.72 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.1, 147.6, 144.8, 131.7, 128.4, 121.8, 119.7, 118.5, 95.1, 63.1, 50.9, 38.4, 24.9.

## Methyl (6S)-6-(4-chlorophenyl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-<sup>COMe</sup> carboxylate (3.8.e)

Dihydropyridine **3.8.e** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.5** (63.1 mg, 0.20 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and 4-chlorophenyl Bpin (119.3 mg, 0.50 mmol,

2.5 equiv.) with 50  $\mu$ L of water and heated to 80°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n***-alkyl pyridinium salts**. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectra match those of a reported compound.<sup>10</sup> **Yield:** 43.3 mg (78%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis

to be 94% *ee*. **HPLC** (Chiral-CD, water:acetonitrile = gradient from 80:20 to 5:95, flow rate = 0.5 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 10.2 min (major), 10.5 min (minor); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.42 – 7.39 (7.40 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 2H), 7.33 (s, 1H), 7.31 (d, *J* = 6.6 Hz, 2H), 6.30 (d, *J* = 10.0 Hz, 1H), 4.73 (d, *J* = 10.0 Hz, 1H), 3.69 (s, 3H), 2.71 (s, 3H), 1.72 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.0, 147.6, 144.2, 133.5, 128.7, 128.0, 119.6, 118.4, 94.9, 62.9, 50.9, 38.4, 24.9.

## Me<sup>1</sup> Me F

O

## Methyl (6*S*)-6-(4-methoxyphenyl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3carboxylate (8f)

Me Dihydropyridine **3.8.f** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.5** (63.1 mg, 0.20 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and 4-fluorophenyl Bpin (111.0 mg, 0.50 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) with 50 μL of water and heated to 80°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectra match those of a reported compound.<sup>10</sup> Yield: 44.9 mg (86%); The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC analysis to be 94% *ee.* HPLC (Chiral-CD, water:acetonitrile = gradient from 90:10 to 5:95, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 15.9 min (major), 16.7 min (minor);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : -24.3° (*c* 4.33 mg/mL CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.47 – 7.40 (m, 2H), 7.31 (s, 1H), 7.04 (t, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 6.31 (d, *J* = 9.7 Hz, 1H), 4.75 (d, *J* = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 3.70 (s, 3H), 2.71 (s, 3H), 1.73 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.1, 162.8, 161.2, 147.5, 141.6 (d, *J* = 3.1 Hz), 128.4 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz). 119.8, 118.2, 115.3, 115.2, 94.7, 62.7, 50.8, 38.3, 25.0.

## Methyl (6S)-6-(4-hydroxymethylphenyl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydro-OMe pyridine-3-carboxylate (3.8g)

MeDihydropyridine **3.8.g** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.5** (63.1 mg, 0.20<br/>mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and 4-hydroxymethylphenyl Bpin (117.1 mg, 0.50 mmol,<br/>0.50 mmol,OH2.5 equiv.) with 50 μL of water and heated to 80°C according to the general procedure for

dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectra match those of a reported compound.<sup>10</sup> Yield: 50.3 mg (92%); The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC analysis to be 94% *ee;* HPLC (Chiral-CD, water:acetonitrile = gradient from 90:10 to 5:95, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 10.6 min (major), 11.0 min (minor); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.45 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 7.36 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.31 (s, 1H), 6.27 (d, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 4.72 (t, *J* = 12.2 Hz, 1H), 4.68 (s, 2H), 3.68 (s, 3H), 2.70 (s, 3H), 1.73 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.2, 147.7, 145.7, 138.0, 129.2, 124.4, 120.2, 117.7, 94.4, 63.2, 50.8, 38.5, 24.9, 21.4.

## Methyl (6S)-6-(4-methoxycarbonylphenyl) -1,6-dihydropyridine-DMe 3-carboxylate (3.8.h)

Dihydropyridine **3.8.h** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.5** (63.1 mg, 0.20 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and 4-methoxycarbonylphenyl Bpin (131.1

mg, 0.50 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) with 50 μL of water and heated to 80°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n***-alkyl pyridinium salts**. <sup>1</sup>**H** and <sup>13</sup>**C** spectra match those of a reported compound.<sup>10</sup> **Yield:** 33.6 mg (64%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 92% *ee*; **HPLC** (Chiralpak-IG; 2-propanol:n-hexane = 1:4, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 25.7 min (major), 29.0 min (minor); <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 8.02 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 7.53 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.33 (s, 1H), 6.30 (d, J = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 4.74 (d, J = 10.0 Hz, 1H), 3.90 (s, 3H), 3.69 (s, 3H), 2.71 (s, 3H), 1.77 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.0, 166.8, 150.4, 147.7, 129.9, 129.3, 126.5, 119.5, 118.6, 95.0, 63.4, 52.4, 50.9, 38.5, 25.0.

MeO<sub>2</sub>C



Methyl 6-(4-acetylphenyl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3carboxylate (3.8.i)

Dihydropyridine **3.8.i** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.5** (63.1 mg, 0.20 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and 4-acetylphenyl Bpin (123.1 mg, 0.50 mmol,

Me 2.5 equiv.) with 50 µL of water and heated to 80°C according to the general procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. Yield 34.8 mg (61%); *ee*: We were not able to achieve acceptable separation for this compound on Chiral HPLC. For *ee*: see derivative S9; TLC:  $R_f 0.14$  (hexanes:EtOAc, 3:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : +376.3° (*c* 0.001 mg/mL CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.89 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.50 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.27 (s, 1H), 6.26 (dd, *J* = 9.9, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 4.69 (d, *J* = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 3.64 (s, 3H), 2.67 (s, 3H), 2.54 (s, 3H), 1.72 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  197.8, 167.0, 150.6, 147.7, 136.4, 128. 8, 126.8, 119.5, 118.9, 95.5, 63.5, 50.9, 38.5, 26.8, 25.1; HRMS (ESI) *m*/*z* Calcd for C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>20</sub>NO<sub>0</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 286.1437, found 286.1437.



## Methyl (6S)-1,6-dimethyl-6-[4-(prop-1-en-2-yl)phenyl]-1,6dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate (3.S.9)

**3.S.9** was synthesized from dihydropyridine **3.8.i** *via* the following procedure. To a 4 mL vial charged with a magnetic stir bar was added Ph<sub>3</sub>PCH<sub>3</sub>Br (71.44 mg, 0.20 mmol, 2.0 equiv.). To a separate vial charged with a stir bar was added **3.8.i** (28.5 mg, 0.10 mmol, 1.0 equiv.). Both vials and a third 4 mL vial were pumped into a glovebox. The Ph<sub>3</sub>PCH<sub>3</sub>Br and **3.8.i** were dissolved in THF (1.0 mL and 0.5 mL, respectively). To the third vial was added K<sup>i</sup>OBu (23.6 mg, 0.21 mmol, 2.1 equiv.) and THF (1.0 mL). All vials were then removed from the glovebox and cooled to 0 °C. The solution of K<sup>i</sup>OBu was added to the solution of Ph<sub>3</sub>PCH<sub>3</sub>Br and allowed to stir for one hour. The solution of Wittig reagent was added to the solution of **3.8.i** and allowed to warm to room temperature overnight. After 18 hours, the reaction was diluted to 5 mL with ethyl acetate and filtered over celite. The reaction vials were rinsed with 5 mL of ethyl acetate, and the rinse was filtered over the celite. The filter was then rinsed with an additional 5 mL of ethyl acetate. The filtrate was concentrated under reduced pressure to afford a yellow oil. The oil was adsorbed onto celite and purified *via* automated flash column. The fractions were concentrated under reduced pressure to give **3.S.9** as a clear oil. **Yield** 14.1 mg (50%, 80% BRSM); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 92% *ee*; **HPLC** (Chiral-CD; water/acetonitrile = gradient from 90:10 to 5:95, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 11.8 min (major), 12.3 min (minor); **TLC:** R*f* 0.15 (hexanes:EtOAc, 9:1); **[***a***]p<sup>20</sup>** -568.7° (*c* 0.001 mg/mL CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.45 (dd, J = 21.8, 8.4 Hz, 4H), 7.32 (s, 1H), 6.32 (d, J = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 5.38 (s, 1H), 5.10 (s, 1H), 4.77 (d, J = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 3.71 (s, 3H), 2.74 (s, 3H), 2.15 (s, 3H), 1.75 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.1, 147.6, 144.8, 142.8, 140.6, 126.6, 125.7, 120.0, 118.4, 113.0, 95.1, 63.2, 50.8, 38.4, 24.9, 21.9; **HRMS** (ESI) *m*/*z* Calcd for C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>22</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 284.1645, found 284.1646.



### Methyl (6S)-6-(2-napthalen-2-yl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydroe pyridine-3-carboxylate (3.8.j)

Dihydropyridine **3.8.j** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.5** (63.1 mg, 0.20 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and 2-napthyl Bpin (127.1 mg, 0.50 mmol, 2.5

equiv.) with 50 µL of water and heated to 80°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n***-alkyl pyridinium salts**. <sup>1</sup>**H** and <sup>13</sup>**C** spectra match those of a reported compound.<sup>10</sup> **Yield** 55.2 (94%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 76% *ee*; **HPLC** (Chiral-CD; water:acetonitrile = gradient from 80:20 to 5:95, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 13.7 min (major), 14.9 min (minor); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.85 (dd, *J* = 14.6, 7.9 Hz, 3H), 7.78 – 7.73 (m, *J* = 10.9 Hz, 2H), 7.54 – 7.47 (m, 2H), 7.39 (s, 1H), 6.36 (d, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 4.81 (d, *J* = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 3.73 (s, 3H), 2.72 (s, 3H), 1.87 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.2, 147.8, 142.7, 132.8, 132.6, 128.7, 128.4, 127.6, 126.5, 126.4, 125.7, 123.9, 119.8, 118.4, 94.7, 63.5, 50.8, 38.4, 24.9.

#### Methyl (6*S*)-6-(cyclohex-1-ene-1-yl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-OMe 3-carboxylate (3.8.k)

Me Dihydropyridine **3.8.k** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.5** (63.1 mg, 0.20 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and 1-cyclohexen-1-yl Bpin (104.1 mg, 0.50 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) with 50 μL of water and heated to 80°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectra match those of a reported compound.<sup>10</sup> Yield 16.8 mg (34%); The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC analysis to be 88% *ee* (250 nm, 25 °C); HPLC (Chiral-CD, water/acetonitrile = gradient from 90:10 to 5:95, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 14.2 min (major), 14.4 min (minor); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.26 (s, 1H) 6.28 (d, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 5.61 (s, 1H), 4.54 (d, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 3.66 (s, 3H), 2.78 (s, 3H), 2.24 (d, *J* = 16.8 Hz, 1H), 2.07 (s, 2H), 1.89 (d, *J* = 16.8 Hz, 1H), 1.67 – 1.56 (m, 2H), 1.55 (d, *J* = 5.4 Hz, 2H), 1.42 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.1, 148.5, 140.2, 122.5, 120.0, 118.9, 94.3, 64.4, 50.6, 37.5, 25.3, 25.2, 24.2, 23.0, 22.2.



Me

## Methyl (6*S*)-6-(1*H*-indol-5-yl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3carboxylate (3.8.l)

Dihydropyridine **3.8.1** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.5** (63.1 mg, 0.20 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and 5-indole Bpin (121.6 mg, 0.50 mmol, 2.5

equiv.) with 50  $\mu$ L of water and heated to 80°C according to the general procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectra match those of a reported compound.<sup>10</sup> Yield 42.6 mg (92%); The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC analysis

to be 92% *ee*; **HPLC** (Chiral-CD; water:acetonitrile = gradient from 90:10 to 5:95, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 12.7 min (major), 13.3 min (minor); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CD<sub>3</sub>OD) δ 7.62 (s, 1H), 7.42 (s, 1H), 7.38 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.33 (s, 1H), 7.24 (s, 1H), 6.45 (s, 1H), 6.22 (d, *J* = 9.2 Hz, 1H), 4.82 (d, *J* = 9.1 Hz, 1H), 3.68 (s, 3H), 2.73 (s, 3H), 1.81 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CD<sub>3</sub>OD) δ 168.2, 148.3, 136.3, 135.5, 127.7, 125.0, 120.8, 120.8, 117.4, 116.5, 111.0, 101.5, 93.3, 63.5, 49.9, 37.4, 24.2.

Μe

i-Pr

## Methyl (6S)-6-ethyl-1-methyl-6-phenyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-OMe carboxylate (3.8.m)

Me Dihydropyridine **3.8.m** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.7.m** (65.8 mg, 0.20 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and phenyl Bpin (102.1 mg, 0.50 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) with 50 μL of water and heated to 80°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectra match those of a reported compound.<sup>10</sup> Yield: 32.0 mg (62%); The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC analysis to be 98% *ee;* HPLC (Chiral-CD; water:acetonitrile = gradient from 90:10 to 5:95, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 11.7 min (major, 12.6 min (minor); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.51 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.44 (s, 1H), 7.39 (t, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 2H), 7.29 (dd, *J* = 8.5, 6.1 Hz, 1H), 6.43 (d, *J* = 10.0 Hz, 1H), 4.61 (d, *J* = 10.1 Hz, 1H), 3.73 (s, 3H), 2.70 (s, 3H), 2.33 (dq, *J* = 14.4, 7.2 Hz, 1H), 1.74 (dq, *J* = 14.6, 7.4 Hz, 1H), 1.16 (t, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.2, 148.9, 146.0, 128.5, 127.6, 126.7, 119.7, 118.3, 94.2, 67.2, 50.7, 38.0, 29.1, 8.4.

## Methyl 1-methyl-6-phenyl-6-(propan-2-yl)-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-OMe carboxylate (3.8.n)

Dihydropyridine **3.8.n** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.7.n** (68.7 mg, 0.20 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and phenyl Bpin (102.1 mg, 0.50 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) with 50 μL of water

and heated to 80°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n*-alkyl **pyridinium salts**. **Yield** 5.2 mg (10%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 91% *ee*; **HPLC** (Chiral-CD; water:acetonitrile = gradient from 90:10 to 5:95, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 7.76 min (major), 7.58 min (minor); **TLC** R<sub>*f*</sub> 0.15 (hexanes:EtOAc, 3:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : +256.0° (*c* 0.002, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.54 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 7.38 (t, J = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.30 – 7.23 (m, 3H), 7.20 (s, 1H), 6.65 (d, J = 10.4 Hz, 1H), 4.81 (d, J = 10.3 Hz, 1H), 3.70 (s, 3H), 2.89 (p, J = 6.7 Hz, 1H), 2.62 (s, 3H), 1.15 (d, J = 6.6 Hz, 3H), 0.88 (d, J = 6.7 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.3, 147.9, 142.6, 129.0, 128.9, 128.3, 127.6, 122.2, 112.6, 94.5, 50.7, 37.9, 30.6, 17.9, 15.8; **HRMS** (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>22</sub>O<sub>2</sub>N [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 272.1645, found 272.1646.



### Methyl 6-(4-methoxyphenyl)-1-methyl-6-phenyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate (3.8.0)

MeO Dihydropyridine **3.8.0** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.7.0** (74.5 mg, 0.20 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and phenyl Bpin (102.1 mg, 0.50 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) with 50 μL of water and heated to 80°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectra match those of a reported compound.<sup>10</sup> Yield 12.7 mg (19 %); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 62% *ee*; HPLC (Chiralpak-IG; 2-propanol:n-hexane = 1:4, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 12.3 min (major), 13.6 min (minor);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : -294.3° (*c* 1.47 mg/mL CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl3) δ 7.45 – 7.34 (m, 9H), 7.30 (dd, J = 9.6, 4.3 Hz, 2H), 6.44 (dd, J = 9.9, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 5.12 (d, J = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 3.70 (s, 3H), 2.72 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl3) δ 167.2, 158.8, 147.0, 143.1, 135.1, 130.0, 128.5, 127.9, 127.3, 119.8, 118.0, 113.6, 95.5, 70.6, 55.5, 50.9, 40.7.

#### Methyl (6S)-1-ethyl-6-methyl-6-phenyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-OMe Carboxylate (3.8.p)

Me

Dihydropyridine **3.8.p** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.7.p** (65.9 mg, 0.20 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and phenyl Bpin (102.1 mg, 0.50 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) with 50  $\mu$ L of water and heated to 80°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectra match those of a reported compound.<sup>10</sup> Yield 21.9 mg (69%); The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC analysis to be 82% *ee*; HPLC (Chiral-CD; water:acetonitrile = gradient from 90:10 to 5:95, flow rate = 0.5 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 15.6 min (major), 15.2 min (minor); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl3)  $\delta$  7.46 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 7.43 (s, 1H), 7.34 (t, J = 7.7 Hz, 2H), 7.24 (t, J = 3.6 Hz, 1H), 6.30 (dd, J = 9.9, 1.0 Hz, 1H), 4.75 (d, J = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 3.69 (s, 3H), 3.02 – 2.85 (m, 2H), 1.71 (s, 3H), 1.05 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 3H) <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl3)  $\delta$  167.2, 146.4, 145.4, 128.4, 127.6, 126.8, 120.3, 117.8, 94.9, 63.8, 50.8, 44.4, 26.1, 16.3.

#### Methyl (6S)-1-benzyl-6-methyl-6-phenyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-OMe Carboxylate (3.8.q)

Dihydropyridine **3.8.q** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.7.q** (78.3 mg, 0.20 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and phenyl Bpin (102.1 mg, 0.50 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) with 50  $\mu$ L of water and heated to 80°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n***-alkyl pyridinium salts**. <sup>1</sup>**H** and <sup>13</sup>**C** spectra match those of a reported compound.<sup>10</sup> **Yield** 20.4 mg (64%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 71% *ee*; **HPLC** (Chiralpak-ID; 2-propanol:*n*-hexane = 20:80, flow rate = 1.0 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 8.4 min (major), 9.2 min (minor); <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (500 MHz, CDCl3)  $\delta$  7.51 (d, J = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 7.35 (t, J = 7.7 Hz, 3H), 7.26 (m, 4H), 7.07 (d, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 6.35 (dd, J = 10.0, 1.1 Hz, 1H), 4.85 (d, J = 10.0 Hz, 1H), 4.06 (s,

2H), 3.65 (s, 3H), 1.67 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl3) δ 167.1, 146.3, 146.0, 137.6, 128.8, 128.5, 127.8, 127.7, 127.5, 126.9, 121.0, 118.1, 96.0, 63.9, 53.7, 50.8, 26.3.

## Methyl 1-benzyl-6-(furan-3-yl)-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate OMe (3.10.a)

Dihydropyridine **3.10.a** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.9.a** (37.7 mg, 0.10 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and 3-furanyl Bpin (38.8 mg, 0.25 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) with 50 µL of water and heated to 60°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. Yield: 25.6 mg (87 %); The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC analysis to be 95% *ee*; HPLC (Chiralpak-ID; 2-propanol:n-hexane = 20:80, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 8.9 min (major), 8.3 min (minor); TLC R<sub>f</sub> 0.22 (hexanes:EtOAc, 4:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$  - 225.8° (*c* 0.009, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.45 (d, J = 1.5 Hz, 1H), 7.44 – 7.31 (m, 4H), 7.31 – 7.25 (m, 3H), 6.47 (dd, J = 9.1, 1.6 Hz, 2H), 5.07 – 4.94 (m, 2H), 4.28 (d, J = 2.7 Hz, 2H), 3.72 (s, 3H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.2, 146.9, 144.2, 139.4, 135.5, 129.1, 128.4, 128.0, 126.0, 121.2, 113.0, 109.9, 96.7, 57.4, 51.9, 50.9; HRMS (ESI) *m*/*z* Calcd for C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>18</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 296.1281, found 296.1281.



## Methyl 6-(1-benzofuran-2-yl)-1-benzyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3e carboxylate (3.10.b)

Dihydropyridine **10b** was synthesized from pyridinium **9a** (37.7 mg, 0.10 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and 2-benzofuranyl Bpin (48.8 mg, 0.25 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) with 50  $\mu$ L of water and heated to 60°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. Yield: 30.0 mg (87 %); The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC analysis to be 92% *ee;* HPLC (Chiralpak-ID; 2-propanol:n-hexane = 20:80, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 9.6 min (major), 8.8 min (minor); TLC R<sub>f</sub> 0.25 (hexanes:EtOAc, 4:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$  -

222.2° (*c* 0.012, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.58 – 7.52 (m, 1H), 7.51 – 7.46 (m, 2H), 7.45 – 7.27 (m, 6H), 7.23 (t, J = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 6.66 – 6.60 (m, 2H), 5.25 (d, J = 4.7 Hz, 1H), 5.10 (dd, J = 9.7, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 4.50 (d, J = 15.1 Hz, 1H), 4.40 (d, J = 15.1 Hz, 1H), 3.73 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>**C** NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.1, 156.5, 155.3, 146.4, 135.5, 129.1, 128.4, 128.1, 128.1, 124.7, 123.1, 123.1, 121.4, 111.7, 109.9, 105.3, 97.6, 58.4, 54.2, 51.0; **HRMS** (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>22</sub>H<sub>20</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 346.1438, found 346.1437.

## Methyl 1-benzyl-6-(1H-indol-2-yl)-1,6-dihydropyridine-3e carboxylate (3.10.c)

Dihydropyridine **3.10.c** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.9.a** (37.7 mg, 0.10 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and indole-2 Bpin (48.6 mg, 0.25 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) with 50 µL of water and heated to 60°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n***-alkyl pyridinium salts. Yield:** 48.6 mg (71 %); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 91% *ee*; **HPLC** (Chiralpak-ID; 2-propanol:n-hexane = 20:80, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 8.1 min (major), 6.4 min (minor); **TLC** R<sub>*f*</sub> 0.16 (hexanes:EtOAc, 4:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$  - 75.5° (*c* 0.005, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.37 (s, 1H), 7.59 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.52 (s, 0H), 7.44 – 7.34 (m, 4H), 7.33 – 7.28 (m, 2H), 7.22 (t, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 7.12 (t, J = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 6.64 (d, J = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 6.34 (s, 1H), 5.23 (d, J = 4.6 Hz, 1H), 5.11 (dd, J = 9.9, 4.6 Hz, 1H), 4.35 (d, J = 15.0 Hz, 1H), 4.25 (d, J = 15.1 Hz, 1H), 3.76 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C **NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.1, 146.9, 136.9, 136.8, 135.2, 129.2, 128.5, 128.1, 127.8, 122.9, 122.2, 121.0, 120.3, 111.7, 111.4, 101.2, 96.4, 57.5, 54.2, 51.1. **HRMS** (ESI) *m*/*z* Calcd for C<sub>22</sub>H<sub>21</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 345.1598, found 345.1597.

Methyl 1-benzyl-6-(thiophen-3-yl)-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate OMe (3.10.d)

Dihydropyridine **3.10.d** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.9.a** (37.7 mg, 0.10 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and thiophene-3 Bpin (42.0 mg, 0.25 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) with 50 µL of water and heated to 60°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. Yield: 23.1 mg (74 %); The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC analysis to be 95% *ee*; HPLC (Chiralpak-ID; 2-propanol:n-hexane = 20:80, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 9.1 min (major), 8.6 min (minor); TLC R<sub>f</sub> 0.25 (hexanes:EtOAc, 4:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$  - 270.3° (*c* 0.009, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.48 (s, 1H), 7.42 – 7.28 (m, 5H), 7.17 (dd, J = 5.0, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.11 (d, J = 1.7 Hz, 1H), 6.46 (d, J = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 5.13 (d, J = 4.5 Hz, 1H), 5.05 (dd, J = 9.9, 4.5 Hz, 1H), 4.27 (d, J = 15.1 Hz, 1H), 4.21 (d, J = 15.1 Hz, 1H), 3.72 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.2, 146.8, 143.1, 135.5, 129.1, 129.1, 128.3, 128.0, 127.1, 127.0, 122.3, 120.7, 113.8, 96.5, 57.7, 56.0, 50.9; HRMS (ESI) *m*/*z* Calcd for C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>18</sub>NO<sub>2</sub>S [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 312.1052, found 312.1053.



## Methyl 6-(1-benzothiophen-2-yl)-1-benzyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-<sup>1e</sup> 3-carboxylate (3.10.e)

Dihydropyridine **3.10.e** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.9.a** (37.7 mg, 0.10 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and benzothiophene-2 Bpin (52.0 mg, 0.25 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) with 50  $\mu$ L of water and heated to 60°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n*-**alkyl pyridinium salts**. **Yield:** 32.3 mg (89 %); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 87% *ee*; **HPLC** (Chiralpak-ID; 2-propanol:n-hexane = 80:20, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 13.5 min (major), 11.1 min (minor); **TLC** R<sub>f</sub> 0.26 (hexanes:EtOAc, 4:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$  -314.8° (*c* 0.012, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.81 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 1H), 7.73 (d,

J = 7.1 Hz, 1H), 7.50 (s, 1H), 7.44 – 7.22 (m, 7H), 7.13 (s, 1H), 6.55 (d, J = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 5.39 (d, J = 4.5 Hz, 1H), 5.15 (dd, J = 9.8, 4.6 Hz, 1H), 4.39 (d, J = 15.1 Hz, 1H), 4.34 (d, J = 15.2 Hz, 1H), 3.74 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.0, 146.3, 146.0, 140.4, 139.3, 135.3, 129.2, 128.5, 128.1, 124.8, 124.6, 124.0, 122.8, 121.6, 121.5, 113.3, 97.3, 57.8, 56.6, 51.0; HRMS (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>22</sub>H<sub>20</sub>NO<sub>2</sub>S [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 362.1209, found 362.1209.



## Methyl 6-(1-benzothiophen-3-yl)-1-benzyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3carboxylate (3.10.f)

Dihydropyridine **3.10.f** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.9.a** (37.7 mg, 0.10 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and benzothiophene-2 Bpin (52.0 mg, 0.25 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) with 50  $\mu$ L of water and heated to 60°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. Yield: 33.4 mg (92 %); The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC analysis to be 82% *ee;* HPLC (Chiralpak-ID; 2-propanol:n-hexane = 20:80, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 9.6 min (major), 8.6 min (minor); TLC R<sub>f</sub> 0.23 (hexanes:EtOAc, 4:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$  -153.4° (*c* 0.015 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.98 – 7.91 (m, 1H), 7.92 – 7.84 (m, 1H), 7.62 (s, 1H), 7.49 – 7.33 (m, 5H), 7.26 (s, 1H), 7.23 – 7.12 (m, 2H), 6.48 (dt, J = 10.0, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 5.59 (dd, J = 3.8, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 5.04 (dd, J = 10.1, 3.9 Hz, 1H), 4.23 (d, J = 15.2 Hz, 1H), 4.06 (d, J = 15.3 Hz, 1H), 3.77 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.3, 147.4, 141.3, 137.1, 136.8, 135.1, 129.1, 128.4, 128.0, 124.9, 124.8, 124.6, 123.2, 122.7, 121.2, 113.6, 96.0, 57.9, 56.7, 51.0; HRMS (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>22</sub>H<sub>20</sub>NO<sub>2</sub>S [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 362.1209, found 362.1209.



## Ethyl 1-benzyl-2-methyl-6-phenyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate OEt (3.10.g)

Dihydropyridine **3.10.g** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.9.g** (40.5 mg, 0.10 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and phenyl Bpin (51.1 mg, 0.25 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) with 100 μL of water

and heated to 60°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. Product was isolated on a manual flash column, 10% - 20% PhMe:Hexanes. Yield 20.7 mg (62%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 96% *ee;* HPLC (Chiralpak-ID; 2-propanol:n-hexane = 5:95, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 10.7 min (major), 9.7 min (minor); TLC Rf 0.15 (hexanes:EtOAc 4:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$  -569.2° (*c* 0.010 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.33 – 7.28 (m, 3H), 7.28 – 7.21 (m, 5H), 7.20 – 7.16 (m, 2H), 6.59 (d, J = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 5.10 (dd, J = 9.9, 5.1 Hz, 1H), 4.96 (d, J = 5.1 Hz, 1H), 4.78 (d, J = 17.0 Hz, 1H), 4.10 (qd, J = 7.1, 1.8 Hz, 2H), 2.48 (s, 3H), 1.24 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.7, 156.4, 143.4, 136.9, 129.1, 129.0, 128.1, 127.7, 126.6, 126.4, 123.2, 112.6, 97.1, 64.0, 59.3, 52.4, 16.5, 14.7; HRMS (ESI) m/z Calcd for C<sub>22</sub>H<sub>24</sub> O<sub>2</sub>N [M+H]+ 334.1801, found 334.1794.



Me Dihydropyridine **3.10.h** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.9.h** (39.1 mg, 0.10 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and phenyl Bpin (51.1 mg, 0.25 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) with 100 μL of water and heated to 40°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. Yield: 14.8 mg (49%); The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC analysis to be 94% *ee*; HPLC (Chiral-CD; water:acetonitrile = gradient from 90:10 to 5:95, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 4.6 min (major), 5.0 min (minor); TLC: Rf 0.01 (hexanes:EtOAc 4:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$  -320.4° (*c* 0.007; CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.33 – 7.25 (m, 3H), 7.27 – 7.19 (m, 5H), 7.21 – 7.15 (m, 2H), 6.58 (d, J = 9.9 Hz, 1H), 5.08 (dd, J = 9.9, 5.1 Hz, 1H), 4.95 (d, J = 5.1 Hz, 1H), 4.77 (d, J = 17.0 Hz, 1H), 4.09 (qd, J = 7.1, 1.8 Hz, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.7, 156.4, 143.4, 136.9, 129.1, 129.0, 128.1, 127.7,

126.7, 126.4, 123.2, 112.6, 97.1, 64.0, 59.3, 52.4, 16.5, 14.7; **HRMS** (ESI) m/z Calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>22</sub>O<sub>2</sub>N [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 320.1645, found 320.1636.



### Methyl 5-fluoro-1-methyl-6-phenyl-1,6-dihydropyridine-3carboxvlate (3.10.i)

Me Dihydropyridine **3.10.i** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.9.i** (39.1 mg, 0.10 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and phenyl Bpin (51.1 mg, 0.25 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) with 250 μL of water and stirred at 23°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts. Yield 4.9 mg (20%); The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC analysis to be 92% *ee*; HPLC (Chiralpak-ID; 2-propanol:n-hexane = 10:90, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 14.7 min (major), 11.6 min (minor); TLC R<sub>f</sub> 0.31 (hexanes:EtOAc, 4:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : -11.7° (*c* 0.001, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.42 – 7.32 (m, 5H), 7.27 (s, 2H), 6.17 (d, J = 13.2 Hz, 1H), 5.14 (d, J = 4.1 Hz, 1H), 3.72 (s, 3H), 2.84 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 166.7 (d, J = 3.5 Hz), 149.8, 147.8, 143.3, 138.7 (d, J = 3.3 Hz), 129.2, 129.0, 127.4, 99.5 (d, J = 17.9 Hz), 64.6 (d, J = 34.8 Hz), 51.0, 41.2 (d, J = 1.8 Hz); <sup>19</sup>F NMR (471 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ - 122.87; HRMS (ESI) *m*/*z* Calcd for C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>15</sub>O<sub>2</sub>NF [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 248.1081, found 248.1082.



## 1-methyl-6-phenyl-N,N-di(propan-2-yl)-1,6-dihydropyridine-3-<sup>o</sup>r)<sub>2</sub> carboxamide (3.10.j)

**Me** Dihydropyridine **3.10.j** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.9.j** (37.0 mg, 0.10 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and phenyl Bpin (51.1 mg, 0.25 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) with 250  $\mu$ L of water and heated to 60°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n***-alkyl pyridinium salts**. **Yield** 24.4 mg (41%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 45% *ee*; **HPLC** (Chiralpak-IG; 2-propanol:n-hexane = 20:80, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 10.2 min (major), 11.9 min (minor); **TLC** R<sub>f</sub> 0.15 (hexanes:EtOAc, 3:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ :

-36.0° (*c* 0.009, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.38 – 7.27 (m, 5H), 6.84 (s, 1H), 5.98 (dt, *J* = 9.8, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 5.06 (d, *J* = 4.2 Hz, 1H), 4.97 – 4.93 (m, 1H), 3.77 – 3.69 (m, 2H), 2.71 (s, 3H), 1.30 (dd, *J* = 6.5, 5.2 Hz, 12H); <sup>13</sup>**C** NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 170.4, 143.8, 143.1, 128.9, 128.1, 126.9, 121.7, 112.9, 101.5, 75.1, 64.3, 48.1, 41.5, 25.0, 21.6, 21.5; **HRMS** (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>19</sub>H<sub>27</sub>ON<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 299.2117, found 299.2110.

#### 1-methyl-2-phenyl-1,2-dihydroquinoline (3.10.k)

Dihydropyridine **3.10.k** was synthesized from pyridinium **3.9.k** (29.3 mg, 0.10 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and phenyl Bpin (51.1 mg, 0.25 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) with 50 µL of water and heated to 40°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n***-alkyl pyridinium salts**. Product was isolated on a manual flash column, EtOAc:Hexanes 10% – 20% PhMe:Hexanes. **Yield** 31.2 mg (71%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 91% *ee*; **HPLC** (Chiralpak-IC; 2-propanol:n-hexane = 10:90, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 5.68 min (major), 6.75 min (minor); **TLC** R<sub>f</sub> 0.38 (hexanes:PhMe, 80:20);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$  -198.1° (*c* 0.005, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.28 – 7.14 (m, 5H), 7.01 (td, *J* = 7.9, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 6.83 (dd, *J* = 7.3, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 6.53 (td, *J* = 7.4, 0.9 Hz, 1H), 6.36 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 6.30 (d, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 5.58 (dd, *J* = 9.8, 4.9 Hz, 1H), 5.07 (dd, *J* = 4.9, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 2.63 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  144.8, 142.6, 129.4, 128.7, 127.8, 126.9, 126.4, 125.5, 124.5, 120.8, 116.4, 109.5, 65.8, 36.0; **HRMS** (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>16</sub>N [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 222.1277, found 222.1278.



Methyl 1-methyl-2-phenyl-1,2-dihydroquinoline-3-carboxylate (3.10.l) Dihydropyridine 3.10.l was synthesized from pyridinium 3.9.l (35.1 mg, 0.10 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and phenyl Bpin (51.1 mg, 0.25 mmol, 2.5 equiv.) with 50

 $\mu$ L of water and heated to 40°C according to **the general procedure for dearomatization of** *n*-**alkyl pyridinium salts**. **Yield:** 26.1 mg (39%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by

HPLC analysis to be 82% *ee*; **HPLC** (Chiralpak-IG; 2-propanol:n-hexane = 20:80, flow rate = 1 ml/min, l = 250 nm) tR = 6.9 min (major), 6.3 min (minor); **TLC**  $R_f 0.45$  (Toluene);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$  -214.8° (*c* 0.012, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl3)  $\delta$  7.54 (s, 1H), 7.33 – 7.28 (m, 2H), 7.25 – 7.18 (m, 4H), 7.12 (d, J = 5.9 Hz, 1H), 6.67 (t, J = 6.9 Hz, 1H), 6.45 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 5.45 (s, 1H), 3.72 (s, 3H), 2.80 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl3)  $\delta$  166.2, 146.1, 140.9, 134.7, 132.5, 130.0, 128.6, 128.2, 126.7, 124.1, 119.9, 116.9, 110.8, 63.7, 51.8, 36.4; **HRMS** (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>18</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 280.1332, found 280.1332. 334.1794.

#### **3.6.5.** Synthesis of Nuphar Indolizidine (3.2) :

Ο

#### Ethyl 2-(3-hydroxyprop-1-yn-1-yl)pyridine-3-carboxylate (3.12)

The procedure was modified from a previously reported reaction.<sup>24</sup> To a Schlenk tube (10 mL) charged with  $N_2$  and a magnetic stirbar was added ethyl-2-

iodonicotinate (500.0 mg, 1.80 mmol, 1.0 equiv.), propargyl alcohol (0.13 mL, 2.16 mmol, 1.2 equiv.), Et<sub>3</sub>N (1.00 mL, 7.2 mmol, 4.0 equiv.), CuI (34.3 mg, 0.18 mmol, 0.10 equiv.), PdCl<sub>2</sub>(Ph<sub>3</sub>P)<sub>2</sub> (63.1 mg, 0.09 mmol, 0.05 equiv.) and THF (3.6 mL) The reaction was stirred under N<sub>2</sub>, at 30 °C for 2 hours. After cooling to room temperature, the reaction was filtered over silica and the solids were rinsed with EtOAc (50 mL). The filtrate was concentrated under reduced pressure and purified *via* flash column chromatography to afford **3.12** as a light orange solid. **Yield** 440.5 mg (91%); **TLC** R<sub>*f*</sub> 0.22 (hexanes: EtOAc, 1:1.5); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 8.70 (dd, *J*=4.8, 1.7 Hz, 1H), 8.25 (dd, *J*=8.0, 1.7 Hz, 1H), 7.33 (dd, *J*=8.0, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 4.58 (d, *J*=5.4 Hz, 2H), 4.42 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.03 (t, *J*=5.9 Hz, 1H), 1.42 (t, *J*=7.1 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 165.0, 152.5, 142.3, 138.3, 128.7, 122.7, 93.1, 84.1, 62.0, 51.7, 14.3 **HRMS** (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>11</sub>NaNO<sub>3</sub> [M+Na]<sup>+</sup>: 228.0637 found: 228.0639. Both <sup>1</sup>H NMR and <sup>13</sup>C NMR matched previously reported spectral data of (**12**).<sup>24</sup>



#### Ethyl 2-(3-hydroxypropyl)pyridine-3-carboxylate (3.13)

The procedure was modified from a previously reported reaction.<sup>23</sup> A sealed vial (20 mL) with magnetic stirbar was charged with **3.12** (1.04 g, 5.07 mmol, 1.0

equiv.), PtO<sub>2</sub> (28.8 mg, 0.13 mmol 0.025 equiv.), and MeOH (7.25 mL). The solution was stirred under H<sub>2</sub> (1 atm) at room temperature for 18 hours, after which additional PtO<sub>2</sub> (20.0 mg, 0.09 mmol, 0.015 equiv.) was added. After 5 hours the reaction was filtered over celite and the solids were rinsed with DCM (30 mL). The filtrate was concentrated under reduced pressure and purified *via* flash column chromatography to afford **3.13** as a light yellow oil. **Yield** 955 mg (90%); **TLC** R<sub>f</sub> 0.31 (hexanes: EtOAc 1:9); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.63 (dd, J=4.7, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 8.17 (dd, J=7.9, 1.7 Hz, 1H), 7.23 (dd. J=7.9, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 4.39 (q, J=7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.64 (t, J=5.8 Hz, 2H), 3.42 (br s, 1H), 3.31 (t, J=6.9 Hz, 2H), 2.08 - 2.01 (m, 2H), 1.40 (t, J=7.1 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  166.6, 162.5, 151.4, 138.6, 126.0, 120.9, 61.7, 61.5, 33.0, 32.1, 14.1; **HRMS** (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>16</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 210.1130 found: 210.1139.

## O 8-(ethoxycarbonyl)-2,3-dihydro-1H-indolizin-4-ium hexafluorophosphate (3.14)

The procedure was modified from a previously reported reaction.<sup>23</sup> To a roundbottom flask (200 mL) charged with N<sub>2</sub> and a magnetic stirbar was added **3.13** (3.20 g, 15.5 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and DCM (77.3 mL). The reaction was cooled to 0 °C, after which Et<sub>3</sub>N (5.76 mL, 41.9 mmol, 2.67 equiv.) was added. Still at 0 °C, mesyl chloride was added dropwise. The reaction was allowed to stir and slowly warm to room temperature over 3 hours. The resulting mixture was concentrated under reduced pressure to give a dark purple waxy solid. The resulting solid was solvated in 50 mL of DCM and added to a 250 mL round-bottom flask. To the flask was added an aqueous solution of KPF<sub>6</sub> (5.71 g, 31.00 mmol, 2.00 equiv) in 50 mL of water. The biphasic mixture was allowed to stir rapidly at room temperature for 16 hours. The resulting layers were separated, and the aqueous layer was extracted with DCM (2 x 50 mL). The combined organic layers were dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> which was then removed by filtration. The resulting dark red solution was concentrated under reduced pressure to give a mixture of dark red and white solids. The solids were solvated in DCM (20 mL) and the resulting solution was added dropwise to rapidly stirring CHCl<sub>3</sub> (250 mL). The precipitated solids were removed by filtration and dried under reduced pressure. The resulting crude off-white solids were used as-is without further purification. **Yield** 5226.6 mg (100%); <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (500 MHz, DMSO-d6)  $\delta$  9.20 (d, J = 6.0 Hz, 1H), 8.90 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 8.09 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 4.86 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 4.42 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.73 (t, J = 7.7 Hz, 2H), 2.40 (p, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 1.37 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, DMSO-d6)  $\delta$  162.74, 161.00, 146.00, 145.26, 127.33, 126.18, 62.94, 59.74, 34.10, 21.29, 14.37; <sup>19</sup>F NMR (471 MHz, DMSO-d6)  $\delta$  -69.40, -70.91; <sup>31</sup>P NMR (203 MHz, DMSO-d6)  $\delta$  -133.66, -137.17, -140.68, -144.19, -147.71, -151.22, -154.73; **HRMS** (ESI) m/z Calcd for C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>14</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M-PF<sub>6</sub>]<sup>+</sup>: 192.1019 found: 192.1020

## Ethyl (5S)-5-(furan-3-yl)-1,2,3,5-tetrahydroindolizine-8-carboxylate OEt (3.15)

In a glove box, to a vial (4 mL) charged with a magnetic stirbar, **3.14** (67.44 mg, 0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv.), 3-furanboronic acid pinacol ester (97.00 mg, 0.50 mmol, 2.5 equiv.), and Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (63.59 mg, 0.60 mmol, 3.0 equiv.) was added a solution of Rh(COD)<sub>2</sub>BF<sub>4</sub> (4.87 mg, 0.012 mmol, 0.06 equiv.) and S-BINAP (8.71 mg, 0.014 mmol, 0.07 equiv.) in dioxane (2.00 mL). The Rh and BINAP in dioxane solution was stirred for 30 minutes in the glovebox before addition to the 4 mL vial with substrate. The 4 mL vial was sealed with a septa cap in the glove box, and on the bench-top, degassed H<sub>2</sub>O (0.100 mL) was added. The reaction was let stir at room

temperature. After 12 hours, the reaction was diluted with EtOAc (1 mL) and MgSO<sub>4</sub> was added into the solution. The resulting mixture was filtered over Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, and the solids were rinsed with EtOAc (5 mL). The filtrate was concentrated under reduced pressure and purified *via* flash column chromatography to afford **3.15** as a dark green oil. **Yield** 40.8 mg (79%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC to be 94% *ee*; **HPLC** (Chiral-CD Water:Acetonitrile = gradient from 75:25 to 95:5, flow rate = 1 ml/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 7.7 min (major), 8.2 min (minor);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : +17.4° (*c* 0.003 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); **TLC** R<sub>f</sub> 0.26 (hexanes:EtOAc 1:4); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.39 (t, J=1.5 Hz, 1H), 7.35 (s 1H). 6.57 (dd, J=9.9, 1.0 Hz, 1H), 6.43 (d, J=0.9 Hz, 1H), 5.27 (d, J=3.7 Hz, 1H), 4.94 (dd, J=9.9, 3.9 Hz, 1H), 4.15 (q, J=7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.33 - 2.98 (m, 4H), 1.96 - 1.89 (m, 2H), 1.28 (t, J=7.1 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  166.9, 160.8, 144.0, 139.5, 126.7, 123.5, 110.2, 90.8, 58.9, 53.1, 51.2, 33.0, 20.3, 14.9; **HRMS** (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>18</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 260.1287 found: 260.1284.

## Ethyl (5S)-5-(furan-3-yl)-1,2,3,5,6,7-hexahydroindolizine-8-OEt carboxylate (3.16)

The procedure was modified from a previously reported reaction.<sup>10</sup> A sealed vial (20 mL) with a magnetic stirbar was charged with **3.15** (122.3 mg, 0.472 mmol, 1.0 equiv.), 10% Pd/C (50.2 mg, 0.047 mmol, 0.1 equiv.), and 3:1 MeOH:EtOAc (1.5 mL:0.5 mL). The reaction was stirred under H<sub>2</sub> at room temperature for 1 hour and filtered over celite. The solids were rinsed with EtOAc (10 mL) and the resulting filtrate was concentrated under reduced pressure and purified *via* flash column chromatography to afford **3.16** as an orange oil. **Yield** 72.2 mg (59%);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : +76.4° (*c* 0.002 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); **TLC** R<sub>f</sub> 0.26 (hexanes:EtOAc 1:4); <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (600 MHz, C<sub>6</sub>D<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  7.01 (t, J=1.6 Hz, 1H), 6.89 (br s, 1H), 5.93 (d, J=0.9 Hz, 1H), 4.28 (qd, J=7.1, 0.6 Hz, 2H), 3.72 (t, J=4.8 Hz, 1H), 3.21 (t, J=7.7 Hz, 2H), 2.80 (ddd, J=9.1, 7.8, 5.9 Hz, 1H), 2.76 -

2.69 (m, 1H), 2.54 - 2.44 (m, 2H), 1.75 - 1.62 (m, 2H), 1.42 - 1.29 (m, 2H), 1.18 (t, J=7.1 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CD<sub>3</sub>OD) δ 171.0, 161.3, 144.9, 141.0, 127.6, 109.9, 88.5, 59.9, 52.4, 51.8, 34.2, 29.4, 21.9, 19.9, 15.1; HRMS (ESI) *m*/*z* Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>20</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 262.1443 found: 262.1437.

# Ethyl (5S,8R,8aS)-5-(furan-3-yl)octahydroindolizine-8-carboxylate (3.17) & Ethyl (5S,8S,8aS)-5-(furan-3-yl)octahydroindolizine-8-carboxylate (3.S.10)

The procedure was modified from a previously reported reaction.<sup>10</sup> To a Schlenk tube (10 mL) charged with N<sub>2</sub>, a magnetic stirbar, and **3.16** (121.7 mg, 0.466 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) was added a solution of NaCNBH<sub>3</sub> (35.13 mg, 0.559 mmol, 1.2 equiv.) in MeOH (4.66 mL). Acetic acid (2.33 mL) was added, and the solution was stirred for 3 hours at room temperature. The volatiles were removed under reduced pressure and the resulting mixture was diluted with DCM (8 mL). The solution was quenched slowly with NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (14 mL). The layers were separated, and the aqueous layer was extracted with DCM (3x10 mL). The organic layers were combined and after drying with MgSO<sub>4</sub> the mixture was filtered over celite. The solids were rinsed with DCM (10 mL) and the filtrate was concentrated under reduced pressure. The resulting diastereomers were purified and separated *via* flash column chromatography to afford **3.17** and **3.S.10** as yellow solids. **Yield** 62.2 mg **3.17** and 25.8 mg **3.S.10** (2.4:1 **17:10**, 72% overall yield).

52.6, 47.9, 33.3, 29.3, 28.6, 20.2, 14.4; **HRMS** (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>22</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 264.1600 found: 264.1587.

#### Ethyl (5S,8S,8aS)-5-(furan-3-yl)octahydroindolizine-8-carboxylate (3.S10)

[*α*]<sup>20</sup><sub>*D*</sub>: +37.5° (*c* 0.005 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); **TLC** R<sub>*f*</sub> 0.11 (DCM:MeOH 24:1); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.33 (s, 2H), 6.45 (s, 1H), 4.18 (q, J=7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.96 - 2.86 (m, 2H), 2.77 (s, 1H), 2.33 - 2.18

 $(m, 2H), 2.17 - 2.10 (m, 1H), 1.95 - 1.80 (m, 3H), 1.67 - 1.50 (m, 4H), 1.28 (t, J=7.1 Hz, 3H); {}^{13}C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl_3) \delta 173.1, 142.7, 139.2, 127.8, 109.9, 65.4, 60.4, 59.9, 53.3, 41.6, 30.2, 27.8, 27.2, 20.0, 14.4;$ 

**HRMS** (ESI) *m*/*z* Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>22</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 264.1600 found: 264.1589.

(155,8R,8aS)-5-(furan-3-yl)octahydroindolizin-8-yl]methanol (3.18) The procedure was modified from a previously reported reaction.<sup>26</sup> A Schlenk tube (10 mL), charged with N<sub>2</sub>, a magnetic stirbar, and **3.17** (68.7 mg, 0.261, 1.0 equiv.) in Et<sub>2</sub>O (1.31 mL), was cooled to 0 °C. A mixture of LiAlH<sub>4</sub> (44.4 mg, 1.17 mmol, 4.5 equiv.) in Et<sub>2</sub>O (1.31 mL) was added and the resulting solution was allowed to warm to room temperature. After stirring for 3 hours, the solution was cooled to 0 °C and H<sub>2</sub>O (0.05 mL), 15% aq. NaOH (0.05 mL), and H<sub>2</sub>O (0.15 mL) were added dropwise in succession. The resulting mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature, after which MgSO<sub>4</sub> was added to the mixture. After stirring for 15 minutes, the mixture was filtered over celite and the solids were rinsed with DCM (10 mL). The filtrate was concentrated under reduced pressure and the resulting off-white solid **3.18** was used without further purification. **Yield** 48.4 mg (84%);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : -104.7° (*c* 0.004 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); **TLC**: R<sub>f</sub> 0.17 (DCM:MeOH:30% NH<sub>4</sub>OH in H<sub>2</sub>O 12.8:1.0:0.03) <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.36 – 7.31 (m, 2H), 6.45 (s, 1H), 3.68 (dd, J=10.7, 4.6 Hz, 1H), 3.50 (dd, J=10.7, 6.7 Hz, 1H), 2.96 – 2.85 (m, 2H), 2.02 – 1.50 (m, 11H), 1.28 – 1.16 (m, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  142.8, 139.4, 128.0, 109.7, 66.9, 65.7, 59.6, 52.8, 44.2, 33.6, 29.1, 28.1, 20.4; **HRMS** (ESI) m/z Calcd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>20</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 222.1494 found: 222.1494. Single crystals suitable for **X-Ray** analysis were obtained by vapor diffusion recrystallization of dichloromethane from a solution of **18** in a mixture of dichloromethane and hexanes. CCDC registry number 2084950.

#### OH [(5S,8S,8aS)-5-(furan-3-yl)octahydroindolizin-8-yl]methanol (3.S.11)

The procedure was modified from a previously reported reaction.<sup>50</sup> A Schlenk tube (10 mL), charged with N<sub>2</sub>, a magnetic stirbar, and **3.S.10** (21.3 mg, 0.081, 1.0 equiv.) in Et<sub>2</sub>O (0.41 mL), was cooled to 0 °C. A mixture of LiAlH<sub>4</sub> (13.9 mg, 0.365 mmol. 4.5 equiv. in  $Et_2O(0.41 \text{ mL})$  was added and the resulting solution was allowed to warm to room temperature. After stirring for 3 hours, the solution was cooled to 0 °C and H<sub>2</sub>O (0.015 mL), 15% aq. NaOH (0.015 mL), and H<sub>2</sub>O (0.060 mL) were added dropwise in succession. The resulting mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature, after which MgSO4 was added. After stirring for 15 minutes, the mixture was filtered over celite and the solids were rinsed with DCM (5 mL). The filtrate was concentrated under reduced pressure and purified via flash column chromatography to afford **3.S.11** as an off-white solid. Yield 10.0 mg (56%);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : -52.8° (c 0.003 CHCl<sub>3</sub>). TLC R<sub>f</sub> 0.55 (DCM:MeOH:30% NH<sub>4</sub>OH in H<sub>2</sub>O 12.8:1.0:0.03); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.36 – 7.31 (m, 2H), 6.38 (s, 1H), 4.28 (ddd, J=10.8, 4.0, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 3.81 (d, J=10.9 Hz, 1H), 3.06 (dd, J=11.6, 2.8 Hz, 1H), 2.85 (t, J=7.8 Hz, 1H), 2.46 (t, J=7.5 Hz, 1H), 2.27 - 2.16 (m, 1H), 2.05 - 1.93 (m, 2H), 1.90 – 1.77 (m, 3H), 1.76 – 1.61 (m, 5H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 143.1, 139.1, 128.0, 109.2, 67.1, 65.8, 60.2, 53.0, 34.8, 31.8, 31.4, 26.3, 20.3; HRMS (ESI) m/z Calcd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>20</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 222.1488 found: 222.1489



## [(5S,8R,8aS)-5-(furan-3-yl)octahydroindolizin-8-yl]methyl xanthate (3.19)

The procedure was modified from a previously reported reaction.<sup>27</sup> In an N<sub>2</sub> glovebox, a 1 mL Schlenk tube was charged with NaH (6.31 mg, 0.263 mmol, 1.2 equiv.) and THF (0.365 mL). While stirring, a solution of **3.18** (48.4 mg, 0.219 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) in THF (0.365 mL) was added slowly to the Schlenk tube. The mixture was stirred at room temperature for 1 hour, after which, CS<sub>2</sub> (15.8 µL, 0.263 mmol, 1.2 equiv.) was added *via* syringe under N<sub>2</sub>. After stirring for 1 hour, MeI (16.4  $\mu$ L, 0.263 mmol, 1.2 equiv) was added under N<sub>2</sub> and the mixture stirred for an additional hour at room temperature. The reaction was diluted with EtOAc (3 mL) and quenched via dropwise addition of  $H_2O$  (2 mL). The resulting mixture was washed with  $H_2O$ (2x2 mL) and brine (4 mL). The layers were separated, and the aqueous layer was extracted with EtOAc (1x1 mL). The organic layers were combined and filtered over MgSO<sub>4</sub>. The MgSO<sub>4</sub> was removed by filtering over celite, and the solids were rinsed with EtOAc (1 mL). The resulting filtrate was concentrated under reduced pressure and purified via column chromatography to yield **3.19** as a yellow solid. Yield 64.8 mg (95%);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : -68.5° (*c* 0.003 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); TLC R<sub>f</sub> 0.17 (1:9 EtOAc:Hex); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.38 – 7.33 (m, 2H), 6.44 (s, 1H), 4.58 (dd, J=10.9, 5.2 Hz, 1H), 4.49 (dd, J=11.0, 5.9 Hz, 1H), 2.97 (dd, J=11.0, 2.8 Hz, 1H), 2.89 (t, J=8.1 Hz, 1H), 2.57 (s, 3H), 2.02 – 1.54 (m, 10H), 1.28 (qd, J=12.9, 5.2 Hz, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 215.9, 142.9, 139.3, 127.9, 109.6, 76.4, 66.9, 59.4, 52.7, 41.0, 33.5, 29.2, 28.3, 20.3, 19.0; HRMS (ESI) m/z Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>22</sub>NO<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 312.1092 found: 312.1092.



## [(5S,8S,8aS)-5-(furan-3-yl)octahydroindolizin-8-yl]methyl xanthate (3.S.12)

The procedure was modified from a previously reported reaction.<sup>26</sup> In an glovebox, a 4 mL vial was charged with NaH (0.864 mg, 0.0360 mmol, 1.2 equiv.) and THF (50.0 µL). While stirring a solution of **3.S.11** (6.70 mg, 0.0360 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) in THF (50.0  $\mu$ L) was added slowly to the 4 mL vial. The mixture was stirred at room temperature for 1 hour, after which, CS<sub>2</sub> (2.16 µL, 0.036 mmol, 1.2 equiv.) was added via syringe. After stirring for 1 hour, MeI (5.11  $\mu$ L, 0.036 mmol, 1.2 equiv.) was added, and the mixture stirred for an additional hour at room temperature. The reaction was quenched via dropwise addition of  $H_2O$  (1 mL). The resulting mixture was washed with  $H_2O$  (2x1 mL), and the layers were separated. The aqueous layer was extracted with EtOAc (3x1 mL). The organic layers were combined and filtered over MgSO<sub>4</sub> and the solids were rinsed with EtOAc (1 mL). The filtrate was concentrated under reduced pressure and purified via preparative TLC to yield 3.S.12 as a yellow oil. Yield 1.70 mg (25%);  $[\alpha]_{D}^{20}$ : -33.5° (c 0.001 CHCl<sub>3</sub>); TLC R<sub>f</sub> 0.48 (1:9 EtOAc:Hex); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ 7.34 (s, 1H), 7.32 (s, 1H), 6.41 (s, 1H), 4.98 (dd, J = 11.0, 5.6 Hz, 1H), 4.87 (dd, J = 11.0, 7.6 Hz, 1H), 2.95 (dd, J = 11.2, 3.0 Hz, 1H), 2.90 – 2.84 (m, 1H), 2.37 (s, 1H), 2.26 (ddd, J = 10.1, 6.9, 2.8 Hz, 1H), 2.01 – 1.95 (m, 1H), 1.90 – 1.54 (m, 5H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl3) δ 216.0, 142.9, 139.2, 128.6, 109.7, 73.5, 66.0, 60.6, 53.3, 34.8, 30.0, 27.8, 27.1, 20.4, 19.1; HRMS (ESI) m/z Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>22</sub>NO<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup>: 312.1087 found: 312.1084.



#### **Nuphar Indolizidine (3.2)**

The procedure was modified from a previously reported reaction.<sup>27</sup> A 10 mL Schlenk tube was charged with 3.19 (32.4 mg, 0.104 mmol, 1.0 equiv.), (TMS)<sub>3</sub>SiH (64.2 µL, 0.208 mmol, 2.0 equiv.), AIBN (0.02 M solution in PhMe, 130 µL, 0.0026

mmol, 0.025 equiv) and PhMe (3.1 mL). After rigorously degassing *via* freeze-pump-thaw (x4), the solution was heated with an oil bath while stirring to 90 °C, under N<sub>2</sub>. After 30 minutes, an additional portion of AIBN (0.02 M solution in PhMe, 130  $\mu$ L, 0.0026 mmol, 0.025 equiv.) was added and the reaction was stirred at 90 °C. After 30 minutes the reaction was allowed to cool to room temperature. All volatiles were removed by evaporation under reduced pressure, and the resulting residue was purified *via* column chromotography to give **Nuphar Indolizidine** as a clear, colorless, oil. **Yield** 14.7 mg (69 %); **TLC** R<sub>f</sub> 0.17 (1:9 EtOAc:Hex); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.34 (d, J=4.9 Hz, 2H), 6.44 (s, 1H), 2.95 – 2.84 (m, 2H), 1.99 – 1.86 (m, 2H), 1.83 – 1.35 (m, 8H), 1.14 – 1.02 (m, 1H), 0.91 (d, J=6.5 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  142.8, 139.5, 128.4, 109.9, 71.6, 59.9, 53.3, 36.6, 34.3, 34.1, 29.2, 20.3, 19.0. The <sup>1</sup>H NMR and <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra matched the previously reported spectral data of Nuphar Indolizidine.<sup>28</sup>



#### (5S,8S,8aS)-5-(furan-3-yl)-8-methyloctahydroindolizine (3.S.13)

The procedure was modified from a previously reported reaction.<sup>28</sup> A 1 mL Schlenk tube was charged with **3.S.12** (1.70 mg, 0.00550 mmol, 1.0 equiv.),

(TMS)<sub>3</sub>SiH (3.4  $\mu$ L, 0.0110 mmol, 2.0 equiv.), AIBN (0.005 M solution in PhMe, 55.0  $\mu$ L, 0.000275 mmol, 0.05 equiv.) and PhMe (0.167 mL). After rigorously degassing *via* freeze-pump-thaw (x3), the solution was heated in an oil bath while stirring to 90 °C, under N<sub>2</sub>. After 3 hours the reaction was allowed to cool to room temperature. All volatiles were removed by evaporation under reduced pressure. The resulting yellow oil was evaluated as the crude reaction mixture using quantitative NMR with 1,3,5-trimethoxybenzene as the internal standard. The 1H NMR and 13C NMR spectra matched previously reported spectral data.<sup>29</sup> **Yield (qNMR)** 0.415 mg (37%).

#### 3.7. References:

- (1) Majumdar, K. C.; Chattopadhyay, S. K. *Heterocycles in Natural Product Synthesis*; Wiley-VCH Verlag: Weinheim, Germany, 2011; p 637.
- (2) Vitaku, E.; Smith, D. T.; Njardarson, J. T. Analysis of the Structural Diversity, Substitution Patterns, and Frequency of Nitrogen Heterocycles among U.S. FDA Approved Pharmaceuticals: Miniperspective. *J. Med. Chem.* 2014, *57* (24), 10257–10274. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm501100b.
- (3) Alvarez, M.; Salas, M.; de Veciana, A.; Lavilla, R.; Bosch, J. Nucleophilic Addition of Indole-2-Acetic Ester Enolates to N-Alkylpyridinium Salts. A Formal Synthesis of the Strychnos Alkaloids Tubifolidine and Tubifilone. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1990**, *31* (35), 5089-5092. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4039(00)97813-4.
- (4) Taylor, R. D.; MacCoss, M.; Lawson, A. D. G. Rings in Drugs: Miniperspective. J. Med. Chem. 2014, 57 (14), 5845–5859. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm4017625.
- (5) Matsuda, H.; Shimoda, H.; Yoshikawa, M. Dimeric Sesquiterpene Thioalkaloids with Potent Immunosuppressive Activity from the Rhizome of Nuphar Pumilum: Structural Requirements of Nuphar Alkaloids for Immunosuppressive Activity. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 2001, 5.
- (6) Nadeau, C.; Aly, S.; Belyk, K. Rhodium-Catalyzed Enantioselective Addition of Boronic Acids to *N* -Benzylnicotinate Salts. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2011, *133* (9), 2878–2880. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja111540g.
- (7) Chau, S. T.; Lutz, J. P.; Wu, K.; Doyle, A. G. Nickel-Catalyzed Enantioselective Arylation of Pyridinium Ions: Harnessing an Iminium Ion Activation Mode. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2013, *52* (35), 9153–9156. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201303994.
- (8) Lutz, J. P.; Chau, S. T.; Doyle, A. G. Nickel-Catalyzed Enantioselective Arylation of Pyridine. *Chem. Sci.* **2016**, *7* (7), 4105–4109. https://doi.org/10.1039/C6SC00702C.
- (9) Bertuzzi, G.; Sinisi, A.; Caruana, L.; Mazzanti, A.; Fochi, M.; Bernardi, L. Catalytic Enantioselective Addition of Indoles to Activated *N* -Benzylpyridinium Salts: Nucleophilic Dearomatization of Pyridines with Unusual C-4 Regioselectivity. *ACS Catal.* 2016, *6* (10), 6473–6477. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.6b01962.
- (10) Robinson, D. J.; Spurlin, S. P.; Gorden, J. D.; Karimov, R. R. Enantioselective Synthesis of Dihydropyridines Containing Quaternary Stereocenters Through Dearomatization of Pyridinium Salts. ACS Catal. 2020, 10 (1), 51–55. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.9b03874.

- (11) Knapp, D. M.; Gillis, E. P.; Burke, M. D. A General Solution for Unstable Boronic Acids: Slow-Release Cross-Coupling from Air-Stable MIDA Boronates. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131 (20), 6961–6963. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja901416p.
- (12) Lennox, A. J. J.; Lloyd-Jones, G. C. Selection of Boron Reagents for Suzuki–Miyaura Coupling. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2014**, *43* (1), 412–443. https://doi.org/10.1039/C3CS60197H.
- (13) Hayes, H. L. D.; Wei, R.; Assante, M.; Geogheghan, K. J.; Jin, N.; Tomasi, S.; Noonan, G.; Leach, A. G.; Lloyd-Jones, G. C. Protodeboronation of (Hetero)Arylboronic Esters: Direct versus Prehydrolytic Pathways and Self-/Auto-Catalysis. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2021, 143 (36), 14814–14826. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.1c06863.
- (14) Mkhalid, I. A. I.; Barnard, J. H.; Marder, T. B.; Murphy, J. M.; Hartwig, J. F. C–H Activation for the Construction of C–B Bonds. *Chem. Rev.* 2010, *110* (2), 890–931. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr900206p.
- (15) Ishiyama, T.; Murata, M.; Miyaura, N. Palladium(0)-Catalyzed Cross-Coupling Reaction of Alkoxydiboron with Haloarenes: A Direct Procedure for Arylboronic Esters. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60 (23), 7508–7510. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo00128a024.
- (16) Murata, M.; Watanabe, S.; Masuda, Y. Novel Palladium(0)-Catalyzed Coupling Reaction of Dialkoxyborane with Aryl Halides: Convenient Synthetic Route to Arylboronates. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62 (19), 6458–6459. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo970963p.
- (17) Takagi, J.; Takahashi, K.; Ishiyama, T.; Miyaura, N. Palladium-Catalyzed Cross-Coupling Reaction of Bis(Pinacolato)Diboron with 1-Alkenyl Halides or Triflates: Convenient Synthesis of Unsymmetrical 1,3-Dienes via the Borylation-Coupling Sequence. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2002**, *124* (27), 8001–8006. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0202255.
- (18) Maurer, B.; Ohloff, G. Zur Kenntnis der stickstoffhaltigen Inhaltsstoffe von Castoreum. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **1976**, *59* (4), 1169–1185. https://doi.org/10.1002/hlca.19760590420.
- (19) Pangborn, A. B.; Giardello, M. A.; Grubbs, R. H.; Rosen, R. K.; Timmers, F. J. Safe and Convenient Procedure for Solvent Purification. *Organometallics* **1996**, *15* (5), 1518– 1520. https://doi.org/10.1021/om9503712.
- (20) Wagener, T.; Heusler, A.; Nairoukh, Z.; Bergander, K.; Daniliuc, C. G.; Glorius, F. Accessing (Multi)Fluorinated Piperidines Using Heterogeneous Hydrogenation. ACS Catal. 2020, 10 (20), 12052–12057. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.0c03278.
- (21) Bisht, R.; Hoque, M. E.; Chattopadhyay, B. Amide Effects in C-H Activation: Noncovalent Interactions with L-Shaped Ligand for Meta Borylation of Aromatic Amides. Angewandte Chemie International Edition 2018, 57 (48), 15762–15766. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201809929.

- (22) Kim, S. H.; An, J. H.; Lee, J. H. Highly Chemoselective Deoxygenation of N-Heterocyclic N-Oxides under Transition Metal-Free Conditions. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2021, 19, 3735– 3742.
- (23) Bracher, F.; Daab, J. Total Synthesis of the Indolizidinium Alkaloid Ficuseptine. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2002, 2002 (14), 2288. https://doi.org/10.1002/1099-0690(200207)2002:14<2288::AID-EJOC2288>3.0.CO;2-G.
- (24) Verma, A. K.; Rustagi, V.; Aggarwal, T.; Singh, A. P. Iodine-Mediated Solvent-Controlled Selective Electrophilic Cyclization and Oxidative Esterification of o-Alkynyl Aldehydes: An Easy Access to Pyranoquinolines, Pyranoquinolinones, and Isocumarins. J. Org. Chem. 2010, 75 (22), 7691–7703. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo101526b.
- (25) Michael, J. P.; Gravestock, D. Vinylogous Urethanes in Alkaloid Synthesis. Applications to the Synthesis of Racemic Indolizidine 209B and Its (5R\*,8S \*,8aS \*)-(±) Diastereomer, and to (–)-Indolizidine 209B †. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2000, No. 12, 1919–1928. https://doi.org/10.1039/b001853h.
- (26) Vara, B. A.; Patel, N. R.; Molander, G. A. *O* -Benzyl Xanthate Esters under Ni/Photoredox Dual Catalysis: Selective Radical Generation and Csp<sup>3</sup> –Csp<sup>2</sup> Cross-Coupling. *ACS Catal.* 2017, 7 (6), 3955–3959. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.7b00772.
- (27) Tan, D.; Zhou, J.; Liu, C.; Han, F. Enantioselective Total Synthesis and Absolute Configuration Assignment of (+)-Tronocarpine Enabled by an Asymmetric Michael/Aldol Reaction. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2020**, *59* (10), 3834–3839. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201914868.
- (28) Seki, H.; Georg, G. I. Enantiospecific Synthesis and Biological Investigations of a Nuphar Alkaloid: Proposed Structure of a Castoreum Component. *Eur. J. of Org. Chem.* **2014**, (18), 3777–3783. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejoc.201402232.
- (29) Stoye, A.; Quandt, G.; Brunnhöfer, B.; Kapatsina, E.; Baron, J.; Fischer, A.; Weymann, M.; Kunz, H. Stereoselective Synthesis of Enantiomerically Pure Nupharamine Alkaloids from Castoreum. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2009, 48 (12), 2228–2230. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200805606.

## <u>Chapter 4: Synthesis of 1,2-DHP via Nucleophilic Addition of</u> <u>Organoboron Nucleophiles to N-alkyl Nicotinate salts</u>

#### **4.1. Introduction:**

#### 4.1.1. Multidentate Electrophiles and Regioselectivity:

In the chemistry of nucleophilic additions, a common challenge is controlling the regioselectivity when using multidentate electrophiles. Such electrophiles have multiple electropositive sites that must be distinguished. In allylic substitutions, for example, the constitutional isomers are defined as linear (4.3), wherein the substituent is added to the less substituted carbon, and branched, wherein the substitution occurs on a higher substituted carbon (4.4) (Figure 4.1). These reactions generally proceed through  $\pi$ -allyl complexes (4.2) of transition metals such as Pd,<sup>1-3</sup> Ir,<sup>4-9</sup> Cu,<sup>10,11</sup> and Rh,<sup>12</sup> and while the metal is well known to control the linear/branched selectivity, there is evidence to support ligand control.<sup>2</sup>

#### Figure 4.1: General regioselectivity of allylic substitution reactions.



Another example of multidentate electrophilic addition is the Michael addition, a ubiquitous organic reaction, properly defined as the 1,4- addition of doubly-stabilized enolates to  $\alpha,\beta$ -unsaturated carbonyls (**4.5**) (Figure 4.2).<sup>13</sup> The Michael acceptor (**4.5**), an electron-poor vinylogous compound, is a multidentate electrophile, being able to accept a nucleophile at the 2- or 4-position. The nucleophilic addition is directed by the hard-soft nature of the nucleophile. In the classic example of an  $\alpha,\beta$ -unsaturated carbonyl (**4.5**), the carbonyl carbon is hard while the 4, or  $\beta$ , carbon is soft, thus hard nucleophiles such as Grignard and organolithium reagents or

reductants add to the carbonyl carbon giving product **4.6**, while soft nucleophiles such as organocuprates and enolates add to the C-4 position, giving **4.7**.

Figure 4.2: General regioselectivity of nucleophilic additions to α,β-unsaturated carbonyls.



As discussed in Chapter 1, N-alkyl pyridinium salts (**4.8**) contain 3 electrophilic sites (C-2, C-4, and C-6) (Figure 4.3). In the regioselective nucleophilic addition to N-alkyl heteroarenium salts it is difficult to accurately predict the regioselectivity of the Nucleophilic attack. In general, hard nucleophiles add to the C-2 or C-6 position, forming product **4.10** while soft nucleophiles attack the C-4 position, giving **4.9**.<sup>14</sup>

Figure 4.3: General regioselectivity of nucleophilic addition to Nalkyl pyridinium salts.



#### **4.2. Importance of the regioselective synthesis of 1,2-DHPs:**

We are concerned with C-2 site-selectivity due to the prevalence of bioactive natural products featuring piperidine moieties substituted in such a manner (Figure 4.4).<sup>15–17</sup> For example, avacopan (**4.11**), trade name Tavenos, is a recently FDA-approved treatment for adults with granulomatosis with polyangiitis, which is a rare condition causing the inflammation of blood

vessels.<sup>18</sup> huperzine-A (**4.12**) inhibits acetylcholinesterase and is used to treat conditions such as Alzheimer's.<sup>19</sup> There is also an extensive class of indole alkaloids with a variety of cytotoxic, anti-arrhythmic, and antiplasmodial activities such as (-)-alstonerine (**4.13**),<sup>20,21</sup> Ajmaline (**4.14**),<sup>22</sup> and pleiocarpamine (**4.15**),<sup>21</sup> respectively.



Figure 4.4: Bioactive natural products featuring C-2 substitution patterns.



#### 4.2.1. Statistical Analysis of Ligand Parameters:

We have previously described the C-6 regio- and enantioselective addition of boron nucleophiles to N-alkyl heteroarenium salts.<sup>23,24</sup> In each case, we observed the formation of side products, mainly the constitutional isomer resulting from addition to the C-2 position. As we investigated methods that gave the C-2 product selectively, we sought to discover what precisely causes such selectivity, the degree to which it can be controlled, and whether such selectivity can be predicted. The Sigman research group at the University of Utah has dedicated their organic methodology investigations to answering such questions, using statistical analyses such as linear regression<sup>25–27</sup> and multivariate pattern recognition<sup>28</sup> to develop predictive tools for organic catalysis.<sup>29</sup>
Databases, computer scripts, and machine learning toolkits have been thoroughly developed to model organic and inorganic complexes to provide a platform for the discovery of new reactivity in homo- and heterogeneous organic catalysis development.<sup>30–35</sup> The Sigman group have added to this body of work with their *kraken* system. By compiling the steric and electronic effects of phosphorous ligands, they built a database containing the computational and experimental data necessary for predicting ligand performance in transition-metal catalysis. In 1970, Tolman described the steric and electronic properties of phosphine ligands and their effect on specifically nickel catalysis (Figure 4.5).<sup>36,37</sup> Such properties as the Tolman bite and cone angles (Figure 4.5.A) and Tolman electronic parameter (Figure 4.5.B) were found to be the best predictors of ligand performance in our study. Herein, we describe the regioselective addition of organoboron nucleophiles to the C-2 position of N-alkyl nicotinate salts featuring a substituent on the C-6 position.



#### Figure 4.5: Tolman ligand parameters.

# 4.3. Development of Rh-catalyzed, C-2 regioselective, nucleophilic addition strategy for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs:

### 4.3.1. Ligand screenings for regioselective addition:

We began our investigations by screening our library of ligands bound to  $Rh(COD)_2BF_4$ against several N-alkyl nicotinate salts, using PhBpin as the nucleophile (Table 4.1). We found that methyl N,6-dimethylnicotinate salt **4.16** gave consistently good yields and provided an effective model for ligand parameterization. To our delight, we discovered five ligands that gave the C-2 product (**4.17**) in good yield and actionable C-2:C-6 ratio (Table 4.1, Entries 6-10). From these, we identified two appropriate ligands that gave above 90% *ee* (Table 4.1, Entries 6 and 10). We selected the Ligand (S,S<sub>ax</sub>)-Bobphos (**Ligand J**) to continue method optimization due to the 7:1 regioisomeric ratio (Table 4.1, entry 10).

### **4.3.2.** Optimization of Reaction Conditions:

Using the Rh/Bobphos system, nicotinate **4.16** as our electrophile, and PhBpin as our nucleophile, we began screening certain reaction parameters to increase the yield of the dearomatization (Table 4.2). Unlike in our previous studies, we found that the reaction was less sensitive to the ratio of organic solvent to water. From 20:1 to 10:1 dioxane:water, our yield remained almost unchanged, while increasing the amount of water lowered the yield by half (Table 4.2, entries 1-3). Temperature proved to be more critical to reaction yield; at lower temperatures, the overall reaction yield rises significantly (Table 4.2, entries 1, 4, and 5). We have also shown that a reaction time of two hours is still optimal (Table 4.2, entries 6 and 7). We have shown in other work that the complexed rhodium catalyst is necessary for reaction success.<sup>23</sup>

## Table 4.1: Ligand screen for the dearomatization ofpyridinium Salt 4.24.



<sup>a</sup>Reaction yield was determined via <sup>1</sup>H NMR analysis. product peaks were integrated vs the internal standard 1,3,5-trimethoxybenzene. <sup>b</sup>Enantiomeric eccess was determined via chiral HPLC analysis.

Me Me Me 4.16	O Rh(COD) <sub>2</sub> BF <sub>4</sub> (5 m (S,S <sub>ax</sub> )-Bobphos (5 n Na <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub> (2.5 equi PhBpin (2.5 equi Dioxane:H <sub>2</sub> O (20 80 °C, 2 hours	$v_{i}^{(N)}$ $v_{i}^{(N)}$ $Me$ $N$ $Ph$ $Ph$ $Ph$ $h$ $h$ $h$ $h$ $h$ $h$ $h$ $h$ $h$		O N Me 4.18
Entry	Change to above procedure	Yield of 7 (%) <sup>[a]</sup>	Overall yield (%)	ee (%) <sup>[b]</sup>
1	none	74	87	91
2	10:1 Solvent:H <sub>2</sub> O	73	85	99
3	5:1 Solvent:H <sub>2</sub> O	33	39	99
4	40 °C	86	99	99
5	60 °C	80	96	99
6	1 hour	59	68	99
7	3 hours	67	78	99
			•	

Table 4.2: Optimization of the Rh/Bobphos system for the<br/>dearomatization of pyridinium salt 4.24.

<sup>[a]</sup>Reaction yield was determined via <sup>1</sup>H NMR analysis. product peaks were integrated vs the internal standard 1,3,5-trimethoxybenzene. <sup>[b]</sup>Enantiomeric eccess was determined via chiral HPLC analysis.

### 4.4. Reaction Scope:

With optimized conditions in hand, we began developing a substrate scope of both nucleophiles (Table 4.3) and electrophiles (Table 4.4). Unfortunately, we found that some substrates do not react in the Rh/Bobphos system, even after re-optimization including water, temperature, and base screening. The Rh/Bobphos catalyst was effective with arylbpins that only contained alkyl or aryl functionality, except for the electron-donating methoxy ether (Table 4.3, **4.17**, **4.19.b-d**, **4.19.f**). All electron withdrawing group containing Bpins, as well as heterocyclic Bpins failed to react under Rh/Bobphos. Luckily, some of those substrates that failed to produce the dihydropyridine with Bobphos did so in a Rh/Quinox system under the previously optimal conditions including para-bromophenyl (**4.19.a**), para-trifluoromethylphenyl (**4.19.e**), and alkenyl Bpins (**4.19.g**) with good enantioselectivity, albeit in diminished yield (Table 4.3). It is important to note that the diminished C-2 yield was not associated with an increase in the C-6 constitutional isomer.



 Table 4.3: Scope of C-2 regioselective dearomatization of N-Alkyl pyridinium salts.

Isolated yield is reported. ee was determined by chiral HPLC analysis.

In our screen of nicotinate salts (Table 4.4), we found that increasing the size of the N-alkyl (**4.20.a**) and 6-alkyl (**4.20.b**) substituents was well tolerated, giving good yields and excellent *ees*. To our delight, when the C-6 substituent was a substituted phenyl, the optimized Rh/Bobphos system gave 1,2-DHPs in good yield and *ee*, even when the substituents featured electron poor and rich phenyl groups on the C-6 position such as the methoxy ether (**4.20.d**) and trifluoromethyl groups (**4.20.f**) (Table 4.4).



Table 4.4: Scope of N-alkyl nicotinate salts for the synthesis of 1,2-DHPs.

Isolated yield is reported. ee was determined by chiral HPLC analysis.

### 4.5. Conclusion:

While this work is ongoing, we believe we have developed an effective method for the synthesis of 1,2-dihydropyridines with ligand control of the regioselectivity. Although the functional group tolerance is not ideal, we have shown a variety of ligands that are suitable for the enantioselective addition of organoboron nucleophiles to N-alkyl pyridinium salts. Our next steps are to expand our substrate scope and demonstrate the utility of the 1,2-DHP by functionalizing the C=C bonds. This work will be published in collaboration with the Sigman research group.

### **4.6. Experimental Section:**

### 4.6.1. Materials and Methods:

Reactions were performed in flame-dried sealed tubes or modified Schlenk (Kjeldahl shape) flasks fitted with a glass stopper under a positive pressure of nitrogen or inside nitrogen filled glovebox using 1-dram vials unless otherwise noted. Air- and moisture-sensitive liquids and solutions were transferred *via* syringe. The appropriate starting materials and reagents were dried

*via* azeotropic removal of water with toluene. Organic solutions were concentrated by rotary evaporation below 40 °C. Flash column chromatography was performed employing 230–400 mesh silica gel.

Dichloromethane, tetrahydrofuran, diethyl ether, DMF and toluene were purified by passage through two packed columns of neutral alumina under an argon atmosphere.<sup>48</sup> Methanol was distilled from magnesium at 760 Torr. All other chemicals were obtained from commercial vendors and were used without further purification unless otherwise noted. CDCl<sub>3</sub> was stored over molecular sieves and passed through a plug of Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> prior to use.

Thin-layer chromatography was performed using glass plates pre-coated to a depth of 0.25 mm with 230-400 mesh silica gel impregnated with a fluorescent indicator (254 nm) and visualized under UV light (254 and 360 nm), or stained with vanillin in acidic EtOH, or I<sub>2</sub> on SiO<sub>2</sub>. Proton, carbon-13, and fluorine-19 nuclear magnetic resonance (<sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR, and <sup>19</sup>F NMR) spectra were recorded on a Bruker Avance III instrument; chemical shifts are expressed in parts per million ( $\delta$  scale) downfield from tetramethylsilane and are referenced to residual isotopes in the NMR solvent (d-chloroform:  $\delta$  7.26 for <sup>1</sup>H NMR,  $\delta$  77.16 for <sup>13</sup>C NMR; d6-DMSO:  $\delta$  2.50 for <sup>1</sup>H NMR,  $\delta$  39.53 for <sup>13</sup>C NMR;). Data are presented as follows: chemical shift, multiplicity (s = singlet, bs = broad singlet, d = doublet, t = triplet, q = quartet, m = multiplet and/or multiple resonances), coupling constant in Hertz (Hz), integration. HPLC analysis for the determination of enantiomeric access (ee) was performed using an Agilent Technologies 1260 Infinity II HPLC system and InfinityLab Poroshell 120 column (Chiral-CD, or Chiral-V). Optical rotations are calculated and reported in concentrations of mg/mL and were recorded using a Rudolph Research Analytical Autopol® IV Automatic Polarimeter with a 0.5 dm path length. High resolution mass spectrometry (HRMS) was performed using an Orbitrap Exploris 120 quadrupole orbitrap.

### 4.6.2. Synthesis of Pyridine Starting Materials:

### Methyl 6-Ethylpyridine-3-carboxylate (4.S.1)

**OMe** Compound **4.S.1** was prepared from methyl 6-bromopyridine carboxylate (324 mg, 1.50 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and a 1.0 M solution of Et<sub>2</sub>Zn in toluene (1.80 mL, 1.80 mmol, 1.2 equiv.) according to a reported procedure.<sup>49 1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectral data matched those of the reported compound. **Yield:** 159 mg (64%); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.91 (d, J = 2.2 Hz, 1H), 7.98 (dd, J = 8.1, 2.2 Hz, 1H), 7.03 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 3.72 (s, 3H), 2.67 (q, J = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 1.11 (t, J = 7.6 Hz, 3H).; <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.9, 165.7, 150.2, 137.3, 123.2, 121.5, 52.0, 31.3, 13.4.



0

### Methyl 6-phenylpyridine-3-carboxylate (4.S.2)

Compound 4.S.2 was prepared from methyl 6-bromopyridine carboxylate
 (2.0 g, 9.3 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and PhB(OH)<sub>2</sub> (1.7 g, 14 mmol, 1.5 equiv.)

according to a reported procedure. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectral data matched those of the reported compound.<sup>49</sup> **Yield:** 287.7 mg (54%); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 9.27 (d, J = 2.4 Hz, 1H), 8.33 (dd, J = 8.3, 2.2 Hz, 1H), 8.08 – 8.02 (m, 2H), 7.79 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.53 – 7.42 (m, 3H), 3.96 (s, 3H).; <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 165.9, 161.0, 151.0, 138.3, 138.0, 130.1, 129.0, 127.4, 124.3, 119.9, 52.4.



### Methyl 6-(4-methoxyphenyl)pyridine-3-carboxylate (4.S.3)

Compound **4.S.3** was prepared *via* the following procedure. Methyl 6-bromopyridine carboxylate (211 mg, 0.99 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and

4-MeO-PhB(OH)<sub>2</sub> (226 mg, 1.49 mmol, 1.5 equiv.) were added to a seal tube containing a magnetic stir bar. The vessel was evacuated and backfilled with N<sub>2</sub> on a Schlenk line. The tube was transferred to the glovebox, where Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> (57.2 mg, 0.0490 mmol, 5 mol%) and degassed

toluene (6.0 mL) were added. The seal tube was then transferred to the Schlenk line where a degassed, 2.0 M solution of Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> in H<sub>2</sub>O (0.99 mL, 1.9 mmol, 2.0 equiv.) was added. The tube was sealed and stirred while heating in an oil bath to 80 °C. After 6 hours, the tube was cooled to room temperature, the solution diluted to 25 mL with EtOAc and filtered through a plug of silica, and then celite. The plug was rinsed with EtOAc (10 mL), and the solvents evaporated under reduced pressure. The crude oil was adsorbed onto celite and purified over silica via flash column (ethyl acetate : Hexanes, 10% to 20%). The solvents were evaporated to give **4.S.3** as an off-white powder. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR matched those of a reported compound. <sup>50</sup> Yield: 185.4 mg (77%). <sup>1</sup>H **NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  9.23 (dd, J = 2.2, 0.9 Hz, 1H), 8.30 (dd, J = 8.3, 2.2 Hz, 1H), 8.07 -8.01 (m, 2H), 7.74 (dd, J = 8.4, 0.9 Hz, 1H), 7.02 (d, J = 8.9 Hz, 2H), 3.96 (s, 3H), 3.88 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 166.2, 161.5, 160.7, 151.1, 138.0, 131.0, 129.0, 123.6, 119.2, 114.5, 55.6, 52.5.

### Methyl 6-(4-methylphenyl)pyridine-3-carboxylate (4.S.4)



ОМе Compound **4.S.4** was prepared *via* the following procedure. Methyl 6-bromopyridine carboxylate (1.0 g, 4.6 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and 4-Me-PhB(OH)<sub>2</sub> (0.95 g, 7.0 mmol, 1.5 equiv) were added to a seal tube containing a magnetic stir bar. The vessel was evacuated and backfilled with N2 on a Schlenk line. The tube was transferred to the glovebox, where Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> (266 mg, 0.230 mmol, 5 mol%) and degassed toluene (23.0 mL)

were added. The seal tube was then transferred to the Schlenk line where a degassed, 2.0 M solution of Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> in H<sub>2</sub>O (4.6 mL, 9.2 mmol, 2.0 equiv.) was added. The tube was sealed and stirred while heating in an oil bath to 80 °C. After 16 hours, the tube was cooled to room temperature, the solution diluted to 100 mL with EtOAc and filtered through a plug of silica, and then celite. The plug was rinsed with EtOAc (10 mL), and the solvents evaporated under reduced pressure. The crude oil was adsorbed onto celite and purified over silica *via* flash column (ethyl acetate : Hexanes, 10% to 20%). The solvents were evaporated to give **4.S.4** as a white powder. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR matched those of a reported compound.<sup>51</sup> **Yield:** 588.8 mg (56%); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  9.26 (dd, J = 2.3, 0.9 Hz, 1H), 8.32 (dd, J = 8.3, 2.2 Hz, 1H), 7.99 – 7.94 (m, 2H), 7.78 (dd, J = 8.3, 0.9 Hz, 1H), 7.33 – 7.28 (m, 2H), 3.97 (s, 3H), 2.42 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  166.1, 161.1, 151.1, 140.4, 138.0, 135.6, 129.8, 127.4, 124.0, 119.6, 52.5, 21.5.

Ο

## Methyl 6-[4-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl]pyridine-3-carboxylate OMe (4.S.5)

Compound **4.S.5** was prepared *via* the following procedure. Methyl F<sub>2</sub>C 6-bromopyridine carboxylate (215 mg, 1.00 mmol, 1.0 equiv.), K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (415 mg, 3.00 mmol, 3.0 equiv.), and 4-CF<sub>3</sub>-PhB(OH)<sub>2</sub> (209 mg, 1.10 mmol, 1.1 equiv.) were added to a seal tube containing a magnetic stir bar. The vessel was evacuated and backfilled with N<sub>2</sub> on a Schlenk line. The tube was transferred to the glovebox, where Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> (57.8 mg, 0.050 mmol, 5 mol%) and degassed toluene (4.0 mL) were added. The seal tube was then transferred to the Schlenk line where degassed MeOH (1 mL) was added. The tube was sealed and stirred while heating in an oil bath to 80 °C. After 5 hours, the tube was cooled to room temperature, the solution diluted to 25 mL with EtOAc and filtered through a plug of silica, and then celite. The plug was rinsed with EtOAc (10 mL), and the solvents evaporated under reduced pressure. The crude oil was adsorbed onto celite and purified via flash column (ethyl acetate : Hexanes, 10% to 20%). The solvents were evaporated to give **4.S.3** as an off-white solid. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR matched those of a reported compound.<sup>52</sup> Yield: 185.4 mg (77%); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  9.28 (dd, J = 2.1, 0.8 Hz, 1H), 8.36 (dd, J = 8.3, 2.2 Hz, 1H), 8.15 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.82 (dd, J = 8.3, 0.8 Hz, 1H), 7.73 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 3.97 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 165.7, 159.3, 151.2, 141.6, 138.2,

131.8 (q, J = 32.5 Hz), 127.8, 125.9 (q, J = 3.8 Hz), 125.1, 124.1 (q, J = 272.2 Hz), 120.3, 52.6; <sup>19</sup>F NMR (471 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -62.7.

#### 4.6.3. Synthesis of N-Alkyl Nicotinate Salts:

### 5-(methoxycarbonyl)-1,2-dimethylpypiridin-1-ium triflate (4.16)

Pyridinium salt 6 was prepared from methyl 6-bromopyridine carboxylate (10.0 g, 66.00 mmol, 1

equiv.) according to a reported procedure. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectral data matched those of a reported compound.<sup>49</sup> Yield: 16.8 g (81%); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (600 MHz, CD<sub>3</sub>OD)  $\delta$  7.83 (s, 1H), 7.26 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 6.49 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 2.75 (s, 3H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 1.29 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (151 MHz, CD<sub>3</sub>OD)  $\delta$  163.5, 161.5, 148.8, 145.7, 130.8, 129.5, 121.7 (q, *J* = 318.6 Hz), 53.93, 46.9.



### 1-benzyl-5-(methoxycarbonyl)-2-methylpyridin-1-ium triflate (4.S.6)

Prepared from methyl 6-methylpyridine carboxylate (2.000 g, 13.2 mmol, 1 equiv.) according to a reported procedure. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectral data matched

those of a reported compound.<sup>49</sup> **Yield**: 2.9 g (56% over two steps); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 9.14 (d, J = 1.7 Hz, 1H), 8.81 (dd, J = 8.2, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 8.01 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 7.47 – 7.42 (m, 3H), 7.26 – 7.19 (m, 2H), 5.93 (s, 2H), 4.00 (s, 3H), 2.97 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C **NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 161.8, 160.3, 146.5, 145.1, 131.0, 130.9, 130.1, 130.1, 128.7, 128.3, 125.4 – 116.3 (m), 62.6, 53.9, 21.5.



<sup>13</sup>**C** NMR (151 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 163.9, 161.9, 147.9, 144.8, 128.0, 127.2, 123.6, 121.5, 119.4, 117.3, 77.3, 77.1, 76.9, 53.7, 53.5, 46.6, 26.6, 10.9.

.5-(methoxycarbonyl)-1-methyl-2-phenylpyridin-1-ium triflate (4.S.8) Prepared from 4.S.2 (287.9 mg, 1.35 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) according to a reported procedure. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C spectral data matched those of a reported

compound.49

**Yield:** 447.7 mg (88%). <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 9.48 (s, 1H), 8.92 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 7.94 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 7.68 – 7.60 (m, 5H), 4.36 (s, 3H), 4.04 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 161.8, 159.2, 148.6, 144.9, 132.1, 130.9, 130.1, 129. 7, 129. 6, 129.1, 120.6 (q, J = 320.4 Hz), 53. 8, 48.4. 128.9, 53.9, 48.5.

### Pyridinium salts 9d-f were synthesized according to the following procedure:

The specified nicotinic acid ester was dissolved in dry dichloromethane in a seal tube charged with a ptfe magnetic stirbar. MeOTf was added dropwise to the stirring solution and the vessel was sealed. After allowing the reaction to stir overnight, the contents were transferred to a 20 mL vial and around half of the CH<sub>2</sub>CL<sub>2</sub> was evaporated under reduced pressure. The remaining residue was then triturated with diethyl ether (300 mL). The solids were filtered, and the filtrate was washed with Et<sub>2</sub>O. the remaining residue was collected using MeOH into a 20 mL vial and the solvent evaporated under reduced pressure. The filtrate was added to the vial and the solids were dried under reduced pressure for 1 hour.



## 5-(methoxycarbonyl)-2-(4-methoxyphenyl)-1-methylpyridin-1e ium triflate (4.S.9)

MeO<sup>1</sup> Me Prepared from **4.S.3** (184 mg, 0.760 mmol 1.0 equiv.) and methyl triflate (0.1 mL, 0.9 mmol, 1.2 equiv.) according to the above procedure. **Yield:** 183 mg, 59%; <sup>1</sup>**H** 

**NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  9.24 (dd, J = 2.2, 0.8 Hz, 1H), 8.31 (dd, J = 8.4, 2.2 Hz, 1H), 8.08 – 8.01 (m, 2H), 7.75 (dd, J = 8.4, 0.9 Hz, 1H), 7.05 – 6.99 (m, 2H), 3.97 (s, 3H), 3.88 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C **NMR** (126 MHz, DMSO-d6)  $\delta$  162.3, 161.8, 158.4, 148.0, 144.2, 131.4, 130.2, 127.5, 123.1, 120. 7 (q, J = 322.3 Hz), 114.6, 55.6, 53.6, 47.6; <sup>19</sup>F NMR (471 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -78.4; **HRMS:** Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>16</sub>NO<sub>3</sub><sup>+</sup> [M] 258.1125, found 258.1127.



## 5-(methoxycarbonyl)-1-methyl-2-(4-methylphenyl) pyridin-1ium triflate (4.S.10)

Me Prepared from 4.S.4 (454.2 mg 2.0 mmol 1.0 equiv.) and methyl triflate (0.22 mL 2.0 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) according to the above procedure. Yield: 693.0mg (88%); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 9.41 (d, J = 1.8 Hz, 1H), 8.86 (dd, J = 8.1, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 7.90 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 7.49 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.39 (d, J = 7.7 Hz, 2H), 4.32 (s, 3H), 4.00 (s, 3H), 2.45 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 161.9, 159.2, 148.6, 144.9, 132.1, 130.9, 130.0, 129.7, 129.3, 129.0, 120.6 (q, J = 320.5 Hz), 53.8, 48.4; <sup>19</sup>F NMR (471 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -78.5. HRMS: Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>16</sub>NO<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup>[M] 242.1176, found 242.1180.



# 5-(methoxycarbonyl)-1-methyl-2-[4-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl] pyridine-1-ium triflate (4.S.11)

**F**<sub>3</sub>**C** Me Prepared from **4.S.5** (214.2 mg, 0.76 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and methyl triflate (0.9940 mL, 0.84 mmol, 1.1 equiv.) according to the above procedure. **Yield:** 284.9 mg (84%); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (600 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 9.46 (d, J = 1.8 Hz, 1H), 8.91 (dd, J = 8.2, 1.7 Hz, 1H), 7.93 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 7.62 (d, J = 3.7 Hz, 4H), 4.34 (s, 3H), 4.03 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, DMSO-d6) δ 162.2, 156.8, 148.1, 145.0, 131.5 (q, J = 32.3 Hz), 130.3, 130.2, 128.8, 126.1 (d, J = 4.1 Hz), 127.3 – 116.8 (m, 2CF<sub>3</sub>), 53.7, 47.7; <sup>19</sup>**F NMR** (471 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ -63.3, -78.4; **HRMS:** Calcd for  $C_{15}H_{13}F_{3}NO_{2}^{+}$  [M] 296.0893, found 296.0889.

#### **4.6.4.** Synthesis of 1,2-Dihydropyridines:

### Preparation of Rh catalyst stock solution for dearomatization reactions:

In a nitrogen filled glovebox, Rh(COD)<sub>2</sub>BF<sub>4</sub> (64 mg, 0.16 mmol, 1 equiv.) was added to a vial containing the specified ligand (0.16 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) and dissolved in dioxane (16 mL, 0.01M). This solution was stirred for 15 minutes to promote the formation of the catalyst. The Rh(COD)(Bobphos) solution is a clear and orange in color. The Rh(COD)(Quinox-P\*) solution is turbid and red in color. This solution was used in the dearomatization reactions below. For racemic dearomatization products, DPPBz was used, producing a turbid solution that is dark yellow in color.

# General procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts using (S<sub>ax</sub>,S)-Bobphos ligand (GPA):

The specified pyridinium salt (0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv.), boronic acid pinacol ester (Bpin) (0.5 mmol, 2.5 equiv.), and Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (53 mg, 0.5 mmol, 2.5 equiv.), were measured into a 1 dram scintilation vial on the benchtop. The vials containing pyridinium salt, Bpin, and Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> were transferred into the nitrogen filled glovebox where the Rh/Bobphos stock solution of catalyst was added into each vial (1 mL, 0.2 M). The vials were then sealed with a ptfe-lined septa cap and brought outside the glovebox. Degassed water (100  $\mu$ L) was added to each reaction mixture *via* syringe and the reaction mixture was heated to 40 °C for 2 hours using an aluminum heating block. The vials were then removed from the heating block and cooled to room temperature. **Workup:** room temperature solutions were diluted with 1 mL of EtOAc and dried with 1.0 g of MgSO<sub>4</sub>. The reactions were filtered through Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and the filtrate was concentrated. The residue was purified by flash column chromatography and the solvents removed under reuced pressure to give the products.

# General procedure for dearomatization of *n*-alkyl pyridinium salts using (S,S)-Quinox-P\* ligand (GPB):

The specified pyridinium salt (0.2 mmol, 1.0 equiv.), boronic acid pinacol ester (Bpin) (0.5 mmol, 2.5 equiv.), and Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (53 mg. 0.5 mmol, 2.5 equiv.), were measured into a 1 dram scintilation vial on the benchtop. The vials containing pyridinium salt, Bpin, and Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> were transferred into the nitrogen filled glovebox where the Rh/Quinox stock solution of catalyst was added into each vial (1 mL, 0.2 M). The vials were then sealed with a ptfe-lined septa cap and brought outside the glovebox. Degassed water (50  $\mu$ L) was added to each reaction mixture *via* syringe and the reaction mixture was heated to 60 °C for 2 hours using an aluminum heating block. The vials were then removed from the heating block and cooled to room temperature. **Workup:** room temperature solutions were diluted with 1 mL of EtOAc and dried with 1.0 g of MgSO<sub>4</sub>. The reactions were filtered through Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and the filtrate was concentrated. The residue was purified by flash column chromatography and the solvents removed under reuced pressure to give the products.

3H), 2.01 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.3, 151.7, 142.5, 135.5, 128.6, 127.9, 126.8, 108.6, 94.5, 64.0, 51.2, 37.9, 20.6; HRMS: (ESI) *m*/*z* Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>18</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 244.1332, found 244.1332.

## Methyl 2-(4-bromophenyl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,2-dihydropyridine-3carboxylate (4.19.a)

DHP 4.26a was synthesized using pyridinium salt 4.23 (63.0 mg) and 4bromophenyl Bpin (142 mg) according to **GPB**. The crude reaction mixture was purified by flash chromatography (ethyl acetate:hexanes 1:9 with 1% Et<sub>3</sub>N) over silica treated with a solution of Et<sub>3</sub>N in hexanes (1%). **Yield:** 30.2 mg (47%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 90% *ee*. **HPLC** (Chiral-V, water/methanol = Gradient from 90:10 to 50:50 over 16 minutes, from 50:50 to 33:77 over 24 minutes, flow rate = 1.0 mL/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 31.94 min (major), 31.38 min (minor); **TLC:** R*f* = 0.12 (Hexanes:Ethyl acetate, 9:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : -0.250° (*c* 13.1 mg/mL MeOH); <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.40 (dd, J = 8.2, 1.5 Hz, 2H), 7.29 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.09 (d, J = 6.6 Hz, 1H), 5.44 (s, 1H), 4.75 (d, J = 6.6 Hz, 1H), 3.65 (s, 3H), 2.97 (s, 3H), 2.00 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.0, 151.6, 141.3, 135.5, 131.7, 128.5, 121.8, 108.3, 94.5, 63.4, 51.2, 37.7, 20.5; **HRMS:** (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>17</sub>NO<sub>2</sub>Br [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 322.0437, found 322.425.



## Methyl 1,6-dimethyl-2-(4-methylphenyl)-1,2-dihydropyridine-3carboxylate (4.19.b)

Me DHP 4.26.B was synthesized using pyridinium salt 4.23 (63.0 mg) and 4methylphenyl Bpin (109 mg) according to **GPA**. The crude reaction mixture was purified by flash chromatography (ethyl acetate:hexanes 1:9 with 1% Et<sub>3</sub>N) over silica treated with a solution of Et<sub>3</sub>N in hexanes (1%). **Yield:** 43.1 mg (84%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 98% *ee*. **HPLC** (Chiral-V, water/methanol = gradient from 60:40 to 50:50 over 5 minutes, to 5:95 over 35 minutes, flow rate = 1.0 mL/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 17.22 min (major), 16.67 min (minor); **TLC:** Rf = 0.11 (Hexanes:Ethyl acetate, 9:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : +0.310° (*c* 19.4 mg/mL MeOH) <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.30 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.09 (m, 3H), 5.43 (s, 1H), 4.73 (d, J = 6.6 Hz, 1H), 3.64 (s, 3H), 2.98 (s, 3H), 2.30 (s, 3H), 1.99 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.2, 151.6, 139.5, 137.5, 135.3, 129.2, 126.7, 108.5, 94.3, 63.6, 51.1, 37.7, 21.3, 20.6; **HRMS:** (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>20</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 258.1489, found 258.1481.

ОМе

## Methyl 2-([1,1'-biphenyl]-4-yl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,2-dihydropyridine-3carboxylate (4.19.c)

**h**e **h** DHP **4.26.c** was synthesized using pyridinium salt **4.23** (63.0 mg) and 4biphenyl Bpin (140 mg) according to **GPA**. The crude reaction mixture was purified by flash chromatography (ethyl acetate:hexanes 1:9 with 1% Et<sub>3</sub>N) over silica treated with a solution of Et<sub>3</sub>N in hexanes (1%). **Yield:** 37.9 mg (59%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 98% *ee*. **HPLC** (Chiral-V, water/methanol = gradient from 60:40 to 50:50 over 10 minutes, to 5:95 over 25 minutes, flow rate = 1.0 mL/min, l = 250 nm) tR = 24.43 min (major), 24.95 min (minor); **TLC:** R*f* = 0.17 (Hexanes:Ethyl acetate, 9:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : -0.267° (*c* 18.0 mg/mL MeOH); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.56 (dt, J = 8.0, 1.4 Hz, 2H), 7.51 (dd, J = 8.3, 1.6 Hz, 2H), 7.47 (dd, J = 8.3, 1.6 Hz, 2H), 7.42 (td, J = 7.7, 1.6 Hz, 2H), 7.32 (td, J = 7.2, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 7.26 (s, 1H), 7.14 (dd, J = 6.6, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 5.53 (d, J = 1.4 Hz, 1H), 4.78 (d, J = 6.6 Hz, 1H), 3.67 (d, J = 1.4 Hz, 3H), 3.03 (d, J = 1.4 Hz, 3H), 2.04 (d, J = 1.4 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C **NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.2, 151.7, 141.3, 141.1, 140.7, 135.5, 128.9, 127.4, 127.3, 127.2, 127.1, 108.3, 94.5, 63.6, 51.2, 37.8, 20.6; **HRMS:** (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>22</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 320.1645, found 320.1644.



Methyl 2-(4-methoxyphenyl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,2-dihydropyridine-3carboxylate (4.19.d)

 $\dot{M}$ e  $\dot{M}$  DHP 4.26.d was synthesized using pyridinium salt 4.23 (63.0 mg) and 4-methoxyphenyl Bpin (107 mg) according to GPA. The crude reaction mixture was purified by flash chromatography (ethyl acetate:hexanes 1:9 with 1% Et<sub>3</sub>N) over silica treated with a solution of Et<sub>3</sub>N in hexanes (1%). Yield: 34.1 mg (51%); The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC analysis to be 99% *ee.* HPLC (Chiral-V, water/methanol = gradient from 40:60 to 50:50 over 5 minutes, then to 5:95 over 35 minutes, flow rate = 1.0 mL/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 30.15 min (major), 28.16 min (minor); TLC: R*f* = 0.44 (Hexanes:Ethyl acetate, 9:1); [*α*]<sup>20</sup><sub>D</sub>: -0.414° (*c* 16.5 mg/mL MeOH); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.34 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 7.10 (d, J = 6.6 Hz, 1H), 6.81 (d, J = 8.6 Hz, 2H), 5.41 (s, 1H), 4.73 (d, J = 6.5 Hz, 1H), 3.77 (s, 3H), 3.64 (s, 3H), 2.97 (s, 3H), 1.98 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.2, 159.3, 151.5, 135.2, 134.9, 128.0, 113.8, 108.7, 94.1, 63.3, 55.3, 51.1, 37.5, 20.6; HRMS: (ESI) *m*/*z* Calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>20</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 274.1438, found 274.1436.



## Methyl 1,6-dimethyl-2-[4-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl]-1,2-dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate (4.19.e)

 $M_e$  DHP 4.26.e was synthesized using pyridinium salt 4.23 (63.0 mg) and 4trifluoromethylphenyl Bpin (136 mg) according to GPB. The crude reaction mixture was purified by flash chromatography (ethyl acetate:hexanes 1:9 with 1% Et<sub>3</sub>N) over silica treated with a solution of Et<sub>3</sub>N in hexanes (1%). Yield: 21.8 mg (35%); The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC analysis to be 81% *ee.* HPLC (Chiral-V, water/methanol= gradient from 60:40 to 50:50 over 5 minutes, hold for 20 minutes, then from 50:50 to 5:95 over 1 minute, flow rate = 1.0 mL/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 16.51 min (major), 15.61 min (minor); TLC: Rf = 0.31 (Hexanes:Ethyl acetate, 9:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : -0.414° (*c* 7.70 mg/mL MeOH); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.57 – 7.49 (m, 4H), 7.11 (d, J = 6.6 Hz, 1H), 5.55 (s, 1H), 4.78 (d, J = 6.6 Hz, 1H), 3.66 (s, 3H), 2.99 (s, 3H), 2.03 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.0, 151.7, 146.0, 135.7, 129.9 (q, J = 32.3 Hz), 126.9, 125.6 (q, J = 3.8 Hz), 124.3 (q, J = 272.1 Hz), 108.1, 94.7, 63.5, 51.3, 37.9, 20.5; <sup>19</sup>F NMR (471 MHz, CDCl<sup>3</sup>)  $\delta$  -62.49; HRMS: (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>17</sub>NO<sub>2</sub>F<sub>3</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 312.1206, found 312.1204.

## Methyl 1,6-dimethyl-2-(naphthalen-2-yl)-1,2-dihydropyridine-3carboxylate (4.19.f)

Me N<sub>Me</sub> DHP 4.26.f was synthesized using pyridinium salt 4.23 (63.0 mg) and 2napthyl Bpin (127 mg) according to **GPA**. The crude reaction mixture was purified by flash chromatography (ethyl acetate:hexanes 1:9 with 1% Et<sub>3</sub>N) over silica treated with a solution of Et<sub>3</sub>N in hexanes (1%); **Yield:** 41.2 mg (70%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 99% *ee*. **HPLC** (Chiral-V, water/methanol = gradient from 60:40 to 50:50 over 5 minutes, then to 5:95 over 30 minutes, flow rate = 1.0 mL/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 21.64 min (major), 21.07 min (minor); **TLC:** R*f* = 0.18 (Hexanes:Ethyl acetate, 9:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : -0.113° (*c* 38.2 mg/mL MeOH); <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.85 – 7.76 (m, 3H), 7.75 (s, 1H), 7.65 (dt, J = 8.5, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 7.44 (ddt, J = 8.3, 6.9, 5.2 Hz, 2H), 7.16 (d, J = 6.5 Hz, 1H), 5.64 (s, 1H), 4.79 (d, J = 6.6 Hz, 1H), 3.64 (s, 3H), 3.02 (s, 3H), 2.03 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.2, 151.8, 139.6, 135.7, 133.3, 133.3, 128.6, 128.5, 127.7, 126.1, 125.9, 125.5, 125.0, 108.4, 94.4, 64.2, 51.2, 37.8, 20.6; **HRMS:** (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>19</sub>H<sub>20</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 294.1489, found 294.1487.



## Methyl 2-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-1,6-dimethyl-1,2-dihydropyridine-3carboxylate (4.19.g)

 $\dot{\mathbf{M}}$ e U DHP **4.26.g** was synthesized using pyridinium salt **4.23** (63.0 mg) and cyclohex-1-ene-1-yl Bpin (104 mg) according to **GPB**. The crude reaction mixture was purified by flash chromatography (ethyl acetate:hexanes 1:9 with 1% Et<sub>3</sub>N) over silica treated with a solution of Et<sub>3</sub>N in hexanes (1%). **Yield:** 15.5 mg (31%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 90% *ee*. **HPLC** (Chiral-V, water/methanol = gradient from 60:40 to 50:50 over 5 minutes, then to 5:95 over 30 minutes, flow rate = 1.0 mL/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 16.03 min (major), 15.53 min (minor); **TLC:** R*f* = 0.35 (Hexanes:Ethyl acetate, 9:1); [*α*]<sup>20</sup><sub>*P*</sub>: -0.335° (*c* 3.80 mg/mL MeOH); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.05 (d, J = 6.5 Hz, 1H), 5.52 (qd, J = 3.0, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 4.86 (s, 1H), 4.61 (d, J = 6.6 Hz, 1H), 3.67 (s, 3H), 2.93 (s, 3H), 2.16 − 2.06 (m, 1H), 1.99 (dt, J = 6.0, 3.0 Hz, 2H), 1.61 − 1.53 (m, 3H), 1.50 (tdd, J = 12.4, 6.7, 4.6 Hz, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.4, 152.0, 136.3, 136.1, 122.3, 105.6, 94.2, 66.3, 51.0, 37.5, 25.1, 23.8, 22.8, 22.5, 20.3; **HRMS:** (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>22</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 248.1645, found 248.1644.

# Methyl 1-benzyl-6-methyl-2-phenyl-1,2-dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate OMe (4.20.a)

DHP 4.28.a was synthesized using pyridinium salt 4.27.a (78.3 mg) and phenyl Bpin (102 mg) according to **GPA**. The crude reaction mixture was purified by flash chromatography (ethyl acetate:hexanes 1:9 with 1% Et<sub>3</sub>N) over silica treated with a solution of Et<sub>3</sub>N in hexanes (1%). **Yield:** 60.8 mg (95%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 99% *ee*. **HPLC** (Chiral-CD, water/acetonitrile = gradient from 75:25 to 5:95 over 7 minutes, hold for 2 minutes, flow rate = 1.0 mL/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 8.38 min (major), 7.89 min (minor); **TLC:** Rf = 0.31 (Hexanes:Ethyl acetate, 9:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : +1.41° (*c* 20.8 mg/mL MeOH); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.49 – 7.44 (m, 2H), 7.42 – 7.27 (m, 4H), 7.28 – 7.23 (m, 2H), 7.20 (d, J = 6.5 Hz, 1H), 5.58 (s, 1H), 4.87 (d, J = 6.5 Hz, 1H), 4.77 (d, J = 16.8 Hz, 1H), 4.31 (d, J = 16.8 Hz, 1H), 3.66 (s, 2H), 2.05 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.1, 151.0, 143.2, 137.6, 135.5, 129.0, 128.5, 127.8, 127.6, 126.8, 126.4, 109.6, 95.5, 61.6, 53.2, 51.1, 20.5; **HRMS:** (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>22</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 320.1645, found 320.1645.

## Methyl 6-ethyl-1-methyl-2-phenyl-1,2-dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate OMe (4.20.b)

Me Me DHP 4.28.b was synthesized using pyridinium salt 4.27.b (65.9 mg) and phenyl Bpin (102 mg) according to GPA. The crude reaction mixture was purified by flash chromatography (ethyl acetate:hexanes 1:9 with 1% Et<sub>3</sub>N) over silica treated with a solution of Et<sub>3</sub>N in hexanes (1%). Yield: 30.9 mg (60%); The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC analysis to be 98% *ee*. HPLC (Chiral-V, water/methanol = gradient from 60:40 to 50:50 over 30 minutes, to 5:95 over 5 minutes, flow rate = 0.75 mL/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 25.89 min (major), 24.22 min (minor); TLC: R*f* = 0.29 (Hexanes:Ethyl acetate, 9:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : -0.356 ° (*c* 14.4 mg/mL MeOH); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.48 – 7.43 (m, 2H), 7.35 – 7.23 (m, 3H), 7.19 (d, J = 6.5 Hz, 1H), 5.51 (s, 1H), 4.81 (d, J = 6.5 Hz, 1H), 3.69 (s, 3H), 3.04 (s, 3H), 2.34 (ddt, J = 18.9, 15.3, 7.7 Hz, 2H), 1.18 (t, J = 7.4 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.2, 156.5, 142.5, 135.6, 128.6, 127.9, 126.8, 108.3, 92.8, 64.1, 51.2, 37.6, 26.5, 12.4; HRMS: (ESI) *m*/*z* Calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>20</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 258.1489, found 258.1489.



phenyl Bpin (102 mg) according to **GPA**. The crude reaction mixture was purified by flash chromatography (ethyl acetate:hexanes 1:9 with 1% Et<sub>3</sub>N) over silica treated with a solution of Et<sub>3</sub>N in hexanes (1%). **Yield:** 53.1 mg (87%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 95% *ee*. **HPLC** (Chiral-V, water/methanol = 50:50 for 30 minutes, 50:50 to 0:100 over 2 minutes, flow rate = 1.0 mL/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 29.09min (major), 25.88 min (minor); **TLC:** R*f* = 0.08 (Hexanes:Ethyl acetate, 9:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : +0.171° (*c* 33.8 mg/mL MeOH); <sup>1</sup>**H NMR** (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.55 – 7.51 (m, 2H), 7.36 (q, J = 3.4 Hz, 3H), 7.32 (td, J = 5.4, 3.3 Hz, 3H), 7.28 (dd, J = 6.7, 1.6 Hz, 2H), 5.55 (s, 1H), 5.05 (d, J = 6.4 Hz, 1H), 3.70 (s, 3H), 2.96 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>**C NMR** (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.2, 153.3, 142.7, 136.8, 134.7, 129.2, 128.6 (2C), 128.3, 127.9, 126.6, 109.9, 98.2, 63.1, 51.4, 40.9; **HRMS:** (ESI) *m*/*z* Calcd for C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>20</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 306.1489.

## Methyl 6-(4-methoxyphenyl)-1-methyl-2-phenyl-1,2-dihydro-OMe pyridine-3-carboxylate (4.20.d)

**MeO MeO MeO MeO** and phenyl Bpin (102 mg) according to **GPA**. The crude reaction mixture was purified by flash chromatography (ethyl acetate:hexanes 1:9 with 1% Et<sub>3</sub>N) over silica treated with a solution of Et<sub>3</sub>N in hexanes (1%). **Yield:** 34.1 mg (51%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 94% *ee*. **HPLC** (Chiral-V, water/methanol = 50:50 for 30 minutes, flow rate = 1.0 mL/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 30.15 min (major), 28.16 min (minor); **TLC:** Rf = 0.27 (Hexanes:Ethyl acetate, 9:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : -0.318° (*c* 16.6 mg/mL MeOH); <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.55 – 7.50 (m, 2H), 7.33 (dd, J = 8.1, 6.5 Hz, 2H), 7.31 – 7.26 (m, 4H), 6.93 – 6.87 (m, 2H), 5.55 (s, 1H), 5.06 (d, J = 6.4 Hz, 1H), 3.82 (s, 3H), 3.71 (s, 3H), 3.00 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.3, 160.5, 153.1, 142.8, 134.9, 129.7, 129.2, 128.5, 127.8, 126.5, 114.0, 109.4, 98.1, 63.0, 55.5, 51.4, 41.1; **HRMS:** (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>22</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 336.1594, found 336.1594.



## Methyl 1-methyl-6-(4-methylphenyl)-2-phenyl-1,2-dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate (4.20.e)

**Me** DHP **4.28.e** was synthesized using pyridinium salt **4.27.e** (78.3 mg) and phenyl Bpin (102 mg) according to **GPA**. The crude reaction mixture was purified by flash chromatography (ethyl acetate:hexanes 1:9 with 1% Et<sub>3</sub>N) over silica treated with a solution of Et<sub>3</sub>N in hexanes (1%). **Yield:** 53.6 mg (84%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 99% *ee*. **HPLC** (Chiral-V, water/methanol = 50:50 over 25 minutes, to 0:100 over 7 minutes, flow rate = 0.75 mL/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 32.57 min (major), 31.93 min (minor); **TLC**: Rf = 0.31 (Hexanes:Ethyl acetate, 9:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : +0.251° (*c* 25.8 mg/mL MeOH); <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.60 – 7.53 (m, 2H), 7.37 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 7.34 – 7.29 (m, 2H), 7.27 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 7.21 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 5.60 (s, 1H), 5.09 (s, 1H), 3.75 (s, 3H), 3.02 (s, 3H), 2.41 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>**C** NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 167.2, 153.5, 142.8, 139.4, 134.8, 133.9, 129.3, 128.6, 128.2, 127.9, 126.6, 109.6, 98.0, 63.1, 51.4, 41.0, 21.4; **HRMS:** (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>22</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 320.1645, found 320.1645; **HRMS:** (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>22</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 320.1645, found 320.1645; **HRMS:** (ESI) *m/z* Calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>22</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 320.1645, found 320.1645.



## Methyl 1-methyl-2-phenyl-6-[4-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl]-1,2dihydropyridine-3-carboxylate (4.20.f)

 $F_3C$  DHP 4.28.f was synthesized using pyridinium salt 4.27.f (89.1 mg) and phenyl Bpin (102 mg) according to **GPA**. The crude reaction mixture was purified by flash chromatography (ethyl acetate:hexanes 1:9 with 1% Et<sub>3</sub>N) over silica treated with a solution of Et<sub>3</sub>N in hexanes (1%). **Yield:** 70.7 mg (95%); The **enantiomeric excess** was determined by HPLC analysis to be 97% *ee*. **HPLC** (Chiral-V, water/methanol = 50:50 for 30 minutes, to 0:100 over 2 minutes flow rate = 1.0 mL/min, 1 = 250 nm) tR = 30.12 min (major), 28.24 min (minor); **TLC**: Rf = 0.30 (Hexanes:Ethyl acetate, 9:1);  $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ : +1.09° (*c* 6.80 mg/mL MeOH); <sup>1</sup>**H** NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.62 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.54 – 7.49 (m, 2H), 7.43 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.37 – 7.33 (m, 2H), 7.32 – 7.27 (m, 2H), 5.54 (s, 1H), 5.10 (d, J = 6.4 Hz, 1H), 3.71 (s, 3H), 2.94 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.0, 151.3, 142.4, 140.4, 134.9, 134.1, 131.1 – 122.5 (m), 128.7 (d, J = 10.5 Hz), 128.1, 126.62, 125.6 (q, J = 3.8 Hz), 111.5, 99.2, 83.9, 63.1, 51.5, 40.9; <sup>19</sup>F NMR (471 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  -62.7; **HRMS:** (ESI) *m*/*z* Calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>19</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> [M+H]<sup>+</sup> 374.1368, found 374.1362.

### 4.7. References:

- Pàmies, O.; Margalef, J.; Cañellas, S.; James, J.; Judge, E.; Guiry, P. J.; Moberg, C.; Bäckvall, J.-E.; Pfaltz, A.; Pericàs, M. A.; Diéguez, M. Recent Advances in Enantioselective Pd-Catalyzed Allylic Substitution: From Design to Applications. *Chem. Rev.* 2021, *121* (8), 4373–4505. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.0c00736.
- (2) Ardolino, M. J.; Morken, J. P. Branched/Linear Selectivity in Palladium-Catalyzed Allyl-Allyl Cross-Couplings: The Role of Ligands. *Tetrahedron* **2015**, *71* (37), 6409–6413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tet.2015.05.015.
- (3) Chen, J.-P.; Peng, Q.; Lei, B.-L.; Hou, X.-L.; Wu, Y.-D. Chemo- and Regioselectivity-Tunable Pd-Catalyzed Allylic Alkylation of Imines. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2011**, *133* (36), 14180–14183. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja2039503.
- (4) Chen, M.; Hartwig, J. F. Iridium-Catalyzed Enantioselective Allylic Substitution of Enol Silanes from Vinylogous Esters and Amides. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137 (43), 13972– 13979. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.5b09980.
- (5) Chen, M.; Hartwig, J. F. Iridium-Catalyzed Regio- and Enantioselective Allylic Substitution of Trisubstituted Allylic Electrophiles. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2016, 55 (38), 11651–11655. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201607053.
- (6) Cheng, Q.; Tu, H.-F.; Zheng, C.; Qu, J.-P.; Helmchen, G.; You, S.-L. Iridium-Catalyzed Asymmetric Allylic Substitution Reactions. *Chem. Rev.* **2019**, *119* (3), 1855–1969. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.8b00506.
- Jiang, X.; Chen, W.; Hartwig, J. F. Iridium-Catalyzed Diastereoselective and Enantioselective Allylic Substitutions with Acyclic α-Alkoxy Ketones. *Angew. Chem.* 2016, 128 (19), 5913–5917. https://doi.org/10.1002/ange.201600235.
- (8) He, Z.-T.; Hartwig, J. F. Enantioselective α-Functionalizations of Ketones via Allylic Substitution of Silyl Enol Ethers. *Nature Chem* 2019, *11* (2), 177–183. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41557-018-0165-x.
- (9) Madrahimov, S. T.; Li, Q.; Sharma, A.; Hartwig, J. F. Origins of Regioselectivity in Iridium Catalyzed Allylic Substitution. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137 (47), 14968–14981. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.5b08911.
- (10) He, Z.-T.; Jiang, X.; Hartwig, J. F. Stereodivergent Construction of Tertiary Fluorides in Vicinal Stereogenic Pairs by Allylic Substitution with Iridium and Copper Catalysts. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2019, 141 (33), 13066–13073. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.9b04440.
- (11) Zhang, Q.; Zhou, S.; Shi, C.; Yin, L. Catalytic Asymmetric Allylic Substitution with Copper(I) Homoenolates Generated from Cyclopropanols. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2021, 60 (50), 26351–26356. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202110709.
- (12) Ziyaei Halimehjani, A.; Breit, B. Rhodium-Catalyzed Regioselective Addition of Thioacids to Terminal Allenes: Enantioselective Access to Branched Allylic Thioesters. *Chem. Commun.* **2022**, *58* (11), 1704–1707. https://doi.org/10.1039/D1CC06470C.

- (13) Michael, A. Ueber Die Addition von Natriumacetessig- Und Natriummalonsäureäther Zu Den Aethern Ungesättigter Säuren. J. Prakt. Chem. 1894, 49 (1), 20–25. https://doi.org/10.1002/prac.18940490103.
- (14) Bertuzzi, G.; Bernardi, L.; Fochi, M. Nucleophilic Dearomatization of Activated Pyridines. *Catalysts* **2018**, *8* (12), 632. https://doi.org/10.3390/catal8120632.
- (15) Cordell, G. A. The Alkaloids: Chemistry and Biology; Academic: London, 2008.
- (16) Hamaker, L. K.; Cook, J. M. The Synthesis of Macroline Related Sarpagine Alkaloids. In *Alkaloids: Chemical and Biological Perspectives*; Elsevier, 1995; Vol. 9, pp 23–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-042089-9.50009-7.
- (17) Namjoshi, O. A.; Cook, J. M. Sarpagine and Related Alkaloids. In *The Alkaloids: Chemistry and Biology*; Elsevier, 2016; Vol. 76, pp 63–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.alkal.2015.08.002.
- (18) Fan, P.; Kalisiak, J.; Krasinski, A.; Jose, S.; Lui, R.; Clara, S.; Powers, J.; Punna, S.; Tanaka, H.; City, F.; Zhang, P. US patent US 9,745,268 B2. **2017.**
- (19) Ma, X.; Gang, D. R. The Lycopodium Alkaloids. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* **2004**, *21* (6), 752. https://doi.org/10.1039/b409720n.
- (20) Miller, K. A.; Martin, S. F. Concise, Enantioselective Total Synthesis of (–)-Alstonerine. *Org. Lett.* **2007**, *9* (6), 1113–1116. https://doi.org/10.1021/ol0700761.
- (21) Keawpradub, N.; Kirby, G. C.; Steele, J. C. P.; Houghton, P. J. Antiplasmodial Activity of Extracts and Alkaloids of Three Alstonia Species from Thailand. *Planta med* **1999**, 65 (8), 690–694. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-1999-14043.
- (22) Monasky, M. M.; Micaglio, E.; D'Imperio, S.; Pappone, C. The Mechanism of Ajmaline and Thus Brugada Syndrome: Not Only the Sodium Channel! *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.* 2021, 8, 782596. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcvm.2021.782596.
- (23) Robinson, D. J.; Spurlin, S. P.; Gorden, J. D.; Karimov, R. R. Enantioselective Synthesis of Dihydropyridines Containing Quaternary Stereocenters Through Dearomatization of Pyridinium Salts. ACS Catal. 2020, 10 (1), 51–55. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.9b03874.
- (24) Robinson, D. J.; Ortiz, K. G.; O'Hare, N. P.; Karimov, R. R. Dearomatization of Heteroarenium Salts with ArBpin Reagents. Application to the Total Synthesis of a Nuphar Alkaloid. Org. Lett. 2022, 24 (19), 3445–3449. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.orglett.2c00976.
- (25) Santiago, C. B.; Guo, J.-Y.; Sigman, M. S. Predictive and Mechanistic Multivariate Linear Regression Models for Reaction Development. *Chem. Sci.* 2018, 9 (9), 2398–2412. https://doi.org/10.1039/C7SC04679K.
- (26) Werth, J.; Sigman, M. S. Linear Regression Model Development for Analysis of Asymmetric Copper-Bisoxazoline Catalysis. *ACS Catal.* **2021**, *11* (7), 3916–3922. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.1c00531.
- (27) Milo, A.; Neel, A. J.; Toste, F. D.; Sigman, M. S. A Data-Intensive Approach to Mechanistic Elucidation Applied to Chiral Anion Catalysis. *Science* 2015, *347* (6223), 737– 743. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1261043.

- (28) Tang, T.; Sandford, C.; Minteer, S. D.; Sigman, M. S. Analyzing Mechanisms in Co(I) Redox Catalysis Using a Pattern Recognition Platform. *Chem. Sci.* 2021, *12* (13), 4771– 4778. https://doi.org/10.1039/D0SC06725C.
- (29) Gensch, T.; dos Passos Gomes, G.; Friederich, P.; Peters, E.; Gaudin, T.; Pollice, R.; Jorner, K.; Nigam, A.; Lindner-D'Addario, M.; Sigman, M. S.; Aspuru-Guzik, A. A Comprehensive Discovery Platform for Organophosphorus Ligands for Catalysis. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2022, *144* (3), 1205–1217. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.1c09718.
- (30) Curtarolo, S.; Setyawan, W.; Hart, G. L. W.; Jahnatek, M.; Chepulskii, R. V.; Taylor, R. H.; Wang, S.; Xue, J.; Yang, K.; Levy, O.; Mehl, M. J.; Stokes, H. T.; Demchenko, D. O.; Morgan, D. AFLOW: An Automatic Framework for High-Throughput Materials Discovery. *Computational Materials Science* **2012**, *58*, 218–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.commatsci.2012.02.005.
- (31) Hachmann, J.; Olivares-Amaya, R.; Atahan-Evrenk, S.; Amador-Bedolla, C.; Sánchez-Carrera, R. S.; Gold-Parker, A.; Vogt, L.; Brockway, A. M.; Aspuru-Guzik, A. The Harvard Clean Energy Project: Large-Scale Computational Screening and Design of Organic Photovoltaics on the World Community Grid. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2011**, *2* (17), 2241– 2251. https://doi.org/10.1021/jz200866s.
- (32) Winther, K. T.; Hoffmann, M. J.; Boes, J. R.; Mamun, O.; Bajdich, M.; Bligaard, T. Catalysis-Hub.Org, an Open Electronic Structure Database for Surface Reactions. *Sci Data* 2019, 6 (1), 75. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41597-019-0081-y.
- (33) Chanussot, L.; Das, A.; Goyal, S.; Lavril, T.; Shuaibi, M.; Riviere, M.; Tran, K.; Heras-Domingo, J.; Ho, C.; Hu, W.; Palizhati, A.; Sriram, A.; Wood, B.; Yoon, J.; Parikh, D.; Zitnick, C. L.; Ulissi, Z. The Open Catalyst 2020 (OC20) Dataset and Community Challenges. *ACS Catal.* 2021, *11* (10), 6059–6072. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.0c04525.
- (34) Jain, A.; Ong, S. P.; Hautier, G.; Chen, W.; Richards, W. D.; Dacek, S.; Cholia, S.; Gunter, D.; Skinner, D.; Ceder, G.; Persson, K. A. Commentary: The Materials Project: A Materials Genome Approach to Accelerating Materials Innovation. *APL Materials* 2013, *1* (1), 011002. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4812323.
- (35) Kirklin, S.; Saal, J. E.; Meredig, B.; Thompson, A.; Doak, J. W.; Aykol, M.; Rühl, S.; Wolverton, C. The Open Quantum Materials Database (OQMD): Assessing the Accuracy of DFT Formation Energies. *npj Comput Mater* **2015**, *1* (1), 15010. https://doi.org/10.1038/npjcompumats.2015.10.
- (36) Tolman, C. A. Electron Donor-Acceptor Properties of Phosphorus Ligands. Substituent Additivity. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1970, 92 (10), 2953–2956. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00713a006.
- (37) Tolman, C. A. Phosphorus Ligand Exchange Equilibriums on Zerovalent Nickel. Dominant Role for Steric Effects. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1970**, *92* (10), 2956–2965. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00713a007.

## **Appendix A: NMR Spectra for Chapter 2**











10.0 9.5 9.0 8.5 8.0 7.5 7.0 6.5 6.0 5.5 5.0 4.5 4.0 3.5 3.0 2.5 2.0 1.5 1.0 0.5 0.0 -0.5 -1.0 f1 (ppm)







10 0 -10 -20 -30 -40 -50 -60 -70 -80 -90 -100 -110 -120 -130 -140 -150 -160 -170 -180 -190 -200 -210 f1 (ppm)




-10 -50 -60 -70 -90 -80 -100 -110 -120 f1 (ppm) -130 -140 -150 -160 -170 -180 -190

















210 200 190 180 170 160 150 140 130 120 110 100 90 80 70 60 50 40 30 20 10 0 -10 f1 (ppm)













20 10 0 -10 -20 -30 -40 -50 -60 -70 -80 -90 -100 -110 -120 -130 -140 -150 -160 -170 -180 -190 -200 -210 -22( f1 (ppm)

















## 




















































210 200 190 180 170 160 150 140 130 120 110 100 90 80 70 60 50 40 30 20 10 0 -10 T1 (ppm)

## **Appendix B: NMR Spectra for Chapter 3**







210 200 190 180 170 160 150 140 130 120 110 100 90 80 70 60 50 40 30 20 10 0 -1C f1 (ppm)



DEt

3.S.5 <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)



 $\bigwedge^{1.03}_{1.00}$ 



210 200 190 180 170 160 150 140 130 120 110 100 90 80 70 60 50 40 30 20 10 0 -1C fl (ppm)











3.S.8 <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)




































































## 



1H NMR (600 MHz, CD3OD)












































































## Appendix C: NMR Spectra for Chapter 4

































## 







4.26.a <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz) CDCl<sub>3</sub>























210 200 190 180 170 160 150 140 130 120 110 100 90 80 70 60 50 40 30 20 10 0 -10 f1 (ppm)




210 200 190 180 170 160 150 140 130 120 110 100 90 80 70 60 50 40 30 20 10 0 -10 f1 (ppm)

















